Anti-Fibrotic Properties of

Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Partial

Bladder Outlet Obstruction

Ву

Bridget Wiafe

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Surgery

University of Alberta

© Bridget Wiafe, 2018

Abstract

Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction (pBOO) is characterized by an initial inflammatory response which progresses to smooth muscle hypertrophy, and fibrosis. The resulting high urine storage pressure significantly damages the bladder wall and poses a risk of renal failure. pBOO is characterized by exaggerated stretch, hydrodynamic pressure, and inflammation which cause significant damage to the bladder wall. Several studies have implicated hypoxia in its pathophysiology. However, the isolated progressive effect of hypoxia on bladder cells is not yet defined. As well, current treatment modalities of pBOO are crude and carry high risk of morbidity. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are undifferentiated multipotent adult cells with reparative, immunomodulatory, anti-inflammatory, and anti-fibrotic capacities. MSCs therapy is an emerging paradigm with several reported experimental successes. However its mechanism of action is not well understood.

The experiments of this thesis were designed to investigate the single stress effects of hypoxia on smooth muscle cells of the bladder and the anti-fibrotic effects of bone marrow-derived MSCs on hypoxia-induced pathways. The in-vitro mechanisms were confirmed in whole animal models.

Sub-confluent normal human bladder smooth muscle cells (hbSMC) were cultured in 3% O₂ tension for 2, 24, 48, and 72 h. Then, this experiment was repeated with either the direct or indirect co-culture with bone marrow derived MSCs. High pore density transwells were used for indirect co-cultures. Total RNA, cellular proteins, and secreted proteins were used for gene expression analysis, immunoblotting, and ELISA, respectively. Twenty Sprague Dawley rats were randomly assigned into 5 groups: unobstructed controls, pBOO for 2 weeks, pBOO for 4

ii

weeks, pBOO + MSCs for 2 weeks, and pBOO + MSCs for 4 weeks. pBOO was surgically induced followed by intravenous injection of MSCs. Endpoint urodynamics was performed and bladder tissues harvested for analysis. RT-PCR and immunohistochemistry were performed to study gene and protein expression of major inflammatory and pro-fibrotic markers.

Transcription of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) 1 α and HIF2 α were transiently induced after 2 h of hypoxia (p < 0.05), whereas HIF3 was upregulated after 72 h (p < 0.005). HIF1 and HIF3 α proteins were significantly induced after 2 and 72 h, respectively. VEGF mRNA increased significantly after 24 and 72 h (p < 0.005). The inflammatory cytokines, TGF β 1 (protein and mRNA), IL 1 β , 1L6, and TNF α (mRNA) demonstrated a time-dependent increased expression. Furthermore, the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 was downregulated after 72 h (p < 0.05). Evidence of smooth muscle cell dedifferentiation included increased α SMA, VIMENTIN, and DESMIN. Evidence of pro-fibrotic changes included increased CTGF, SMAD 2, and SMAD 3 as well as COLLAGENS I, II, III, and IV, FIBRONECTIN, AGGRECAN, and TIMP 1 transcripts (p < 0.05). Total Collagen proteins also increased time-dependently (p < 0.05).

Both the direct and indirect MSCs co-cultures inhibited > 50% of hypoxia-induced TGF β 1 and IL-6 expression (p < 0.005) in a HIF-independent manner. Also, both MSCs co-culture techniques induced > 200% increase in IL-10 protein (p < 0.005) and inhibited hypoxia-induced α SMA, collagen I and III transcripts as well as total collagen proteins (p < 0.0001). Contrastingly, the hypoxia-induced IL-1 β and TNF α were inhibited by only the direct co-cultures (p < 0.05). The induction of pBOO resulted in an upregulation of TGF β 1, SMAD2/3, HIF1 α , HIF3 α , VEGF, TNF α , mTOR, p70S6K, COL I, and COL III expression in a time dependent manner. This was coupled with a downregulation of IL-10 expression. Increased bladder

iii

collagen deposition was directly related to the duration of pBOO and there was an associated high urine storage pressure. Two weeks after therapy, MSCs immunomodulatory effect (defined by reduced TNF α , increased IL-10 and VEGF) was most predominant. Significant downregulation of the pro-fibrotic genes occurred 4 weeks after therapy. End filling pressure, hypertrophy and fibrosis were significantly reduced after MSCs therapy (p<0.05).

Together, the studies described in this thesis demonstrate that hypoxia induced significant inflammatory and fibrotic effects in bladder smooth muscle cells similar to pBOO. Furthermore, this work has elucidated the ability of MSCs to target inflammatory and pro-fibrotic pathways to prevent bladder deterioration due to pBOO. The outcomes of this study are promising and lay an important foundation for the prevention and potential treatment of end stage fibrotic bladder with mesenchymal stem cells.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Bridget Wiafe. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received ethical approval from the University of Alberta's Research Ethics Office. The Animal Care and Use, Health Sciences Committee (ACUC) provided ethical approval for the experimental use of rats, Project Name "treatment of rat models of pBOO with Mesenchymal Stem Cells", No: AUP00001759. Date: June 6, 2016. A waiver of informed consent was obtained for research involving discarded human tissue.

Chapter 2 of this thesis has been published in part as "Wiafe B, Metcalfe PD, Adesida AB. "Stem cell therapy: current applications and potential for urology". 2015 Current Urology Reports 16(11):77. Wiafe B. was responsible for study design, literature review, manuscript drafting, and revision. Adesida A. and Metcalfe P. were supervisory authors and contributed to study design and manuscript revision.

Chapter 3 of this thesis has been published in part as Wiafe B, Adesida A, Churchill T, Adewuyi EE, Li Z, Metcalfe P. "Hypoxia-increased expression of genes involved in inflammation, dedifferentiation, pro-fibrosis, and extracellular matrix remodeling of human bladder smooth muscle cells". In vitro cellular & developmental biology. 2017 Jan;53(1):58-66. doi: 10.1007/s11626-016-0085-2. Wiafe B. was responsible for literature review, study design, sample collection and analysis, manuscript drafting, and revision. Adesida A., Churchill T and Metcalfe P. were supervisory authors and contributed to study design and manuscript revision. Adewuyi EE and Li Z contributed to experimental techniques.

Chapter 4 of this thesis has been published in part as: Wiafe B, Adesida A, Churchill T, Metcalfe P. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit hypoxia-induced inflammatory and fibrotic

v

pathways in bladder smooth muscle cells. World Journal of Urology. 2018 Jul;36(7):1157-1165. doi: 10.1007/s00345-018-2247-1T. Wiafe B. performed literature review, study design, experiments, data collection, analysis, manuscript drafting and revision. Adesida A., Churchill T and Metcalfe P. were supervisory authors and contributed to study design and manuscript revision.

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to the God of Host, the El-Elyon, and the way maker whose divine inspiration, guidance and provision has brought me through.

Acknowledgement

Most of all, I am indebted to my supervisor and mentor, Dr. Peter Metcalfe for his patience, encouragement, and understanding. I am grateful for modeling unrelenting leadership, furthering my understanding of clinical and scientific perspectives, and for all the opportunities you gave me. I learnt a lot from your passion and enthusiasm for your work. I was very fortunate to be cosupervised by Dr. Adetola Adesida. His friendship, infectious enthusiasm and zeal for research has contributed significantly to my professional development. Thank you for believing in me, for constantly opening your doors to me and for generously sharing your space and experiences with me. I am also eternally grateful to Dr. Thomas Churchill for being a great mentor, a friend and an inspiration. I will also like to appreciate the great work of my PhD defence committee (Dr. Roman Krawatz, Dr. Fred Berry and Dr. Barbital Agrawal) for their constructive criticism of my work. I owe a debt of gratitude to Dr. Fred Berry for his kindness and support throughout my studies.

To my dearest mother; I want to write so much but can not find enough words to express my gratitude for all you do for me and baby. Adding the role of a mother to the competing demands of a PhD and career development was never possible without your help and unwavering support. As well, throughout this challenging journey, I was indeed very blessed to have the support of an understanding and loving husband. Sometimes, words aren't enough to express deep gratitude. Many thanks for praying me through and for your selfless dedication to my wellbeing.

To my friends in the lab, Yan Liang, Enaam Idris, Eillette Mullet, Leila Laouar, Alex Szojka, and many others, thanks so much for every help you gave me. I am also grateful to Tracey Zawalusky for her tremendous administrative support.

viii

To the rest of my lovely friends and family, thank you so much for the well wishes, prayers, phone calls, emails, and text messages cheering me on and supporting me to survive all the stress.

Financial Acknowledgement

I acknowledge with gratitude, the stipend support of the Women and Children Health Research Institute (WCHRI) (core funding from the Stollery Children's Hospital Foundation (SCHF) and supporters of the Lois Hole Hospital for Women (LHHW)) as well as the 75th anniversary scholarship. Furthermore, the Northern Alberta Urology Foundation (NAUF), Canadian Urology Association (CUA) and Edmonton Civic Employees Charitable Assistance Fund (ECECAF) generously funded this research.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1	1
Introduction	1
1.1. Thesis synopsis	1
1.2 The Urinary Bladder Anatomy	3
1.3 Bladder Physiology	5
1.4. Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction (pBOO)	5
1.4.1 Etiological Causes of pBOO	7
1.4.2 Diagnosis of pBOO	11
1.4.3 Clinical Treatment of pBOO	12
1.4.4 Experimental Evaluation and Treatment of pBOO	
1.5 Hypoxia	
1.5.1 Cellular Response to Hypoxia	
1.5.2 Differential Expression of HIF in Tissues	20
1.5.3 Hypoxia Response Genes	20
1.5.4 Regulation of HIF Function	21
1.5.5. Role of Hypoxia in Inflammation and Fibrosis	22
1.6 In-Vivo Induction of pBOO and Therapeutic Response	23
1.7. Introduction to Regenerative Medicine	24
1.8. Stem Cell Therapy	25

1.8.1 Human Embryonic Stem Cells	27
1.8.2. Induced Pluripotent Cells	27
1.8.3. Adult Stem Cells	28
1.9. Rational, Aims and Objectives of Study	29
Chapter 2	32
Stem Cell Therapy: Current Applications and Potential for Urology	32
2.1 Overview	
2.2 Introduction to Stem Cells	
2.3 Mechanism of Action of Stem Cells	
2.4 Therapeutic Use of Stem Cells	
2.4.1 Stem Cell Therapy in Autoimmune, Inflammatory and Hematopoietic Diseases	34
2.4.2 Clinical Application in Fibrotic Conditions	35
2.4.3 Tissue Engineering Use of Stem Cells	36
2.5 Potential Use of Stem Cells in the Urinary Tract	
2.5.1 Renal Fibrosis	37
2.5.2 Bladder Obstruction	
2.5.3 Urinary Incontinence	39
2.5.4 Tissue Engineering	40
2.6 Paracrine Effects of Stem Cells on Urologic Factors	42
2.7 Future Directions	42
Chapter 3	44

Hypoxia-increased expression of genes involved in inflammation, dedifferentiation, pro-fibrosis, and
extracellular matrix remodeling of human bladder smooth muscle cells
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Materials and Methods
3.2.1 Quantitative real-time PCR
3.2.2 Western Blot Analysis
3.2.3 ELISA for TGFβ and Total Collagen
3.2.4 Statistical Analysis
3.3 Results
3.3.1 Hypoxia-inducible Factor and Pro-angiogenic Response
3.3.2 Inflammatory Cytokines
3.3.3 Smooth Muscle Dedifferentiation, EMT, and Pro-fibrotic Response
3.3.4 Extracellular Matrix Production and Breakdown
3.4 Discussion
3.4.1 HIF Expression Pattern in Hypoxia and Pro-angiogenic Response
3.4.2 Hypoxia-induced Inflammatory Cytokine Production
3.4.3 Smooth Muscle Cell Dedifferentiation, EMT, and Pro-fibrotic Response
3.5 Conclusion
Chapter 4
Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit hypoxia-induced inflammatory and fibrotic pathways in bladder smooth
muscle cells

	4.1 Introduction	66
	4.2 Materials and Methods	68
	4.2.1 Bladder Smooth Muscle Cells	68
	4.2.2 Human Bone Marrow Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells	70
	4.2.3 Direct and Indirect Co-culture Procedures	70
	4.2.4 Reverse Transcription Real Time-PCR	71
	4.2.5 Cytokine Measurement	72
	4.2.6 Sirius Red Collagen Detection Assay	73
	4.2.7 Statistical Analysis	73
	4.3 Results	74
	4.3.1 Pro- and Anti- inflammatory Cytokines	74
	4.3.2 Differential expression TNF α and IL-1 β MSCs co-cultures	76
	4.3.3 Pro-fibrotic genes expression in MSCs co-culture	78
	4.3.4 Hypoxic and Pro-angiogenic Response	78
	4.4 Discussion	81
	4.4.1 Inflammatory Cytokine Inhibition by MSCs	81
	4.4.2 Anti-inflammatory Cytokine Upregulation in MSCs Co-culture	82
	4.4.3 Pro-fibrotic Gene inhibition by MSCs Co-culture	83
	4.4.4 Hypoxia and Angiogenic Response Unaltered by MSCs co-culture	83
	4.5 Conclusion	84
С	hapter 5	85

esenchymal Stem Cell Therapy Inhibited Inflammatory and Pro-Fibrotic Pathways Induced by Partial		
Bladder Outlet Obstruction and Prevented High Pressure Urine Storage	85	
5.2 Materials and Methods		
5.2.1 Animal and Study Design	87	
5.2.2 Induction of pBOO	88	
5.2.3 Mesenchymal Stem Cells Treatment	88	
5.2.4 Urodynamic Studies	89	
5.2.5 Gene Expression Studies	89	
5.2.6 Mesenchymal Stem Cells Tracking	90	
5.2.7 Immunohistochemistry and Histology	91	
5.2.8 Statistical Analysis	91	
5.3 Results		
5.3.1 Recruitment of intravenously injected MSCs into the bladder	92	
5.3.2 Hypoxic Response	93	
5.3.3 Pro- and Anti-inflammatory response	96	
5.3.4 Pro-fibrotic and hypertrophy response	97	
5.3.4 Histology	101	
5.3.5 Urodynamics		
5.4 Discussion		
5.5 Conclusion		
hapter 6		

General Discussion, Conclusions and Future Recommendations	108
6.1 General Discussions	108
6.2 Potential Clinical Benefits	115
6.3 Conclusions	116
References	117

List of Tables

Table 3.1 List of human primer sequences used for the gene expression studies

Table 4.1 List of human primer sequences used for the gene expression studies

 Table 5.1 Primer sequences used to study the expression of target genes

List of Figures

Figure 3.1 Hypoxia-inducible factor and pro-angiogenic genes increased due to hypoxia

Figure 3.2 Hypoxia increased inflammatory cytokine production.

Figure 3.3 Hypoxia-induced smooth muscle cell dedifferentiation.

Figure 3.4 Pro-fibrotic response genes upregulated by hypoxia

Figure 3.5 Upregulation of total collagen and collagen subtypes by hypoxia

Figure 3.6 Hypoxia-induced extracellular matrix production and inhibition of breakdown

Figure 4.1 Culture micrographs and characterization of cells

Figure 4.2 MSC co-culture significantly inhibited inflammatory response to hypoxia and increased anti-inflammatory cytokine production

Figure 4.3 Pro-inflammatory cytokines that were only reduced by the direct co-culture technique and not the indirect

Figure 4.4 Co-culture with MSCs inhibited pro-fibrotic gene expression

Figure 4.5 Unaltered HIF Expression and proangiogenic response by MSCs co-culture in hypoxia

Figure 5.1 the presence of GFP-expressing MSCs in the bladder

Figure 5.2 pBOO-induced HIF was downregulated by MSCs

Figure 5.3 immuno-localization of HIF 1α in bladder after pBOO and treatment

Figure 5.4 MSCs therapy inhibited pro-inflammatory cytokine and increased anti-inflammatory cytokine

Figure 5.5 increased TGFβ1 expression and activity in pBOO was inhibited by MSCs

Figure 5.6. Pro-fibrotic genes upregulated by pBOO were inhibited by MSCs therapy

Figure 6.1. Molecular and physiological benefits of MSCs anti-fibrotic effects on pBOO pathology

List of Abbreviations

 α : alpha

 α -MEM: alpha-minimal essential medium

αSMA: alpha smooth muscle actin

ANOVA: analysis of variance

β: beta

 β -actin: beta-actin

BMNC: bone marrow-derived mononucleated cell

CD: cluster of differentiation

cDNA: complementary deoxyribonucleic acid

CIC: Clean Intermittent Catheterization

CO₂: Carbon dioxide

Col: Collagen

CT: Cycle Threshold

CTGF: connective tissue growth factor

DAPI: 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole

DMEM: Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium

ECM: extracellular matrix

EMT: epithelial to mesenchymal transition

EPO: erythropoietin

FBS: fetal bovine serum

FGF-2: fibroblast growth factor-two, basic fibroblast growth factor

H: Hour

HEPES: 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid

HIF: Hypoxia inducible factor

HLA: human leukocyte antigen

HRE: Hypoxia response element

IHC: Immunohistochemistry

IL: interleukin

MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging

mRNA: messenger ribonucleic acid

MSCs: mesenchymal stem cells

MTOR: mechanistic target of rapamycin

N₂: Nitrogen

NCBI: National Center for Biotechnology Information

O₂: Oxygen

P70 S6K: Ribosomal protein S6 kinase beta-1

pBOO: partial bladder outlet obstruction

PBS: phosphate-buffered saline

PDGF: platelet-derived growth factor

PUV: Posterior urethral valve

RNA: ribonucleic acid

RT-qPCR: reverse-transcription quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

SDS-PAGE: sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

SEM: standard error of the mean

SLRP: small leucine-rich repeat proteoglycan

SMAD: Small mothers against decapentaplegic gene

T150: Tissue-culture flask (surface area of 150 cm²)

TGF-β: transforming growth factor-beta

TIMP: Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase

TNFα: Tumor necrosis factor alpha

VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor

Chapter 1

Introduction

Bridget Wiafe

1.1. Thesis synopsis

Partial bladder outlet obstruction (pBOO) results from a myriad of conditions that anatomically or functionally impede the flow of urine. It affects an estimate of 1.1 billion people worldwide [1]. In the elderly, the prevalence of pBOO correlates with age and over 90% of men 90 years and above are affected with this condition [2]. Pediatric urology clinics are also inundated with children suffering from abnormal bladders. It commonly presents with varying severity in the newborn with renal failure, spina bifida, and posterior urethral valves [3, 4]. Thus, pBOO is common in school aged children resulting in incontinence and urinary tract infections. It is an inflammatory and fibrotic condition that is associated with high pressure urine storage and can induce significant irreversible damage to the bladder. If untreated, this compromises the bladder's function and increases the risk of urinary tract infections, incontinence, hydronephrosis and renal failure [5]. Bladder deterioration is fundamentally driven by hypoxia, whereby the constant contraction of bladder smooth muscles and elevation of intra-vesical pressure results in the compression of capillaries and decreased blood flow to the bladder wall [6]. However, the hypoxia-driven pathophysiology of the bladder is not yet elucidated.

Current clinical management is cumbersome, remains crude, and carries significant risk of morbidity with minimal efficacy. Clean intermittent self-catheterization in combination with anticholinergic drugs such as oxybutynin is the golden standard for treatment [7]. However, intermittent catheterization is burdensome and associated with high risks of urethral trauma, urinary tract infections and lack of self-esteem [8]. Also, oxybutynin and other bladder relaxants are associated with serious side effects and lack of long term efficacy [9]. Moreover, for patients who develop a low capacity, high pressure, poorly compliant bladder, surgical bladder augmentation using autologous intestinal tissue may be beneficial. However, this intervention is associated with major metabolic disturbances, recurrent urinary tract infections and long term graft survival issues [10].

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are adult multipotent cells with immuno-modulatory, reparative, anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic capacities. Stem cell therapy has shown promising experimental outcomes in the treatment of several tissue injury and fibrotic conditions [11]. However, its mechanisms of action are not well understood. Also, despite a relatively positive experimental outcome, not much work is done in the area of modulating the inflammatory and pro-fibrotic profile of pBOO.

The objective of this thesis is to elucidate the role of hypoxia in the pathophysiology of pBOO and to provide insight into the anti-fibrotic effects of mesenchymal stem cells in pBOO. The thesis will commence with an introduction into bladder anatomy and physiology, partial bladder outlet obstruction, causes, diagnosis and treatment. Hypoxia, Regenerative medicine and stem cell therapy will also be covered under the introduction. This will be followed by a review of the current applications and potential of stem cell therapy in urology. The subsequent chapters

will report a number of in vitro and in vivo experiments designed to investigate specific variables of hypoxia and mesenchymal stem cell therapy of the bladder.

1.2 The Urinary Bladder Anatomy

The urinary bladder is an elastic, muscular and water-tight organ that stores urine excreted by the kidneys. It has a broad body that tapers at the base to form the bladder neck. This opens into the urethra that drains urine out of the body. Sphincter muscles found at the bladder neck and urethra contract to prevent urine leakage. The bladder has an inner mucosal lining of stratified epithelia called the urothelium. Beneath is a submucosal layer called the lamina propria which contains nerves and blood vessels. Underlying this stratum is a three-layered coat of smooth muscles called the detrusor muscle. The outer layer is comprised of peritoneum serosa [12] (Figure 1.1 &1.2).



Figure 1.1 Schematic drawing illustrating the anatomical parts of the urinary bladder



Figure 1.2. Histology of the urinary bladder. Haematoxylin and Eosin stained longitudinal section of a human bladder biopsy. The umbrella cells of the mucosa are indicated by black arrows in the high power section.

1.3 Bladder Physiology

Complex co-ordination between the central nervous system, the detrusor and sphincter muscles is required for the bladder to perform its primary tasks of storing and expelling urine. Sympathetic nerves are found mainly on the bladder neck and urethra that controls internal sphincter tone required for urine storage. Skeletal muscle and the somatic nervous system regulate an external sphincter with voluntary activity. Normal urine storage requires the sphincters to be potently contracted and highly resistant to urine flow, with a relaxed detrusor muscle. The elastic properties of the detrusor also contribute to a very compliant organ, whereby large volumes of urine are stored at low pressures [13]. Bladder compliance is a measure of the change in volume per unit increase in pressure during filling [14].

Bladder emptying requires relaxation of these sphincters, and a coordinated contraction of the detrusor muscle, mediated via the parasympathetic system. The pressure in the bladder should only rise minimally during voiding, ensuring minimal stress to the organ [13].

1.4. Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction (pBOO)

pBOO is a condition of anatomical or functional impedance to the flow of urine. It was first described by the Scottish surgeon, John Hunter in 1978 as "the disease of the bladder arising from obstruction and its consequence is an increased irritability, by which the bladder admits of little distension, because quick its action and thick its coats" [15]. Anatomic obstruction may occur secondary to benign prostate hyperplasia (BPH), posterior urethral valve, or urethral stricture diseases. However, functional obstruction can occur with an impairment of the nervous system, whereby the normal sphincter is prevented from relaxation. This is exacerbated if

denervation also results in excess contractility of the detrusor. pBOO remains a significant source of morbidity in urology, increasing the risk of urinary incontinence, urinary tract infections, and renal failure [16].

Clinically, pBOO presents with Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms (LUTS) which include urgency, frequency of urination, nocturia, urinary retention, hesitancy, decreased force of stream, and urinary dribbling after voiding [16].

pBOO is a progressive disease that is characterized by elevated urine storage pressure and bladder wall remodeling [17]. Chronic exposure of the bladder wall to increased voiding resistance and high pressures, irreversibly damages its muscle and interstitial connective tissue. This compromises the ability of the bladder to store urine at low pressures, resulting in a low volume, high pressure, and poorly compliant bladder. The increased pressure results in urinary incontinence if the pressure in the bladder exceeds the resistive capability of the sphincter. Hydronephrosis and renal failure may result if the pressure in the bladder exceeds the pressure in the ureter and renal collecting system, preventing urine flow from the kidney. This increased renal pressure prevents tubular and glomerular function and places the patient at risk for hydronephrosis and renal failure [18].

Partial bladder outlet obstruction, whether acute or chronic, can result in contractile failure which is characterized by the inability to void or acute urinary retention. The bladder compensates for the deteriorating detrusor functions by rapidly increasing bladder mass. Thus, bladder muscle hypertrophy is often the initial compensatory response to the resistance to urine outflow. This is thought to increase the contractile force needed to expel urine against the increased resistance. However, decompensation occurs with time and it is marked by a low

energy, poorly contractile bladder with increased collagen and connective tissue deposition [18]. Essentially, these alterations have a negative impact on blood flow to the bladder wall. Thus, even though the normal bladder is exposed to transient ischemia during the filling and voiding stages, this is exaggerated in the obstructed bladder [19, 20].

Mechanical stretch, hydrodynamic pressure, inflammation and hypoxia are the factors believed to be composite mediators in the pathophysiology of pBOO. However, much data is derived from the hypothesis that mechanical stretch is a primary source of inflammation and the subsequent tissue damage sets the stage for fibrosis [21]. This is not surprising, as the end-result of an unrelieved obstruction can be devastating, as seen by the unremitting progression to the end-stage, fibrotic, poorly compliant, high-pressure bladder.

1.4.1 Etiological Causes of pBOO

1.4.1.1 Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia (BPH)

BPH is the non-malignant proliferation of the cellular mass coupled with an increase in smooth muscle tone of the prostate. Thus, the pathophysiology of BPH comprise of two main mechanisms:

1. The static mechanism in which there is compression of the urethra due to increased prostatic volume. This stems from the proliferation of glandular epithelium, connective tissue and smooth muscles of the prostate.

2. The dynamic mechanism which describes the resultant increase in smooth muscle activity and prevents appropriate relaxation and reduction in resistance to urine flow [22].

Distinctively, BPH-associated hyperplasia occurs in the transitional zone of the prostate whereas in prostate cancer, disease initiates from the proximal peripheral region [23]. Even though the specific mechanism regulating cellular proliferation in BPH is largely unknown, there is evidence suggesting the involvement of complex mechanisms like chronic inflammation and abnormal wound healing processes. Factors such as age, diabetes, obesity and inflammation are known to increase the risk of BPH. The incidence of pBOO correlates with age: the prevalence of BPH in younger men is 5% and the prevalence doubles by age thirty. 60% of men between 60 to 70 years are affected with BPH and the prevalence increases to 80% in men 70 years and above and 90% in men 90 years and above [24].

This condition is diagnosed through a combination of clinical symptoms, urodynamic studies, and cystoscopy, as no major allele with high penetrance for BPH has been identified. However, there are various reports suggesting polymorphism associations of some low-penetrant genes [25]. BPH is thought to be hereditary when it occurs early in life. Studies show that close relatives of men with early onset of BPH (<67 years) have a 66% lifetime risk of having prostatectomy due to BPH as compared to 17% risk in the control group [26]. BPH is genetically heterogeneous: Apart from early onset, familial BPH is distinctive from the sporadic type by having larger prostate volumes and increased risk of having prostatectomy [27].

1.4.1.2 Spina Bifida

Spina bifida is one of the most serious congenital defects compatible with survival. It is caused by failure of the spinal mesoderm to develop properly leading to abnormal closure of the neural tube during embryogenesis. This can result in severe nerve and spinal cord injury. Consequently, there is significant morbidity across multiple organ systems [28].

The prevalence of spina bifida worldwide is about 1 in every 1000 births and 0.86 in every 1000 births in Canada [29]. Risk factors such as folate deficiency, maternal use of anticonvulsants, obesity, and a high blood glucose level during early pregnancy predisposes the developing embryo to spina bifida. Also, the high recurrence rate of spina bifida among siblings of people with the condition provides evidence for the genetic involvement of spina bifida. Polymorphisms and association of major genes involved in the folate metabolism pathway has been studied with the aim of identifying some genetic markers for the disease. However, to date, no gene with complete penetrance has been identified [30]. The association of the preconception and early pregnancy maternal fortification of folic acid with significant reduction in neural tube defects is a major breakthrough in this area.

However, with spina Bifida, the urinary tract becomes a primary source of morbidity and embarrassment. This defect is characterized by a hyperactive bladder and closed sphincter, therefore, a fixed Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction. Consequently, urinary incontinence and urinary tract infections are very common. Furthermore, if left untreated, the sustained elevated bladder pressures may lead to permanent bladder damage and kidney failure [31].

Current clinical interventions include intermittent urethral catheterization, which is our only means of bypassing the fixed urethral resistance and ensuring complete bladder emptying. The empty bladder ensures a low-pressure system. This is extremely burdensome and increases risk of infection. Taking drugs such as antimuscarinics and aggressive medical therapy is used to target the parasympathetic synapses and reduce detrusor contractility. This further reduces the

risk of elevated bladder pressures by maximizing bladder compliance. However, if these measures fail, the bladder must be surgically enlarged to ensure adequate storage volumes and pressures, and this is most commonly done with an intestinal patch. This surgical bladder augmentation is associated with serious morbidity and potential mortality [32].

1.4.1.3 Posterior Urethral Valves (PUV)

This is characterized by abnormal fetal development which results in the presence of a membranous fold in the male posterior urethra. This obstruction results in a low capacity high-pressure hypercontractile bladder which can be apparent pre-nataly. Even though PUV is a rare condition that occurs in about 1 in 4000 to 7000 births, it is associated with high rates of mortality and morbidity. PUV is the commonest cause of urinary tract obstruction in newborns and accounts for up to 17% of all pediatric cases of end stage renal failure [33]. Reports on the genetic regulation of the disease are scanty but there is evidence to support the possibility of familial recurrence. Also, some genetic mutations have been identified [34]. Presently, the implementation of prenatal screening and diagnostic techniques coupled with intensive neonatal care has improved mortality rate significantly [35].

1.4.1.4 Urethral Stricture Disease

This is a condition in which progressive scarring along the segments of the urethra causes a narrowing of its lumen. The epithelial lining of the cavernous tissue is most affected with the increasing ECM deposition. Over time, the highly elastic normal columnar epithelium is replaced with stratified squamous epithelium which lacks the ability to accommodate the normal urethral

hydrodynamic pressure. Hence there is exacerbation of tissue damage due to the high pressures leading to increased fibrosis in the urethral lumen [36]. This results in obstructive symptoms, incontinence and recurrent UTI.

The commonest causes of urethral strictures are iatrogenic in nature. A third of all strictures occur in the penile urethra whereas a half of narrowing occur along the bulbar urethral. Strictures in both segments of the urethra have also been reported [37]. Risk factors for urethral stricture disease include male gender, infection of the urethra, inflammation, trauma and radiation therapy. Urethral stricture tends to affect more elderly men (>65 years) and the prevalence is around 0.6% in this population [38]. Straddle and urethral injuries mainly from instrumentation, as well as radical prostatectomy increases the risks of developing urethral stricture disease [39]. However, genetic factors are unknown [40]. A combination of retrograde urethrography and voiding cystourethrography are useful diagnostic tools for determining the site, span, and severity of the stricture [39].

1.4.2 Diagnosis of pBOO

Patients usually present with LUTS and are initially assessed for risk factors of pBOO. However, pBOO is diagnosed by urodynamics, which allows a direct measurement of intravesical pressures with a catheter placed in the bladder [41]. Urodynamic studies are functional studies that measure filling pressures and the ability to void completely. The study has two phases: 1. the invasive cystometrogram measures parameters of the filling phase and 2. The non-invasive voiding pressure flow study. Typically, the bladder is filled slowly with a saline solution via a catheter, which also contains a pressure monitor. During the voiding phase of the test, the rate of

urinary flow is recorded. Subtracting the intraabdominal pressure, acquired with a rectal pressure monitor, from the intravesical pressure, gives detrusor contractility. These parameters provide useful information for the diagnosis of bladder outlet resistance [42]. Evidence of LUTS is quantified as a measure of severity, prognosis and response to therapy in pBOO. Postvoid volume of 200ml or more is a symptom of deteriorating bladder function and a risk factor for recurrent urinary tract infections and acute renal failure [43].

Video urodynamic assessment (VUA) adds radiographic details of the bladder and urethra, and is usually performed to provide specific information such as the presence of anatomical anomalies such as urethral valves, strictures, lesions, stones, etc. Residual urine, vesicoureteral reflux, and detrusor-sphincter dysynergia can also be detected using VUA [44].

1.4.3 Clinical Treatment of pBOO

Depending on the cause and severity, management of pBOO may involve medication or surgery to reduce the obstruction, or catheterization and, medication to reduce the stress on the bladder. Failure of the above results in major bladder reconstructive surgery.

1.4.3.1 Medical Relief of pBOO

Drugs such as alpha-adrenoceptor antagonists (α -blockers), 5a reductase inhibitors and anticholinergics have shown to be beneficial in improving urodynamic parameters secondary to prostatic hypertrophy [45]. The focus of this treatment is to reduce prostatic volume and muscle tone. Thus, 5 α -reductase inhibitors and α -adrenergic antagonists are first line treatment options [46]. 5 α -reductase inhibitors target the static component of the BPH by preventing the conversion of testosterone to dihydrotestosterone and reduce the stromal volume of the prostate, increases urethral diameter and decreases resistance to urine flow. Common examples include finasteride and dutasteride and these have been known to be effective in reducing prostatic volume of mostly patients with enlarged prostates [47]. α -adrenergic antagonists on the other hand inhibits alpha adrenergic stimulations and thereby reduces bladder neck tone. Tamsulosin, terazosin, alfuzosin, and doxazosin are common examples of α -adrenergic antagonists [48].

1.4.3.2 Surgical Relief of pBOO

In cases of prostatic hypertrophy, urethral stricture, and posterior urethral valves, the anatomic obstruction can be relieved with simple and effective surgical procedures. This includes transurethral resection and urethroplasty. However, stricture recurrence and prostatic regrowth are common. Furthermore, despite relief of the obstruction, if the detrusor has already been significantly damaged, then bladder decompensation may be permanent, and the patient may still suffer from elevated bladder pressures and its sequela [49].

1.4.3.3 Clean Intermittent Catheterization (CIC)

Catheterization is the process by which the bladder is drained of urine through an inserted hollow tube. CIC is an indispensable first line intervention for bladder conditions in which complete voiding is unattainable. This is done to prevent the buildup of high urine storage pressure that has detrimental effects on the kidneys. Catheterization also helps to reduce the incidence of storage-related problems such as urinary frequency and urgency, incontinence, bladder stones and persistent UTI [8]. Clean intermittent self-catheterization (in which the patient himself

inserts and removes catheter) has been promoted as a gold standard for the management of significant urinary retention and voiding dysfunction [50]. However, regardless of the benefit, catheterizing 4-6 times daily can be a bothersome practice, that can potentially increase the risk of acquiring infections, urethral trauma, and is associated with stigmatization, embarrassment and decreased self-confidence [8].

Consistent and effective emptying of the bladder is required to prevent over-filling. If the bladder is unable to empty, the pressure in the bladder remains elevated. This, in turn, contributes to bladder wall stretch and potential constriction of blood vessels. Both of these are significant stressors and result in a generalized inflammatory response [50].

1.4.3.4 Therapeutic Management of pBOO

Therapeutic management of the bladder comprise mainly of bladder relaxant medications. Anticholinergic medications competitively inhibit the binding of acetylcholine to the muscarinic receptors on the detrusor and bladder mucosa and thereby prevent involuntary contraction during urine storage [51]. Anticholinergic drugs include darifenacin, fesoteridine, oxybutynin, tolterodine, trospium chloride and solifenacin. However, the most frequently used is Oxybutynin, a bladder smooth-muscle relaxant, which improves bladder urodynamics by the inhibition of detrusor hypertonicity and hyperreflexia. This eliminates high-pressure involuntary detrusor contractions and urine leakage and also prevents high-pressure bladder storage and high-pressure voiding. Decreasing bladder contractility is also of fundamental importance on reducing detrusor stress. The early and aggressive use of Oxybutynin and clean intermittent catheterization has
been proven to decrease the deterioration of the bladder to a fibrotic state requiring major surgical reconstruction [52].

The clinical use of intravesical botulinum toxin as a second line therapy is increasing in popularity. The neurotoxin is derived from Clostridium botulinum and it is capable of blocking the pre-synaptic nerve terminal release of acetylcholine. Even though, the botulin toxin is not tolerated by all patients, significant improvements in bladder function have been reported [53]. However, the effect is not permanent, and patients require injection via cystoscopy every 3-6 months, and eventually tachyphylaxis occurs where the drug is no longer effective. This likely coincides with the ultimate deterioration of the bladder, where the hypertrophied smooth muscle has deteriorated, and the bladder has lost its elastic properties [54].

The management of bladder outlet obstruction is saddled with the burden of ineffectiveness of long term anticholinergics and muscarinic antagonists as first line treatment [55]. Coupled with their unpleasant side effects such as dry throat, lips, nose and skin, constipation, tachycardia (increased heart rate), blurred vision, and increased body temperature [9], there is therefore, a need to intensify research to find a better first line treatment option.

1.4.3.5 Augmentation Cystoplasty

Augmentation cystoplasty is the most effective therapy for the bladder that has progressed beyond smooth muscle hypertrophy and has developed into a small capacity, high pressure bladder secondary to fibrosis. This end-stage bladder is the least compliant and subsequent small capacity volumes result in the complete inability to store urine at safe pressures. Augmentation cystoplasty is a surgical technique that makes use of autograft of intestinal tissues to improve

bladder compliance and function. Despite satisfactory reports of improved bladder capacity, augmentation cystoplasty is associated with serious side effects such as thromboembolism, metabolic disturbances, incontinence, bacteriuria, urinary tract stones, malignancy, etc. [56].

1.4.4 Experimental Evaluation and Treatment of pBOO

Many authors have been fervently exploring the molecular pathways by which pBOO has its effect on the bladder, and many more have been searching for improved treatment options. Invivo studies have highlighted the role of inflammatory and fibrotic pathways. Furthermore, multiple well-designed animal models have provided great insight into whole organ deterioration and treatment options.

1.4.4.1 Molecular Changes in pBOO

Both experimental and clinical studies have reported short and long-term effects of partial bladder outlet obstruction [17, 57-64]. This has led to the identification of numerous genes and pathways as causative factors. These include, hypoxia inducible factor (HIF), Transforming Growth Factor Beta (TGF-β), Sma and Mad Related Family (SMAD) [57,58], connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) [17], mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) [60] and others such as VEGF, Light and Heavy chain caldesmon isoforms, IL-1B, collagens, Rho-kinase, protein kinase C.

The TGF-β-SMAD pathway is well known for extracellular matrix production and in pBOO, inhibition of this pathway resulted in a significant reduction in fibrosis [57]. mTOR is a master regulator of cell cycle progression and visceral smooth muscle cell differentiation. Repression of this protein by rapamycin effectively attenuated obstruction-induced hypertrophy

and collagen deposition [59]. Caldesmon is an actin-associated protein that regulates smooth muscle contraction. It has two isoforms; the non-muscle type is of a light molecular weight (l-cad) and the muscle-specific type is of a heavy molecular weight (h-cad). Obstruction-induced bladder decompensation is associated with increased expression of the non-muscle specific l-cad so that the ratio of h-cad to l-cad reduces significantly during long periods of decompensation [60]. Rho-kinase and protein kinase C are regulatory proteins of bladder contractility. Rho-kinase isoforms are upregulated in the compensatory phase of pBOO [61] whereas protein kinase C is downregulated in pBOO [62].

Further characterization of the bladder's response to obstruction confirmed that the pathophysiology is secondary to mechanisms used throughout other organ systems. We were the first to describe the role of small leucine-rich proteoglycans (SLRP) in the bladder after pBOO [63]. These molecules are integral to proper collagen assembly and function. As per skin and other organs, Decorin is down-regulated and Biglycan is up-regulated with the progression of fibrosis after the inflammatory cascade [64]. There was also further evidence that ischemia plays a predominant role, with an increase in HIF-1alpha associated with activation of the Ras homolog transforming protein member A (Rho) and RhoA Kinase (ROCK) pathways. Increased SPRP levels confirmed that the pathway to fibrosis is initiated early, likely with the onset of inflammation.

1.5 Hypoxia

Reduction in oxygen tension which is termed hypoxia, plays essential roles in the pathophysiology many conditions. In urology, hypoxia has been found to correlate with the incidence of lower urinary tract symptoms in elderly patients [65]. Also, several studies have identified hypoxia in obstructed bladder tissues, suggesting an important role in the pathophysiology of pBOO. It is hypothesized that the increased pressure secondary to pBOO results in compression of the blood vessels. Also, the increased muscular contractility occlude bladder capillaries. The detrusor smooth muscle is extremely sensitive to hypoxia, especially with regards to its integrity and function; hypoxia inhibits proliferation of bladder smooth muscle cells via increasing cell cycle inhibition [66]. Animal studies have also shown that pBOO results in high production of reactive oxygen species and mitochondrial lipid peroxidation [67]; similar effects were observed when bladder smooth muscle cells were exposed to hypoxia [68]. The multi-stress effects of stretch, inflammation, hydrodynamic pressure and hypoxia resulted in sequential events of inflammation, hypertrophy and fibrosis [17]. However, the isolated contribution of hypoxia in these pBOO-driven events has not yet been established.

1.5.1 Cellular Response to Hypoxia

The ability of many cell types to sense and respond to reduced oxygen tensions is essential for their survival. Reduction in cellular and systematic oxygen tensions induce a complex cascade of response pathways that attempts to compensate for the loss and restore oxygen supply to cells. The Hypoxia Inducible Factor (HIF) is the major mediator of oxygen homeostasis and the master regulator of the protective responses [69]. HIF is a sequence-specific DNA-binding protein that

regulates the transcriptional response to hypoxia and forms part of the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH-PAS) superfamily [70].

HIF plays an important role both physiologically and pathologically. Major physiologic roles include promoting angiogenesis during a) embryogenic development, b) cell proliferation and differentiation d) wound healing. Pathologically, the transcription factor is implicated in cancers and fibrotic conditions where it has been associated with aberrant angiogenesis that is supportive of cancer growth as well as excessive extracellular matrix production in fibrosis [70].

The HIF family is characterized by a heterodimeric structure and consists of three known members; HIF 1, 2 and 3 [71]. Structurally, each member consists of a stable and uniformly distributed β -subunit and an oxygen-degradable, hypoxia-inducible α subunit. HIF α is mainly regulated post-translationally so that during normal oxygen supply, it is constantly degraded by hydroxylation-dependent proteosomal polyubiquitination. Proline hydroxylation of HIF α which occurs during normoxia is catalyzed by prolyl hydroxylase (PHD) and the cofactors Fe2+ and α -ketoglutarate (α -KG) in an oxygen dependent reaction. This process recruits the tumour suppressor protein called von Hippel-Lindau (vHL) which in turn attracts the 2-E3-ubiquitin-ligase complex to initiate the degradation process [69].

In contrast, during hypoxia, the α subunit is stabilized via prolyl hydroxylase inhibition. This terminates the rapid breakdown and HIF α is able to reach detectable levels in tissues. The accumulating HIF α translocate into the nucleus and subsequently dimerizes with the β -subunit forming an α - β complex that is a transcription factor for stimulating the expression of hypoxia-response genes. These genes encode for numerous cytoprotective proteins to combat the

deleterious effects of hypoxia. One key protective protein is the Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF), a major angiogenic factor responsible for stimulating vascular growth [70].

Both heterodimerization and DNA binding is mediated by the bHLH-PAS domain of HIF [71].

1.5.2 Differential Expression of HIF in Tissues

HIF 1 α levels are often used as a marker for HIF transcriptional activity in many tissues [72]. HIF 1 α and HIF 2 α proteins are similar in structure and sometimes redundant in cellular functions. However, HIF 2 α is only expressed in a limited number of tissues and cell types. HIF 3 α is the latest discovery in the HIF family; its expression is different from the other two and it has many splice variants that can competitively inhibit HIF 1 and 2 α . The cellular response of HIF 3 α is observed as either complementary or suppressive to HIF 1 and 2 α depending on the studies [73]. Both HIF 1 and 3 α have numerous common target genes. Luciferase reporter assay and chromatin immunoprecipitation studies have shown that HIF 3 α contains a functional hypoxia response element to which HIF 1 α binds to enhance the expression of HIF 3 α [74]. However, other studies have shown an upregulation of HIF 3 α in hypoxia when HIF 1 and 2 α levels were unaltered [75].

1.5.3 Hypoxia Response Genes

These are genes that have the nucleotide sequence 5'-RCGTG-3' called the hypoxia response element (HRE) in their promoters or enhancer regions, to which the HIF heterodimer binds in order to induce transcription. R in the HRE nucleotide sequence denotes either an adenine (A) or Guanine (G) [76]. This cis-acting DNA binding sequence was first identified in 1991 by Semenza et al in the 3' Flanking Region of the erythropoietin (EPO) [77]. The HRE was reported to be essential for the transcriptional activation of the EPO gene during hypoxia. Subsequently, HIF was found to regulate the expression of more than 100 genes that have HRE [78]. These genes mainly encode for proteins that mediate adaptive physiological processes such as angiogenesis, erythropoiesis, autophagy, apoptosis, anaerobic metabolism, etc. Common examples of genes with HRE include EPO, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), Lysyl Oxidase, Protein kinase C-binding protein 1, glucose-transporter 1 (GLUT1), Lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA), aldolase A (ALDA), phosphoglycerate kinase 1 (PGK1), etc. [72, 64]. Connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) which is implicated in fibrotic conditions is also a proven HIF-Target gene [79].

1.5.4 Regulation of HIF Function

Beyond oxygen levels, the transcription and translation of HIF α is regulated by various signal transduction pathways [80]. The expression of HIF α like other proteins is regulated by the phosphatidyl inositol-4,5-bisphosphate-3-kinase (PI3K) pathway through its target protein kinase B (Akt) and the downstream effector mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR). This pathway is inhibited by the presence of a functional Phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN). The PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway together with the activation of RAS/ERK lead to HIF α transcription and translation. The resulting activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)/ERK signaling transactivates and stabilizes HIF α [81]. As well, hypoxia can phosphorylate MAPK which is essential for HIF α stabilization, cytoplasmic accumulation and nuclear translocation [82]. Importantly, the regulatory relationship between the PI3K/mTOR/MAPK/ERK pathways and HIF may explain why these pathways together with HIF are commonly implicated in most

inflammatory and fibrotic conditions. In these pathological states, HIF is able to stimulate adaptive survival processes that maintain oxygen homeostasis and metabolic equilibrium [82].

As a protective role, functional p53 tumor suppressor protein induces degradation of abnormally high HIF levels [83]. Thus, in summary, HIF function can be activated by the loss of function of tumor suppressors such as VHL, PTEN and p53 and the gain of function of genes that encode for mTOR, PI3K, RAS, AKT. The binding of Heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90) to HIF α is known to induce stability to the alpha conformation against the von Hippel Lindau-mediated degradation [80].

1.5.5. Role of Hypoxia in Inflammation and Fibrosis

The level of oxygenation is a critical factor in the microenvironment of tissue injury. The induction of HIF in acute injury has beneficial effects that help the tissue to adapt to hypoxia and stimulate restorative angiogenic growth. However, in most chronic inflammatory conditions, the HIF pathway is known to drive tissue fibrosis [84].

In many clinical conditions, hypoxia is known to promote pro-inflammatory and profibrotic mediators and cytokines; Transforming Growth Factor Beta (TGF β) is a master regulator of cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, and the Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition (EMT). TGF β stimulation involves two pathways known as the canonical (Smad related) and noncanonical (non smad) which ultimately lead to fibrosis. Some of the downstream pro-fibrotic effects of TGF β Stimulation include epithelial to mesenchymal transition, activation of myofibroblast, and Connective Tissue Transforming Growth Factor (CTGF), as well as inhibition of extracellular matrix breakdown [85]. At the molecular level, both hypoxia and inflammation are regulated by complex interrelated pathways. Hypoxia is known to induce the nuclear translocation and functional activity of nuclear factor- κ B (NF κ B), which is the master regulator of inflammatory pathways. The NFkB binds to and stabilizes HIF expression in the inflammatory milieu [86]. Moreover, HIF and NFkB have some common target genes and hypoxia can trigger the production of certain cytokines that promote inflammation (pro-inflammatory cytokines) [87].

Two key intermediary processes involved in increased collagen production are an upregulation of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteases (TIMP) and an activation of myofibroblasts [88-90]. HIF does not only augment extracellular matrix protein production but also, there is evidence suggesting that it directly contributes to fibrosis by promoting the expression of profibrotic factors like the tissue inhibitors of metalloproteases (TIMP) [90]. Moreover, hypoxia, as well as inflammation, TGFB and PDGF can increase extracellular matrix production via Myofibroblast activation [17, 90].

1.6 In-Vivo Induction of pBOO and Therapeutic Response

Our laboratory has successfully characterized the progression of bladder deterioration after pBOO and demonstrated multiple effective therapies [17, 91, and 92]. After 2 weeks of pBOO the bladders demonstrated a massive up-regulation in the transcription and production of many inflammatory cytokines involved in multiple pathways. Prolonged obstruction demonstrated that the inflammatory response is replaced with a compensatory smooth muscle hypertrophy evident by microscopy and associated with significant increases in bladder pressures and capacity. Further periods of pBOO, up to 8 weeks, demonstrated a complete loss of normal tissue

architecture and replacement with dense, inelastic collagen. This results in further increases in pressures, but a decrease in capacity [17]. This temporal model closely replicates the clinical scenario, whereby the pBOO results in initial LUTS, which progresses to incontinence, and eventually an end-stage bladder which is a threat to normal renal function.

We were able to demonstrate that out current medical therapy effectively reduces bladder pressures. We chose to study oxybutynin, the gold standard for decreasing bladder contractility and reducing storage pressures. Our model was able to demonstrate improved urodynamic parameters, as well as a decrease in bladder weight and thickness. Histology confirmed a minimization of the expected smooth muscle hypertrophy expected after pBOO. Furthermore, the first improvements were seen with oxybutynin, via detrusor contractility. However, the treatment with oxybutynin did not seem to decrease inflammatory and fibrotic mediators, such as: TGF β , HIF-1 α , CTGF, or mTOR [92]. We hypothesized that although our current goldstandard demonstrated efficacy, the crude upstream inhibition at the muscular level did not seem to affect the inflammatory milieu. This may explain its lack of long-term efficacy and reinforced our interest in an anti-inflammatory / anti-fibrotic intervention.

1.7. Introduction to Regenerative Medicine

Regenerative medicine is an interdisciplinary innovative technology in medicine that uses cells, proteins and genes to replace, restore and/or rebuild human tissues and organs. First published in 1992, Leland Kaiser was the first to express hope that regenerative medicine will revolutionize the treatment of chronic diseases [93]. However, William Hazeltine is believed to have publicized regenerative medicine in 2000 to 2003. This led to high public interest in the

therapeutic potential of regenerative medicine to solve serious health challenges such as organ failure, cardiovascular diseases, hematological disorders, degenerative disorders, brain and spinal cord damage. Importantly, this innovation is expected to provide a solution to the donor organ shortages and tissue rejection that confronts contemporary transplantation [94]. Stem cells play a key role in this therapy and the commonly researched areas of this field include: a) the injection of stem cells into circulation or directly into a dysfunctional tissue or organ in order to stimulate healing and regeneration. b) The use of cells and biocompatible materials to engineer new tissues and organs for transplant [95].

Remarkably, after years of hope and high expectations, regenerative medicine is yet to bring about most of the anticipated therapeutic transformations. Therefore there is the need to intensify research to overcome any challenges and fully benefit from this innovation.

1.8. Stem Cell Therapy

Stem cells are a unique collection of unspecialized cells in the body that have multi-lineage differentiation capacities, are self-renewing and able to modulate immune responses. When transplanted, they home in to injured tissues, are anti-inflammatory, anti-fibrotic, and stimulate blood vessel formation. These are some of the features that have generated excitement for their curative and reparative use. Some proposed mechanisms by which stem cells effect their therapeutic roles include cell-to-cell contact between stem cells and host cells, trans differentiation, where stem cells differentiate into a specific cell type to replace damaged cells of an organ, and paracrine effects. The paracrine effect describes the ability of stem cells to produce

concomitant amounts of bioactive factors that exerts regenerative effects on injured tissues. These secretory factors are capable of modulating recipient's immune responses [96].

In the last decade, paracrine signaling has emerged as an important mechanism, playing a primary role in stem cell therapy. Media in which stem cells have been cultured, called stem cell-conditioned media is known to contain stem cell-secreted factors that have anti-inflammatory, anti-scarring, angiogenic, healing and regenerative effects in various disease models [97, 98].

Microvesicles (spherical cell membrane fragments that contain genes, lipids, proteins and micro RNAs) derived from stem cells have also been shown to have therapeutic and reparative value. The microvesicle-paracrine signaling is currently attracting attention due to the ability of microvesicles to transfer their bioactive content to recipient cells. This leads to modulation of gene expression, inducing significant functional and phenotypic changes in the recipient cells [99]. Research into the injection of stem cells, stem cell-conditioned media, and stem cell microvesicles have produced promising results in both human and animal studies (99, 100). The advantages that MSCs-derived microvesicles have over the systemic transplant of whole stem cells is their nano-sizes reducing the chance of clogging and compromising the circulatory system. Also, microvesicles are relatively stable with repeated freezing and thawing [101]. However, the major setbacks to the use of these MSCs-exosomes has been lack of proper organ targeting when systemically injected coupled with challenges in scaling up production to generate adequate quantities for research and clinical use [102]. There are three main types of stem cells and they are: embryonic stem cells, induced pluripotent stem cells, and adult stem cells.

1.8.1 Human Embryonic Stem Cells

These cells have the highest proliferative capacity and can differentiate into the three germ layers of the body; endoderm, ectoderm and the mesoderm. They are derived from the inner cellular mass of a pre-implanted embryo that is 3 to 5 days old. Thus, they have the capacity to form the over 200 different types of cells of the human body [103]. The emerging field of regenerative medicine was motivated by the isolation of these embryonic stem cells and discovery of their ability to differentiate into different cell types of the body (pluripotency). However, research into the possibility of using these cells to treat chronic diseases has been hampered by a strong ethical battle over the need to destroy the life of a human embryo in order to acquire these cells. Later, this field was revamped by the possibility of obtaining these cells from the extra embryos produced during in vitro fertilization treatments [104].

1.8.2. Induced Pluripotent Cells

These are a novel class of adult differentiated cells reprogramed into embryonic stem cells by the introduction of four embryonic regulatory proteins (Oct3/4, Sox2, c-Myc, and Klf4) [105]. This discovery in 2006 was hailed by the scientific community as a direct solution to the moral issue surrounding the acquisition of human embryonic stem cells. The authors, Takahashi and Yamanaka received prestigious awards such as the Shaw Prize (2008), Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine (2012), Millennium Technology Prize (2012), and Breakthrough Prize in Life Sciences (2013) for their novel discovery. However, after a decade of their discovery, the oncogenic transformation potential of these cells have limited excitement for their therapeutic use.

1.8.3. Adult Stem Cells

These are undifferentiated adult cells that are derived from the blood (hematopoietic) and other mesenchymal sources such adipose tissue, bone marrow, skin, urine, gum, placenta, umbilical cord, and skeletal muscles. These hematopoietic and mesenchymal stem cells have a wide spectrum of application in regenerative medicine. Their broad tissue distribution, ease of isolation, ability to induce immune response coupled with the ease of expansion and reduced oncogenic transformation abilities have made mesenchymal stem cells the most frequently used in clinical trials [106].

1.8.3.1 Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Even though Mesenchymal stem cells were first isolated in the 60s, credit is given to the work of Friedenstein and colleagues in 1976 who isolated and described them as plastic-adherent clonal cells [107]. Since then several researches using these cells have emerged. Subsequent work revealed that MSCs are self-renewing multipotent cells and are able to differentiate into the mesoderm-derived cells [108]. MSCs are characterized by the expression and absence of several surface markers. To ensure uniformity in definition, the International Society for Cellular Therapy proposed minimal criteria for defining human MSCs as: 1. they must be plastic-adherent in standard culture conditions. 2. MSCs must express the cluster of differentiation (CD) markers such as CD105, CD73 and CD90, coupled with the absence of CD14, CD11b, CD19, CD34, CD45, CD79 alpha and HLA-DR surface antigens. 3. MSCs must have the ability to differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondroblasts in vitro under the appropriate stimulating conditions [109]. However, all these characterization criteria do not uniquely distinguish MSCs: in culture, MSCs are identified as fibroblast-like cells and share most of the above characteristics

with fibroblasts. In addition studies have shown that fibroblasts also have the ability to modulate macrophage responses in vitro [110]. Therefore, there remains a crucial need to identify unique phenotypic criteria to redefine mesenchymal stem cells.

Even though MSCs are derived from several tissues, bone-marrow derived MSCs have been most studied. Despite their low frequency in the bone marrow (0.001-0.01%), MSCs are easily isolated from the bone marrow under local anesthesia and expanded in culture while maintaining their therapeutic value [111]. When transplanted, bone marrow-derived MSCs have a remarkable ability to home in to sites of tissue injury to promote tissue repair [112]. The ability of these cells to secrete an array of bioactive substances play beneficial roles in tissue injury. This trophic activity is thought to create the needed environment that stimulates a regenerative response and reduces injury area [111].

1.9. Rational, Aims and Objectives of Study

The high number of people affected by pBOO, the resulting bladder deterioration, lack of an effective therapy as well as the increased morbidity associated with current treatment modalities were the motivating factors for this study. PBOO affects over 1.1 billion people worldwide including both children and adults [1]. It is a progressive condition with multifactorial etiological causatives. Current available treatment lack long term efficacy and has failed to effectively target disease pathways [9]. In order to make significant contribution to this field, we prioritized the need to understand the underlying molecular mechanisms of this condition.

Increased bladder contractility, constriction of blood vessel and reduction of blood flow to the obstructed bladder are significant events that occur in pBOO [6]. Consequently, hypoxia was

identified in the obstructed bladder tissue. However, its exact role in disease pathology was not known.

The benefits of mesenchymal stem cell therapy has been elucidated in various disease models. However, the mechanisms underlying its therapeutic effects is not well understood. Also the ability of stem cells to inhibit hypoxia-induced inflammatory and fibrotic mechanisms is not yet known. Therefore, the experiments of this thesis were designed to answer these research questions.

The specific objectives of this study were to:

- 1. Elucidate the isolated effects of progressive hypoxia on urinary bladder cells:
 - a) Explore the link between hypoxia and inflammation, EMT, smooth muscle dedifferentiation, pro-fibrosis and extracellular matrix synthesis.
 - b) Define hypoxia regulation of the bladder at the molecular level; explore the link between the different HIF α subtypes and progressive hypoxia.
- 2. Investigate the ability of MSCs to inhibit hypoxia signaling pathways
 - a) Explore the anti-fibrotic effects of MSCs in vitro using established hypoxia model;
 - b) Investigate the role of MSCs paracrine and cell-cell mechanisms of action in the inhibition of inflammatory and fibrotic pathways.
- 3. Investigate the ability of MSCs to inhibit pBOO-induced fibrotic pathways;
 - a) Confirm in vitro mechanisms in animal models of pBOO;

- b) Investigate the anti-fibrotic effects of MSCs in the pBOO pathology, taking a look at multiple targeted pathways
- c) Explore the ability of MSCs to preserve bladder integrity and function after pBOO.

Stem Cell Therapy: Current Applications and Potential for Urology

Bridget Wiafe, Peter Metcalfe, Adetola B. Adesida

This chapter has been published in part as:

Wiafe B, Metcalfe PD, Adesida AB. **Stem cell therapy: current applications and potential for urology**. 2015 Current Urology Reports **16**(11):77

2.1 Overview

Stem cell therapy holds the potential to revolutionize the treatment of a number of chronic conditions. Its ability to homme to injured sites of the body, stimulate angiogenesis, tissue regeneration, immunomodulation, anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic factors have attracted their use in the treatment of many conditions. Urology has registered one of the highest shown some significant experimental successes using stem cell therapy. However, the rate of clinical

applications is comparatively lower. This review takes a look at our efforts so far and what needs to be done in order to maximize the clinical benefit we can derive from stem cells.

2.2 Introduction to Stem Cells

Stem cells refer to a unique cell type with multiple unique characteristics including: unlimited expansion, self-renewal and a multipotent differentiation capacity. These characteristics have resulted in enormous excitement for their potential regenerative, reparative and immunomodulatory exploitation in the treatment of a number of disease conditions at both experimental and clinical levels. Stem cells are derived from three main sources: Human Embryonic stem cells are derived from the core mass of 4 to 5 day old human embryos. They have very high proliferative potential and can differentiate into an endoderm, mesoderm or an ectoderm [1]. However, the embryo-destroying nature of its acquisition raises one of the fiercest ethical issues in the history of medicine and therefore, limiting its potential clinical use.

It was to overcome these moral issues, that the award winning research by Takahashi and Yamanaka in 2006 was able to reprogram adult differentiated cells into embryonic stem cells by overexpressing some four transcription factors. This was referred to as induced pluripotent stem cells [2]. Since its discovery, critics have questioned the safety of its clinical application as its implantation into nude mice induced teratoma formation. Thus not much has been made of this novel discovery. A third category, called adult stem cells is derived from tissues of the body, commonly, the blood (hematopoietic) and other mesenchymal tissues including bone marrow, skeletal muscles, skin, brain and adipose. These mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have been

found to have a wide spectrum of applications in the areas of therapeutics, regenerative medicine and tissue engineering [3].

2.3 Mechanism of Action of Stem Cells

The specific mechanism of action of stem cells has not yet been clearly defined. However, some proposed mechanisms include cell-cell contact, paracrine signaling, cell fusion, differentiation into a specific cell type, neovascularization or a combination of these mechanisms [4]. The paracrine effect has attracted more attention in the past 5 years. This is because stem cells actively secret cytokines, chemokines and growth factors that affect their microenvironment [5]. Moreover, it has been established that the differentiation pattern and the specific participation of stem cells in terms of tissue repair, maintenance and generation depends on its niche. The immediate environment of the stem cells including the surrounding cells and the trophic factors secreted by the stem cells act together to create unique actions and capabilities dependent on that particular milieu [6].

2.4 Therapeutic Use of Stem Cells

Stem cells have a broad range of applicability including the following the following areas:

2.4.1 Stem Cell Therapy in Autoimmune, Inflammatory and Hematopoietic Diseases

All over the world, stem cell clinical exploits seem to be increasing by the day. Commonly, the transplantation of hematopoietic stem cells from a healthy donor has been beneficial in the treatment of leukemia and other cancers of the blood. Umbilical cord blood-derived stem cells are also approved by the US FDA for treating hemato-immunopathologies [7]. After 20 years of intensive research and successful phases of clinical trials, Health Canada also approved the use

of mesenchymal stem cells called prochymal in the treatment of children with steroid-resistant graft vs host disease. In this therapy, stem cells derived from healthy donors are expanded in culture, frozen until needed and administered intravenously. Successes achieved with this treatment since 2012 have motivated clinical trials of prochymal in the treatment of diabetes type 1, cardiovascular and crohn's diseases [8].

2.4.2 Clinical Application in Fibrotic Conditions

The ability of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) to migrate to injured site or a diseased organ in the body, promote tissue repair and inhibit inflammation has motivated their use in the treatment of multiple fibrotic conditions including myocardial infarction, pulmonary, hepatic and renal fibrosis. A safety trial that tested the use of allogenic laboratory-expanded bone marrow-derived MSCs in 53 patients after myocardial infarction found the administration of MSCs to be safe and also effective in reducing arrhythmic events and improving pulmonary function. It was also shown to be effective in increasing left ventricular ejection fraction after 3 months of treatment [9]. In another study, intracoronary administration of MSCs after acute myocardial infarction resulted in enhanced myocardial function and perfusion with no records of arrhythmias and deaths within 3 months in human subjects [8]. Similarly, several other studies have also reported the effectiveness of MSCs in improving various cardiovascular parameters in patients with myocardial defects [10-14]. The most outstanding of these is the recent reports by Williams et al [10] that reported that there is remodelling of cardiac structure and improvement in function after the transendocardial injection of MSCs in myocardial infarction patients who had developed chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy.

In the trials of liver fibrosis, numerous clinical studies have reported the effectiveness of MSCs in reducing liver fibrosis and improving liver function [15-23]. Nonetheless, stem cell therapy of pulmonary fibrosis has seen very little of translation. The first two human studies were primarily designed to test the safety of MSCs in pulmonary fibrotic patients [24, 25]. Even though the study achieved this primary objective, it was quite disappointing that there was no improvement in lung and respiratory function after 6 months of MSC administration. However, these studies were limited by a small sample size and the lack of placebo control groups. Currently; there is an ongoing large-sample sized multicentric non-randomized clinical trial to test the efficacy of MSCs in pulmonary fibrosis that hopes to achieve clinically relevant results.

Fibrosis is marked by an increase in production and deposition of extracellular matrix proteins of which collagen is predominant, and a reduction in their breakdown. The administration of MSCs has been effective in reducing collagen components of a variety of fibrosis models [26-33]. This is thought to be mediated by the secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6 and IL-10. Stem cells are also known to inhibit many inflammatory/profibrotic markers such as TNF α , IFN α/γ , TGF β , etc. [34, 35]. The increased production of matrix metalloproteases and the downregulation of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteases have also been proposed as a possible mechanism by which stem cells reverse fibrosis [36].

2.4.3 Tissue Engineering Use of Stem Cells

Injuries, cancer, inflammation, dysfunction, aging, etc. are some examples of conditions that may require tissue or organ transplant. The scarcity of organ donors cannot be overemphasized and

tissue engineering using stem cells is thought to have the potential to overcome this problem. Excellent studies by Adesida et al have highlighted the importance of stem cells in cartilage and meniscus regeneration [37-41]. Even though so far, the bulk of applications of stem cells in tissue engineering remain preclinical, there are some clinical successes attained with regenerative stem cell work. Patients with severe alveolar ridge atrophy who received tissue engineered bone made of autogenously sourced, lab-expanded mesenchymal stem cells and platelet-enriched serum developed a regenerative and functional bone that improved mastication [42]. Other clinical studies have also reported the improvement of bone structure and function by transplanting stem cell tissue-engineered bone into patients with a variety of bone-related pathologies [43-46].

2.5 Potential Use of Stem Cells in the Urinary Tract

The existing and potential clinical applicability of stem cells in urology are categorized below:

2.5.1 Renal Fibrosis

Acute, chronic and end stage kidney failure are major health concerns. Complicated by the lack of nephrogenesis and the low regenerative capacity of the adult kidneys [124], injured nephrons are not replaced leading to a progressive loss of function, scarring and fibrosis. MSCs possess significant immunomodulatory effects, promote tissue healing and regeneration, prevent apoptosis, and are pro-angiogenic [47, 48]. Experimentally, stem cell therapy of a variety of kidney injury models has been shown to be effective in reducing renal fibrosis [49-56]. By putting together 71 preclinical stem cell-based studies of kidney injuries using meta-analysis,

Papazova and his colleagues reported that the intravenous or renal artery injection of bonederived mesenchymal stem cells was effective in treating chronic kidney diseases [57]. However, we are still at the early stages of clinical applications. Clinical trials carried out to test the ability of stem cells to suppress immune-response and aid regeneration in kidney transplant recipients was successful [58, 59]. It has also been reported in a clinical trial that the administration of allogeneic stem cells reduces the risk of kidney failure in patients undergoing open heart surgery [60]. Invariably, initiating cell based therapies at an early stage of renal diseases will have enormous benefits of improving the tissue repairing capacity of the kidneys so as to reduce the risk of disease progression. Since ischemia and reperfusion play major roles in renal damage, the introduction of stem cells is likely to stimulate angiogenic and mitotic pathways which are both important for damage repair.

2.5.2 Bladder Obstruction

The fact that partial bladder outlet obstruction (pBOO) causes significant fibrosis and tissue remodelling cannot be overemphasized. Our lab has demonstrated that bladder outlet obstruction progresses from inflammation through hyperthrophy to fibrosis [61]. Even though bladder obstruction is a major urological problem with debilitating consequences, minimal contemporary progress has been made in its management. Despite the scarcity of such studies, work specifically with stem cells has been encouraging: Using the same pBOO model, our lab demonstrated that a short term administration of MSCs causes' significant reduction in hypoxia and inflammatory markers whiles improving urodynamics. [62]. Woo et al have also demonstrated the effectiveness of MSCs in reducing hypoxia and fibrosis in mice models of pBOO [63]. Subsequently, Lee et al also reported the ability of MSCs to reduce the high collagen

and TGFB levels induced by pBOO to normal levels after its administration in rat models [64]. Comparatively, looking at how much work has gone into the preclinical studies of MSCs in cardiovascular and kidney diseases, there is indeed a big gap in our knowledge of MSC therapy in pBOO; the different sources, routes of administration and doses of MSC therapy in pBOO have not yet been studied. More importantly, the paracrine effects and other mechanisms of action are yet to be elucidated.

2.5.3 Urinary Incontinence

Stress urinary incontinence (SUI) and overactive bladder (OB) are major public health problems that negatively affect the quality of life of many worldwide. The urethral sphincter muscles play crucial roles in urinary continence. Thus, efforts in stem cell therapy have focused on regenerating the urethral sphincter. Animal studies of cell therapy of SUI have been very promising with improvements in both histology and function: Administration of MSCs resulted in a functional increase in urethral muscles, elastin and connective tissue [65-67]. However, results obtained from clinical studies have not yet demonstrated substantial successes. Four different clinical trials that examined the efficacy of intrasphincteric injection of MSCs in men and women with SUI achieved moderate results with a few reports of significant improvements in continence [68-71]. The largest study was conducted in 222 men with postprostatectomy urinary incontinence. 54% of the subjects responded to MSC therapy whiles only 12% of this number ultimately became continent [72]. In a recent study of 5 patients with SUI, transurethral injections of autologous adipose stem cells combined with bovine gel and saline, resulted in a negative cough test in only one subject when bladder was saline-filled to a 500ml capacity. Three more subjects achieved a negative cough test after one year of treatment leading the authors to

describe the efficacy of treatment as suboptimal [73]. The most encouraging report from the cell based therapies of SUI is a recent report of a two year trial that evaluated the transurethral injection of autologous, lab-expanded skeletal muscle-derived MSC in 16 SUI patients. This study achieved a success rate of 75% with 50% completely recovering continence [74].

2.5.4 Tissue Engineering

Urology has remained at the forefront of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine, and has seen applications in the kidney, urethra, and the bladder. However, the use of stem cells in regenerating urological organs is still at the experimental stages.

In attempts to tissue engineer the bladder, different types of materials have been tested for compatibility. These range from acellular matrices of bladder and small intestine submucosa, synthetic polymers as well as collagen and alginate [75]. In a clinical study in 1998, an implantation of collagen scaffold seeded with laboratory expanded autologous urothelial and bladder smooth muscle cells, covered with fibrin glue and omentum was able to replace the diseased bladder and improved urodynamics and bladder compliance [76]. This gives hope that the use of MSCs and scaffold to regenerate a functional bladder is feasible given all the advantages of stem cells over somatic cells.

Engineering a completely functional kidney for transplant may be an extremely complex and ambitious project, given the multiple functions of the kidneys, the complex architecture of the nephrons and tubules as well as the risk of tissue rejection. Nonetheless, a renal assist device made up of donor renal tubular cells performed reabsorption in renal disease patients when used

in combination with dialysis [77]. This, indicating that, in tissue engineering the kidney, focusing on a single function at a time may be beneficial.

Urethral stricture is surgically corrected (urethroplasty) by an autograft of buccal mucosa, penile or scrotal tissues. Challenges with the current procedures may be the vexation and tissue damage that may result from obtaining the graft [78] as well as the tendency of long term implanted graft deterioration [79]. Urethral tissue engineering techniques that use cadaveric bladder matrix or synthetic collagen matrix have been tested in patients with hypospadias and those with strictures [79-81]. Results obtained from these studies were comparable with those obtained from the existing urethroplasty procedures. Therefore, it has been proposed that to achieve better urethral reconstruction, bone marrow MSC-seeded bladder acellular matrix should be considered as it gave a 100% success rate in rats [82].

Factors that are crucial in tissue engineering are the scaffold, seeded cells as well as cytokines, growth factors and extracellular matrix that drives angiogenesis, vascularization and neurogenesis of the regenerated organ [83, 84]. Since stem cells secret their own growth promoting cytokines and are able to stimulate vascularization and nerve development, this presents an opportunity for their exploration in tissue engineering urological organs. The discovery that stem cells can be derived from excreted urine has been received with much enthusiasm in the field of urology. Apart from the simplicity and non-invasiveness of their acquisition, they are able to differentiate into bladder urothelia and smooth muscle phenotypes. More importantly, the in vivo multilineage differentiation ability of these stem cells was safely demonstrated in nude mice without the formation of a teratoma [85]. Thus, it is our hope that the full potential of these urine derived stem cells will be exploited in the treatment of urological

conditions.

2.6 Paracrine Effects of Stem Cells on Urologic Factors

Hypoxia is a well-known factor in the pathophysiology of a number of urologic conditions including renal fibrosis, bladder obstruction, overactive bladder, unilateral ureteral obstruction, cancers, etc. In models of these diseases, several cytokines and chemokines are produced by the hypoxic tissue which attracts MSCs to the site of injury. Proinflammatory cytokines are essential in stimulating the angiogenic, lineage-specific differentiation, proliferative and immunomodulatory functions of stem cells. Interleukin (IL) 1 α and β , Tumor Necrotic Factor (TNF) α and interferon γ are examples of proinflammatory markers that play roles in kidney fibrosis, cancers, bladder obstruction and other urologic diseases [86-89]. Recent studies in our lab showed that hypoxia treatment of normal bladder smooth muscle cells results in a time-dependent increase in endogenous TNF α levels. Interestingly, all these stated cytokines have been found to stimulate the immunomodulatory effects of bone marrow-derived MSCs [90, 91]. IL receptor agonist and IL 6 secreted by MSCs inhibit macrophage-activated TNF α secretion and neutrophil apoptosis respectively [92, 93]. This suggests therefore, that stem cell application has a huge therapeutic potential in the field of urology.

2.7 Future Directions

It is obvious that MSC has enormous potential in urologic care. Although tissue engineering and renal repair aspects are the best studied, we believe that their application in pBOO is substantial. The paracrine immunomodulatory effects of these cells should be able to

significantly reduce the inflammation and hypoxia seen after pBOO, and effectively prevent secondary decompensation. This would revolutionize the treatment of patients with spina bifida, posterior urethral valves, and prostatic hypertrophy. The volume of work done on stem cells in renal diseases is very inspiring. This must guide and motivate us to apply stem cells therapeutically. Moreover, much more work is required for stem cell therapy in pBOO and urinary incontinence to be successful.

Chapter 3

Hypoxia-increased expression of genes involved in inflammation, dedifferentiation, pro-fibrosis, and extracellular matrix remodeling of human bladder smooth muscle cells

Bridget Wiafe, Adetola B. Adesida Thomas Churchill, Esther Ekpe Adewuyi, Zack Li, Peter Metcalfe

This chapter has been published in part as:

Wiafe B, Adesida A, Churchill T, Adewuyi EE, Li Z, Metcalfe P. **Hypoxia-increased** expression of genes involved in inflammation, dedifferentiation, pro-fibrosis, and extracellular matrix remodeling of human bladder smooth muscle cells. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim. 2017 Jan;53(1):58-66. doi: 10.1007/s11626-016-0085-2

3.1 Introduction

Partial bladder outlet obstruction (pBOO) occurs as a sequela of benign prostate hyperplasia, posterior urethral valve disease, urethral stricture disease, cancer, and neural tube defects. The resistance to voiding initially results in a compensatory response, with bladder smooth muscle hypertrophy. However, excessive, prolonged exposure can lead to decompensation [1]. A myriad of factors including stretch, hypoxia, hydrodynamic pressure, and/or inflammation are involved in the etiology of bladder damage. Also, in the aged population, hypoxia has been known to correlate with increased urological disorders [2]. In the early development of pBOO, there is a sequential process of inflammation, hypertrophy, and eventually culminating in fibrosis [3]. Further in its development, the obstructed hypercontractile bladder is exposed to more frequent yet prolonged cycles of ischemia during the filling and voiding stages [4]. Even though many studies have identified hypoxia in the muscle layer of the obstructed bladder, the effects of hypoxia as a sole stressor on bladder injury remain unknown.

The ability of many cell types to sense and respond to reduced oxygen tensions is essential for their survival. The major protein central to mediating this protective response is the hypoxiainducible factor (HIF) [5]. The HIF family is characterized by a heterodimeric structure and consists of three known members: HIF1, HIF2, and HIF3. Structurally, each member consists of a stable and uniformly distributed β -subunit and an oxygen-sensitive, hypoxia-inducible α subunit. During hypoxia, the α -subunit is stabilized via prolyl hydroxylase inhibition and subsequently dimerizes with the β -subunit. The α - β dimer is a transcription factor for stimulating the transcription of key genes. These genes encode for numerous cytoprotective proteins to combat the deleterious effects of hypoxia [5]. One key protective protein is the vascular

endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a major angiogenic factor responsible for stimulating vascular growth.

In many clinical conditions, hypoxia is known to promote pro-inflammatory mediators and cytokines; transforming growth factor beta (TGF β) is a master regulator of cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, and the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT). Stimulation of the TGF β -SMAD pathway results in the downstream activation of connective tissue transforming growth factor (CTGF); this inevitably leads to increased collagen deposition. Not only does TGF β act independently to augment extracellular matrix production, exposure to hypoxia has similar effects at the level of transcription and translation [6, 7]. Two key intermediary processes involved in increased collagen production are an upregulation of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteases (TIMP) and an activation of myofibroblasts [8-10].

In order to understand the mechanisms involved in the development of pBOO, we hypothesized that exposing normal bladder smooth muscle cells to hypoxia would stimulate inflammation and induce a fibrotic phenotype.

3.2 Materials and Methods

Established normal human bladder smooth cells were purchased from ScienCell Research Laboratories (Carlsbad, CA) in 2015, and their smooth muscle phenotype was confirmed by their culture characteristics and the expression of the smooth muscle markers; h-caldesmon, desmin, α smooth muscle actin (α SMA) as well as the absence of l-caldesmon as previously established [11, 12]. They were cultured in complete smooth muscle medium containing smooth muscle growth factors (1×), fetal bovine serum (10%), and 1 × 1000 U/ml penicillin and 1000 mg/ml

streptomycin from ScienCell Research Laboratories. Cells were cultured in humidified air at 37° C with 5% CO₂. Exposure to hypoxia Cells between passages 3 and 10 were used for this experiment. 2×10^{6} cells/100-mm culture dish were maintained at normoxic conditions of 21% O2 in humidified air, 5% CO₂, 74%N₂ at 37°C; hypoxic conditions were defined as a gas mixture of 3% O₂, 5% CO₂, 92% N₂ at 37°C for 2, 24, 48, or 72 h, maintained in a Thermo Scientific series II water jacket CO2 incubator (Waltham, MA). For controls, equal numbers of cells were maintained under normoxic conditions for an equivalent length of time.

3.2.1 Quantitative real-time PCR

Immediately at the end of the specified period of hypoxic or normoxic culture of cells, spent medium was frozen, cells were washed with cold PBS and lysed, and RNA was extracted using RNeasy Mini kit (Qiagen, Valencia CA). One microgram of total RNA sample was reverse transcribed using Quantitect Reverse Transcription kit (Qiagen). Real-time PCR reaction was set up using the Kapa Sybr Fast qPCR Kit (Kapa Biosystems, Boston, MA) and specific oligo-dt primer sets for genes of interest (Table 1). An initial enzyme activation at 95°C for 3 min and subsequent 40 cycles of denaturing (95°C, 2 s) and annealing/extension (60°C, 30 s) were all carried out in a Bio-Rad CFX96 real-time system (Kallang, Singapore).Gene expression of hypoxic cultured samples relative to its normoxic cultured control were normalized to an average of two endogenous controls, β actin and 18S, using the comparative Ct method and expressed as $2-\Delta\Delta ct$.

Target Gene	Forward Primer Sequence (5'-3')	Reverse Primer Sequence (5'-3')
HIF 1α	TTC ACC TGA GCC TAA TAGTCC	CAA GTC TAA ATC TGT GTCCTG
HIF 2α	CAA CCT CAA GTC AGC CACCT	TGC TGG ATT GGT TCA CAC
HIF 3a	TTC TCC TTG CGC ATGAAGAGTACG	TCT GCG CAG GTG GCT TGTAGG
CTGF	CAA GGG CCT CTT CTG TGACT	ACG TGC ACT GGT ACT TGCAG
VEGF	CTA CCT CCA CCA TGC CAAGT	GCA GTA GCT GCG CTG ATAGA
TGFβ	TGGAAGTGGATCCACGCGCCCAAGG	GCAGGAGCGCACGATCATGTTGGAC
αSMA	CCG ACC GAA TGC AGA AGGA	ACAGAGTATTTGCGCTCCGAA
ΤΝFα	CTT CTC CTT CCT GAT CGTGG	GCT GGT TAT CTC TCA GCTCCA
Collagen I	CAG CCG CTT CAC CTA CAGC	TTTTGTATTCAATCACTGTCT TGCC
Collagen II	CTGGCTCCCAACACTGCCAACGTC	TCCTTTGGGTTTGCAACGGATTCT
Collagen III	TGAAAGGACACAGAGGCTTCG	GCA CCA TTC TTA CCA GGCTC
Collagen IV	CAG CCA GAC CATTCAGATCC	TGG CGC ACT TCT AAA CTCCT
Aggrecan	TGA GGA GGG CTG GAA CAATACC	GGA GGT GCT AAT TGCAGGGAACA
Fibronectin	GGA GAA TTC AAG TGT GACCCTCA	TGC CAC TGT TCT CCT ACGTGG
185	CGG CTA CAT CCA AGG AA	GCT GGA ATT ACC GCG GCT
Interleukin 1β	ACA GAT GAA GTG CTC CTT CCA	GTC GGA GAT TCG TAG CTG GAT
Interleukin 6	TGGTCTTTTGGAGTTTGAGGTA	AGGTTTCTGACCAGAAGAAGGA
Interleukin 10	CCCTGGGTGAGAAGCTGAAG	CACTGCCTTGCTCTTATTTTCACA
Vimentin	GACAATGCGTCTCTGGCACGTCTT	TCCTCCGCCTCCTGCAGGTTCTT
B actin	AAGCCACCCCACTTCTCTCTAA	AATGCTATCACCTCCCCTGTGT
Smad 2	GTTCCTGCCTTTGCTGAGAC	TCTCTTTGCCAGGAATGCTT
Smad 3	TGCTGGTGACTGGATAGCAG	CTCCTTGGAAGGTGCTGAAG
TIMP 1	GACGGCCTTCTGCAATTCC	GTATAAGGTGGTCTGGTTGACTTCTG
Desmin	AAGATGGCCTTGGATGTGGA	GTTGATCCTGCTCTCCTCGC

Table 3.1 List of human primer sequences used for the gene expression studies

3.2.2 Western Blot Analysis

Hypoxic or normoxic incubated cells were washed with cold PBS and lysed in a RIPA-protease

inhibitor cocktail on ice. Protein concentration of lysates was determined using Pierce[™] BCA

Protein Assay Kit (Waltham, MA) and denatured at 98°C for 5 min in a sodium dodecyl sulphate

(SDS)-loading buffer. Forty-microgram protein volumes were separated by 10% SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). Transferred proteins on nitrocellulose membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat milk in TBS 0.05% Tween 20. Primary antibody incubation was done overnight at 4°C using anti-human HIF1α (1:2000, #AF1935), HIF2α (1:1000, #AF2997) (R&D Systems), HIF3α (whole serum, PCRP-HIF3A-1B1, IOWA DSHB, Iowa City, IA), vimentin (1:1000, #5741), and tubulin (1:10,000, #2144) (Cell Signalling Boston, MA). Protein bands were developed by incubation in secondary antibodies conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (Cell Signalling #7076, Santa Cruz #sc2768) and visualized using SuperSignal chemiluminescence substrate (Thermo Scientific).

3.2.3 ELISA for TGF^β and Total Collagen

Secreted TGF β 1 in culture media was determined using Quantikine ELISA from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN) as previously described [13]. Briefly, latent TGF β 1 in 100 µl of harvested culture media was activated and total concentration was determined by immunoreaction to precoated monoclonal human TGF β 1 using the quantitative sandwich enzyme immunoassay technique according to manufacturers' instructions.

Total synthesized collagen was determined using Chondrex hydroxyproline assay kit (WA). Samples were hydrolyzed with concentrated HCl at 120°C for 24 h, and hydroxyproline levels were estimated from a subsequent chromogenic reaction. Total collagen level in each sample was calculated as the percentage of hydroxyproline divided by 13.5 as already described [14]. All ELISA tests were carried out in duplicates for n = 3.

3.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Data was analyzed using GraphPad prism 6.0 software (GraphPad Prism Inc., La Jolla, CA). Differences between groups were assessed using one-way analysis of variance

(ANOVA) followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test. All values were expressed as mean \pm standard error; p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Hypoxia-inducible Factor and Pro-angiogenic Response:

The incubation of normal bladder smooth muscle cells in 3% hypoxia induced immediate and significant effects. Levels of HIF1 α and HIF2 α rose by 2.3- and 2.7- fold, respectively, by 2 h hypoxia (p < 0.05 for both), but there were no increases in transcript levels at subsequent times. HIF3 α transcript levels did not exhibit any increase until 48 h at which point values rose by 2.6-fold (p < 0.05); this positive effect was further amplified by 5.8-fold following 72h (p < 0.005). HIF1 and HIF3 α proteins were significantly upregulated only after 2 and 72 h, respectively, whereas HIF2 α protein demonstrated only a slight increase after 24 h. The pattern of VEGF expression paralleled that of HIF1 α and HIF2 α . VEGF levels increase by 5-fold after 2 h; by 24 h, expression had increased by a factor 10.4 relative to control (p < 0.005). Despite a transient decline in values by 48 h, there was a 16.2-fold increase after 72 h.


Figure 3.1 Hypoxia-inducible factor and pro-angiogenic genes increased due to hypoxia. (A, B) Human bladder smooth muscle cells responded to hypoxia by transient upregulation of transcription of HIF 1 and 2 α . (C) upregulation of HIF3 α transcripts after 48 and 72 h of hypoxia. (D) Hypoxia induces transcription of VEGF after 24 and 72 h of hypoxia. Graph represents mean \pm SEM and n = 5. One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnet's multiple comparison was used to compare each hypoxic group with its corresponding normoxic controls (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.005, ***p < 0.0005). Normoxic controls were assigned an expression of 1. (E) Western blot for the HIF proteins demonstrated upregulation of HIF 1 α protein (~116 kDa) after 2 h, slight increase in HIF2 α (~115 kDa) after 24 h, and a significant increase in HIF3 α (~70 kDa) after 72 h of hypoxia. Tubulin protein bands were used to show the equality of loaded total proteins of each sample.

3.3.2 Inflammatory Cytokines

TGF-B1 transcripts increased 2.7- fold over 48 h (p < 0.05) and by a total 4.4-fold after 72 h (p < 0.005) (Fig. 2). TGF β 1 protein levels reflected the increases in gene expression; between 24 and 72 h, there was a time-dependent increase of 27% (p < 0.005), 28% (p < 0.05), and 55% (p < 0.005), respectively. TNF α transcripts increased to 2.7-fold after 48 h (p < 0.005), and by 3.2-fold after 72 h (p < 0.005). IL 1 β gene expression also increased by 3.2-fold after 72 h (p < 0.005), whereas IL-6 expression increased 8.9- fold by 24 h (p < 0.005). At 72 h, fold increases had reached 12.6 after 72 h (p < 0.005). Transcript levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10 exhibited a consistent decline; at the completion of the time, course levels had dropped to 44% relative to control (p < 0.005).







Figure 3.2 Hypoxia increased inflammatory cytokine production. (A, B) Hypoxia-induced increased TGF β 1 transcription and translation. Total TGF β 1 protein in bladder smooth muscle cell culture medium after hypoxic incubation was activated and measured by ELISA. (C) TNF α , (D) interleukin 1 β , and (E) interleukin 6 transcripts were upregulated during hypoxia. (F) Downregulation of interleukin 10 transcription during hypoxic stress (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.005, ***p < 0.0001, represents comparison between hypoxic groups and the normoxic controls).

3.3.3 Smooth Muscle Dedifferentiation, EMT, and Pro-fibrotic Response

Since smooth muscle dedifferentiation is associated with increased cell migration and high extracellular matrix production similar to what occurs in myofibroblast activation and EMT, we assessed it using the expression of α SMA, vimentin, and desmin (Fig. 3). A pro-fibrotic response was also assessed via an upregulation of three key genes, Smad 2, Smad 3, and CTGF. The human detrusor smooth muscle cells responded to hypoxia by increasing the transcription of α SMA in a time-dependent manner. A 5.6-fold increase (p < 0.05) in expression was recorded after 48 h followed by a 7.5-fold increase (p < 0.005) over normoxic controls. Both vimentin and desmin transcript levels increased 5-fold after 72 h (p < 0.0005) while vimentin protein showed a progressive increase with increasing duration of hypoxia. Expression of Smad 2 increased by 3.6-fold after 48 h (p < 0.05), and both Smad 2 and 3 increased by 5-fold after 72 h (p < 0.005 for both). CTGF increased by 2.7 (p < 0.05) after 72 h of hypoxic culture.







Figure 3.4 pro-fibrotic response genes upregulated by hypoxia. Pro-fibrotic genes; SMAD 2, SMAD 3, and CTGF were upregulated after 72 h hypoxia (n = 5). **P<0.005, *p<0.05 compared to normoxia controls

3.3.4 Extracellular Matrix Production and Breakdown

Collagens I, II, III and IV, fibronectin, and aggrecan are key components in fibrosis; protein and transcript levels were measured in hbSMC during hypoxia. TIMP 1 was also assessed as a

measure of inhibition to the breakdown of these fibrotic proteins. Collagen I transcripts exhibited a consistent increase over the entire time course, with a 3.4-fold increase after 2 h eventually reaching a maximum fold increase of 12 by 72 h (p < 0.05 and p < 0.005, respectively). Collagen II transcript levels showed a 4-fold increase by 72 h (p < 0.005); collagen III exhibited a similar increase, although a 5-fold increase was evident at 48 and 72 h (p < 0.05). Collagen IV transcripts rose by almost 8-fold following 72 h hypoxia (p < 0.005). Total secreted collagen remained at control values until 24 h at which point levels rose by 100% (p < 0.0001); values remained consistently elevated during prolong hypoxia.

Fibronectin transcripts showed a consistent increase from 1.9- to 3.9-fold; p < 0.005 for values between 24 and 72 h. Both aggrecan and TIMP 1 had similar patterns of expression; 2 h exposure to hypoxia induced a 3-fold increase in mRNA (p < 0.05). Levels dropped to control levels by 24 h and then after 72 h, both aggrecan and TIMP 1 rose again by 4.6- and 2.6-fold, respectively (p < 0.005 for both).



Figure 3.5. Upregulation of total collagen and collagen subtypes by hypoxia. Human bladder smooth muscle cells responded to hypoxia by the exponential increase in transcript levels of the collagen subtypes as well as total collagen. Early upregulation of collagen I and III transcripts preceded a later increase of collagen II and IV. Newly synthesized collagen in media was estimated from the total concentration of hydroxyproline.



Figure 3.6 Hypoxia-induced extracellular matrix production and inhibition of breakdown

Transcript levels of fibronectin, aggrecan, and TIMP 1 were upregulated when bladder smooth muscles were incubated in hypoxia. **p < 0.005, ***p < 0.0005, ***p < 0.0001, represents comparison between hypoxic groups and the normoxic control).

3.4 Discussion

Bladder outlet obstruction is a serious urological condition that can lead to irreversible bladder and renal damage [1]. Animal studies have shown that pBOO results in a significant decrease in blood flow to the bladder muscle layer which correlates with contractile dysfunction [15] and increased collagen production [3]. The initiation and progression of pBOO is associated with an increased expression of pro-inflammatory, pro-fibrotic, and angiogenic genes, namely HIF, TGF β , VEGF, α SMA, CTGF, TNF α , IL 1 β , and collagen. However, these responses are due to a combined multicomponent stress involving stretching, increased hydrodynamic pressure, inflammation, and hypoxia. Other studies have delineated the role of stretching, mechanical deformation, inflammation, and elevated hydrodynamic pressure as single stressors [16, 17]. However, the exact role of hypoxia in the progression of this pathological process has not yet been investigated. Therefore, this study was designed to test the hypothesis that normal bladder smooth muscle cells exposed to hypoxia, without the confounding effects of stretching or contracting forces, will lead to an inflammatory response and a pro-fibrotic phenotype.

3.4.1 HIF Expression Pattern in Hypoxia and Pro-angiogenic Response

The importance of the HIF transcriptional factor to cell survival has been well-established [5]. In our study, the transcription and translation of both HIF1 and HIF2 α were transiently upregulated in response to short-term hypoxia (2–24 h). This is consistent with findings from other cells [18, 19]. Meanwhile, some previous studies on cells from the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, lung, heart, and Chinese hamster ovary cells have reported that the transcription of HIF1 and HIF2 α is not affected by hypoxia [20] and is exclusively under post-translational regulation. In our study, HIF1 α upregulation during the early phase of hypoxia (2 h) may be an emergency response mechanism that ensures stable levels of HIF α proteins in order to ensure that an immediate cytoprotective response is mounted. The increase in VEGF mRNA after 24 h is consistent with the proven relationship involving a HIF-mediated pro-angiogenic effect.

As far as we are aware, our study is the first to document the involvement of HIF3 α in human bladder cells with a primary role in cytoprotective responses to prolong hypoxia. Interestingly, the role of HIF3 α in mediating responses to hypoxia is not ubiquitous; HIF3 α has been found to be tissue and organ-specific. In the previous study examining the involvement of HIF3 α in hypoxia in multiple rodent organs, HIF3 α expression was elevated in rat brain, lung, and heart tissues with no effect on HIF1 α and HIF2 α . This finding suggests that there may be a protective role mediated by HIF3 α during hypoxia that is independent of HIF1 α and HIF2 α [20]. In our study, HIF3 α genes and protein were significantly expressed after 72 h of hypoxia when HIF1 and HIF2 α proteins had resumed normoxic control levels. These results are congruous with a role of HIF3 α that is complementary to that of HIF1 α and HIF2 α . This purported mechanism provides an explanation of a biphasic upregulation of VEGF where VEGF transcripts had increased again following 72 h when only HIF3 α with HIF3 has been suggested to be the result of HIF3 α -mediated suppression of HIF1 α and HIF2 α expression [21].

3.4.2 Hypoxia-induced Inflammatory Cytokine Production

The major regulatory role of TGF β in fibrosis makes it a very important marker in fibrotic diseases. In our study using human bladder smooth muscle cells as an in vitro model, hypoxia

stimulated TGF β 1 expression at both mRNA and protein levels in a time-dependent manner; this is consistent with a previous study using human hepatic stellate cells [19]. Of more physiologic relevance, TGF β 1 expression has been found to increase in whole animal models of pBOO [22].

Hypoxia also induced the expression TNF α , IL 1 β , and IL 6 which are all part of the acute phase proteins secreted in response to inflammation. However, expression of IL 10 was downregulated in a time-dependent pattern. This is consistent with the study of trophoblast cells of pre-eclamptic pregnancies that reported a similar pattern of reduced IL 10 and increased IL 6 when exposed to hypoxia [23]. Data from our current study demonstrate that isolated hypoxic stress can produce a robust inflammatory response. Prior studies focusing specifically on pBOO have attributed the inflammatory response to contractility, bladder remodeling, and functional deterioration [3, 22, and 24]. In our results, the initial robust IL6 response we detected was most likely responsible for the direct inhibition of TNF α transcription over the first 24 h. The first incidence of TNF α upregulation occurred after 48 h, which corresponded to a marked decline in IL 6. Thus, our findings are consistent with a previously established inhibitory effect of IL 6 on both TNF α and IL 1 β expression [25].

Unexpectedly, TNF α and IL 1 β mRNA levels increased significantly after 72 h when IL6 remained elevated. This suggests that there may be other important factors and mediators of interplay here; IL 10 is typically referred to as an anti-inflammatory (and anti-fibrotic) cytokine where suppression of IL 10 levels has pro-inflammatory sequelae [26]. We found a time-dependent decline in IL 10 transcripts, with values reaching significance after 48–72 h. Despite an initial inhibitory effect of IL 6 on TNF over the first 24 h, it is possible that the secondary protracted effect was governed by the loss of IL 10. Whether the biphasic response of TNF α

throughout extended periods of hypoxia is regulated by the ratio of IL 10/IL 6 as opposed to absolute transcript levels remains to be established.

3.4.3 Smooth Muscle Cell Dedifferentiation, EMT, and Pro-fibrotic Response

In our study, the epithelial to mesenchymal transition and the smooth muscle cell dedifferentiation was profound. A pro-fibrotic response involving TGF β transcription and translation was evident at the early stage (<24 h) followed by a progressive increase in α SMA throughout the entire period of hypoxia; this is congruous with the findings in proximal tubular cells [27]. Later stage development of pro-fibrotic response was evidenced by increases in desmin, a proven index of late stage fibrosis. Importantly, our results strongly suggest a relationship between prolong hypoxia, HIF3 α , and EMT (using vimentin as a marker) in bladder smooth muscle cells. Exploring this area further may have therapeutic potentials in obstructive bladder conditions.

Increased synthesis and decreased breakdown of extracellular matrix proteins are the hallmark events characteristic of fibrosis. The pro-fibrotic response of human bladder smooth muscle cells in our study was pronounced; total collagen protein increased by 100%. Synthesis of the four central matrix components in our model was the direct result of an early and progressive upregulation of collagens I and III. Collagens I and III are the key interstitial collagens most commonly found in obstructive bladder fibrosis [3, 28]. The significance of the later stage increases in collagens II and IV transcription may be related to a secondary mechanism of matrix formation following initial pro-fibrotic events. TGFβ also plays a key role in fibronectin synthesis at transcriptional and translational levels; fibronectin is an essential

substrate for α SMA synthesis [29]. From our results, both the fibronectin gene and secreted TGF β 1 protein were significantly upregulated after 24 h hypoxia and further increased throughout prolonged exposure. α SMA expression was only increased after 48 h, likely secondary to increase in both fibronectin and TGF β 1.

Although our data indicate that there is a concerted cellular effort resulting in an overall increase in multiple metabolic pathway of fibrosis. The marked increase in expression of TIMP 1 reaffirms the ability of hypoxia to induce and sustain fibrotic pathways via multiple regulatory control mechanisms. Our data demonstrating the involvement of two opposing mechanisms, matrix synthesis, and proteolytic inhibition are consistent with those of a previous study focusing on human renal fibroblasts cultured in low oxygen tensions [30].

The data presented in this study provides strong evidence for the mechanistic detail as follows; Exposure of the bladder smooth muscle cells to hypoxia led to an upregulation of HIF. Increases in HIF transcription triggered the observed increase in Smad 2 and Smad 3 transcription presumably via the formation of a HIF-SMAD complex as has been previously established [31]. Subsequent increases in Smad proteins provided greater amounts of substrate for TGF β 1-mediated phosphorylation. This activation of Smad2/3 promoted the formation of the trimeric protein complex responsible for CTGF expression which, in turn, stimulated the increase in secreted matrix components (collagen I-IV, fibronectin, and aggrecan). In reference to pBOO, these events are fundamental to the pathological development of fibrosis and inhibition of the TGF β -SMAD pathway in pBOO results in a significant reduction in fibrosis [28].

3.5 Conclusion

This study has provided overwhelming evidence that hypoxia exposure, as a single isolated stress without the confounding effects of stretching and hydrodynamic pressures, can induce fibrotic phenotype in smooth muscle cells mechanistically via inflammation, smooth muscle dedifferentiation, and a pro-fibrotic switch in normal human bladder smooth muscle cells characterized by increased ECM production. This work gives foundational understanding of hypoxia-driven bladder deterioration which we hope will eventually translate into improved clinical outcomes.

Chapter 4

Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit hypoxia-induced inflammatory and fibrotic pathways in bladder smooth muscle cells

Bridget Wiafe, Adetola B. Adesida, Thomas Churchill, Peter Metcalfe

This chapter has been published in part as:

Wiafe B, Adesida A, Churchill T, Metcalfe P. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit hypoxia-induced inflammatory and fibrotic pathways in bladder smooth muscle cells. World Journal of Urology. 2018 Jul;36(7):1157-1165. doi: 10.1007/s00345-018-2247-1

4.1 Introduction

Hypoxia is known to play a significant role in the pathophysiology of several conditions including Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction (pBOO), renal, cardiovascular and respiratory diseases [1]. pBOO represents a condition whereby increased resistance to urine outflow results in increased muscular contractility, hypertrophy and a decreased mucosal perfusion. Some characteristic features include increased urine storage pressure, high hydrodynamic pressure and exaggerated resistance inducing significant damage to bladder tissues [2]. Ultimately, it may lead to a fibrotic bladder state where the normal trilaminar smooth muscle architecture is replaced by a non-compliant, disorganized collagenous state.

Characterization of pBOO in animal models has shown that, there is an initial inflammatory phase that sets the stage for the subsequent hypertrophic and fibrotic events [3]. Irreversible morphological, biochemical and functional alterations of the bladder due to pBOO have also been reported. These transformations are believed to be caused by a combination of factors that includes mechanical stretch, hydrodynamic pressure, inflammation and hypoxia. With the exception of hypoxia, the roles of all of these factors as single stressors have been investigated [4, 5]. However, although, several studies have identified hypoxia in obstructed bladder tissues [3, 6-8], the effects of hypoxia as a single stressor was yet to be examined in isolation. We have demonstrated that bladder smooth muscle cells (bSMCs) incubated under hypoxic conditions is sufficient to incite an inflammatory cascade, and a subsequent pro-fibrotic response. These included an increase of the hypoxia inducible factor alpha subunits (HIF α), VEGF, TGF β 1, IL-1B, IL-6, TNF α , a decrease of IL-10 transcripts, as well as increased total collagen production [9].

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are multipotent adult cells that have multilineage differentiation and immunomodulatory capacities [10]. This has resulted in extensive study and their use in tissue repair and regeneration across various inflammatory and fibrotic conditions. We were able to demonstrate the short term effectiveness of MSCs in ameliorating inflammatory factors in an animal model of pBOO [11]. Other studies using animal models of pBOO have reported the effectiveness of MSCs in improving urodynamic and molecular parameters [12, 13].

With regards to stem cell therapy, many mechanisms of action have been proposed; that include cell-to-cell contact, paracrine communication, and cell type specific differentiation [14]. Despite the huge potential of cell therapy in the treatment of pBOO, its exact mechanism is not clearly understood. We hypothesized that the co-culture of bSMCs with MSCs in a reduced oxygen tension will mitigate the inflammatory and pro-fibrotic cascade. Furthermore, to elucidate the mechanisms of action; both direct and indirect co-culture techniques were used.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Bladder Smooth Muscle Cells

Human bSMCs purchased from ScienCell Research Laboratories (Carlsbad, CA) were cultured in smooth muscle growth medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 1X smooth muscle growth factors, 1X 1000 U/ml penicillin and 1000 mg/ml streptomycin from ScienCell Research Laboratories (CA). The phenotype of the cells was confirmed by culture characteristics coupled with the expression of bladder smooth muscle markers; high molecular weight caldesmon, desmin, α smooth muscle actin (α SMA) as well as the absence of light molecule weight caldesmon as previously established [9, 15, 16] (figure 4.1).





Figure 4.1 Culture micrographs and characterization of cells. A. Normal human bladder smooth muscle cell culture at passage 4 showing the typical spindle-shaped elongated cells. The formation of cellular masses of parallel arranged cells became noticeable after day 3 of culture. Note also the characteristic "hill" and "valley" growth pattern. B. Isolated human bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cell culture at passage 2, showing plastic-adherent spindle-shaped fibroblast- like cells. Micrographs were taken with an inverted microscope using ×20 objective lens. C. Bladder smooth muscle cell characterization data showing the expression of heavy molecular weight caldesmon (Cad H), α SMA and desmin. The smooth muscle cells lacked the expression of light molecular weight caldesmon (Cad L).

4.2.2 Human Bone Marrow Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells

MSCs were isolated from Bone marrow aspirates of surgically discarded material obtained from the iliac crest of 6 donors. These were obtained by approval and a waiver of informed consent of the ethics committee of the University of Alberta (Edmonton, Canada). MSCs were isolated and expanded as previously reported [17]. Briefly, bone marrow mononuclear cells (BMMCs) were isolated from the aspirates using Histopaque-1077 (Sigma-Aldrich Canada Co, Ontario, Canada). Then, 15 million BMMCs were cultured in 150 cm² tissue culture flask. Culture medium was alpha-minimal essential medium (α -MEM) supplemented with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS), 88.5 units/mL penicillin- streptomycin, 0.26 g/mL L-glutamine, 8.8 mM 4-(2hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES), 885 x 10–6 mol/L sodium pyruvate (Life Technologies, Burlington, Canada), and 5 ng/mL fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2) (Neuromics, Edina, MN). After 7 days, culture medium on the adherent nucleated cells was changed and the culture was expanded to passage 2. The mesenchymal stem cell phenotype of the cells was confirmed by the positive expression of markers: CD151, CD105, CD90, CD73, CD44 and the absence of CD34 and CD14 using flow cytometry [17] (figure 4.1).

4.2.3 Direct and Indirect Co-culture Procedures

To examine the effects of MSCs co-culture on hypoxia-induced inflammatory and fibrotic pathways, 6- well plates were seeded with 6×10^5 human bladder Smooth Muscle Cells (SMCs) with either the direct or indirect addition of 3×10^5 MSCs. Indirect co-cultures were set up in a transwell system in which the SMCs and MSCs were physically separated by a high pore density (0.4um) transwell inserts (Becton Dickinson, New Jersey, USA). This limited interaction between the two cell types to the diffusion of soluble factors across the membranes. Cells were

incubated in hypoxia defined as $3\% O_2$ tension, $5\% CO_2$, and $92\% N_2$ at $37^{\circ}C$ for 72 hours. Normoxia control conditions were also defined as $21\% O_2$, $5\% CO_2$, and $74\% N_2$ at $37^{\circ}C$ for 72 hours.

4.2.4 Reverse Transcription Real Time-PCR

At the end of the specified incubation period, cells were transferred on ice before the subsequent procedures. Culture medium was immediately harvested and stored at -80°C and total RNA was extracted using RNeasy Mini kit (Qiagen, CA, USA). The Quantitect Reverse Transcription kit (Qiagen, CA, USA) was used for first strand complementary DNA (cDNA) production. Quantitative real time PCR was carried out in a Biorad CFX96 Real time system (Kallang, Singapore) using Kapa Sybr Fast qPCR Kit (Kapa Biosystems, Boston, USA), cDNA samples, and oligo-dt primers specific for target genes published in table 4.

Forty cycles of denaturing at 95°C (2 sec) and annealing/extension at 60°C (30 sec) followed initial 3 min enzyme activation at 95°C. Gene expression of the experimental groups relative to the normoxia incubated SMCs controls were normalized using 2 endogenous controls; beta actin and 18S.

Target Gene	Forward Primer Sequence (5'-3')	Reverse Primer Sequence (5'-3')
HIF 1α	TTC ACC TGA GCC TAA TAGTCC	CAA GTC TAA ATC TGT GTCCTG
HIF 3α	TTC TCC TTG CGC ATGAAGAGTACG	TCT GCG CAG GTG GCT TGTAGG
VEGF	CTA CCT CCA CCA TGC CAAGT	GCA GTA GCT GCG CTG ATAGA
TGFβ	TGGAAGTGGATCCACGCGCCCAAGG	GCAGGAGCGCACGATCATGTTGGAC
αSMA	CCG ACC GAA TGC AGA AGGA	ACAGAGTATTTGCGCTCCGAA
ΤΝFα	CTT CTC CTT CCT GAT CGTGG	GCT GGT TAT CTC TCA GCTCCA
Collagen 1	CAG CCG CTT CAC CTA CAGC	TTTTGTATTCAATCACTGTCT TGCC
Collagen 3	TGAAAGGACACAGAGGCTTCG	GCA CCA TTC TTA CCA GGCTC
185	CGG CTA CAT CCA AGG AA	GCT GGA ATT ACC GCG GCT
Interleukin 1β	ACA GAT GAA GTG CTC CTT CCA	GTC GGA GAT TCG TAG CTG GAT
Interleukin 6	TGGTCTTTTGGAGTTTGAGGTA	AGGTTTCTGACCAGAAGAAGGA
Interleukin 10	CCCTGGGTGAGAAGCTGAAG	CACTGCCTTGCTCTTATTTTCACA
B actin	AAGCCACCCCACTTCTCTCTAA	AATGCTATCACCTCCCCTGTGT

Table 4.1 List of human primer sequences used for the gene expression studies

4.2.5 Cytokine Measurement

The multiplex assays (U-PLEX) for biomarker group 1 (Meso Scale Diagnostics, Rockville, MD) enabled the concurrent measurement of protein levels of cytokines and growth factors in harvested culture media. Briefly, each specific biotinylated antibody of cytokines of interest were coupled to a linker, pooled and used to coat the high electrode multi-spot microplates. Samples were run alongside a serially diluted multi-calibrator standard. These standards consisted of a cocktail of cytokines and growth factor proteins of known concentrations. Following incubation in a composite of SULFO-TAG labeled detection antibodies, quantities of analytes in samples were determined on a Sector Imager 6000 Plate Reader (Meso Scale Diagnostics).

4.2.6 Sirius Red Collagen Detection Assay

Total soluble collagen secreted into culture media by cells was determined using the Sirius red technique. Manufacturer's instructions for the Sirius Red Collagen Detection kit (Chondrex, Inc, Redmond, WA) were followed. Briefly, collagen content in samples and in a serially diluted standards were precipitated by the addition of Sirius red solution, collected, purified and then resolubilized. Optical densities of the pure collagen samples were read at 520nm using a microplate reader.

4.2.7 Statistical Analysis

Graphpad prism 6.0 (Graphpad Prism INC, CA, USA) was used to analyze data. Results represent data from at least three independent experiments which are presented as mean ± SEM. One way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the Student's T test with Bonferroni adjustments were used to evaluate differences between groups. P value of <0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Pro- and Anti- inflammatory Cytokines

Co-culture of bSMCs with MSCs gave varying effects on cytokines expression; Hypoxic incubation of a monoculture of bSMCs increased TGF β 1 transcript levels by 4.6 fold (p<0.0001). However, transcript levels were reduced by more than 50% in both the direct and transwell co-cultures with MSCs (p<0.005 for both). Similarly, IL-6 transcripts increased by 6.1 fold in hypoxia-incubated bSMCs. Nonetheless, both direct and indirect co-culture with MSCs under hypoxia resulted in a substantial reduction to baseline normoxic control levels (p<0.05 for both). IL-6 protein in the hypoxia-incubated bSMCs monoculture was 24% higher than normoxic controls (p<0.005). Levels were significantly reduced by 27% and 24% in the direct and transwell co-cultures (p<0.005 for both) respectively (figure 4.2A).

Transcript levels of IL-10, the anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic cytokine was downregulated by 0.25 fold in the hypoxic bSMCs monoculture (p<0.05). Nonetheless, there was an increase of 2.3 and 3.25 fold in the direct (p<0.050) and indirect (p<0.005) co-cultures respectively. Likewise, the hypoxia incubation of bSMCs also resulted in a 69% reduction in IL-10 protein (p<0.005). Nevertheless, both the direct and transwell co-culture techniques resulted in an upregulation of 241% and 252% respectively above the hypoxia-incubated bSMCs levels (p<0.005 for both, figure 4.2B).











Figure 4.2 MSC co-culture significantly inhibited inflammatory response to hypoxia and increased anti-inflammatory cytokine production: A. both direct and indirect co-cultures were effective in inhibiting TGF β 1 and IL-6 expression under hypoxia. B. bladder smooth muscle cells (bSMCs) responded to hypoxia by a downregulation of IL-10. Both the direct and indirect MSCs co-culture induced a significant increase in the level of this cytokine. SMC [N]: bSMC monoculture controls incubated in normoxia (21% O2). SMC [H]: bSMC monoculture incubated in hypoxia. One-way ANOVA and the Student's t test with Bonferroni corrections were used to statistically evaluate the differences between the hypoxia-incubated SMC monoculture and the co-culture groups (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.005).

4.3.2 Differential expression TNF α and IL-1β MSCs co-cultures

Both TNF α and IL-1 β gave similar effects where transcript levels rose by 3.8 and 3.0 fold respectively in bSMCs monoculture exposed to 72 hours of hypoxia (p<0.005 for both). The direct co-culture with MSCs reduced transcript levels by approximately 50% (p<0.005) for both genes. Transcript levels of both cytokines remained elevated in the indirect co-cultures. TNF α protein levels were 61.6 ± 1.2 pg/ml in hypoxia-incubated bSMCs cultures whiles levels in normoxia-incubated controls was 37.5 ± 5.0 pg/ml (p<0.005). Level of this protein was reduced in the direct co-cultures to 30.6±3.8 pg/ml (p<0.005) but remained elevated in transwell cultures at 59.8 ±6.7 pg/ml compared to levels in hypoxic bSMCs. IL-1 β protein was 122.1±4.4pg/ml in normoxic bSMCs and increased to 152.7±2.24pg/ml in hypoxic bSMCs (p<0.05). A direct coculture with MSCs reduced protein levels to 93.10±5.02pg/ml (p<0.005) but levels increased in the transwell cultures to 212.2±22.56pg/ml (p<0.005, figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3 Pro-inflammatory cytokines that were only reduced by the direct co-culture technique and not the indirect: to determine if MSCs co-culture inhibits hypoxia-induced inflammatory cytokine expression, MSC- bSMC co-culture was compared with bSMCs monoculture similarly cultured under hypoxic conditions: hypoxia-induced TNF α and IL-1 β levels remained elevated in transwells, whereas levels were significantly mitigated in the direct MSC- bSMC co-cultures. Results represent data from at least three independent experiments which are presented as mean (± SEM).

4.3.3 Pro-fibrotic genes expression in MSCs co-culture

 α SMA transcripts increased by 5.2-fold when bSMCs were cultured under hypoxia (p < 0.005) and both the direct and indirect co-culture techniques reduced levels to 1.4- and 1.2-fold, respectively (p < 0.005 for both). Both collagen 1 and 3 mRNA showed a similar pattern of expression in cultures; there was a 9.9-fold increase in collagen 1 transcripts when bSMCs were incubated in hypoxia (p < 0.005) and both the direct and indirect co-culture techniques induced a 78 and 72% decrease in transcript levels, respectively (p < 0.005 for both). Collagen 3 transcripts which increased by 4.5-fold in the hypoxic bSMCs monoculture (p < 0.005) were reduced by 84% when co-cultured directly with MSCs. The indirect co-culture also induced a decrease of 74% in transcript levels (p < 0.005 for both). Total collagen protein secreted into media was 120.4 ± 4.89 pg/ml in the normoxic bSMCs control, but increased significantly to 269.6 ± 36.15 pg/ml when bSMCs were incubated under hypoxia (p < 0.005). However, levels of this protein were reduced to 116.2 ± 17.48 pg/ml in the direct co-culture and to 140.9 ± 27.8 pg/ml in the indirect co-culture (p < 005 for both, figure 4.4).

4.3.4 Hypoxic and Pro-angiogenic Response

culture of bSMCs in 3% hypoxia for 72 hours did not significantly increase HIF 1 α transcript but resulted in a 4.5 fold increase in the transcript levels of HIF 3 α (p<0.005). Notwithstanding, both HIF 1 and 3 α transcript levels remained unaltered by co-culturing with MSCs under hypoxic conditions. Similarly, VEGF transcripts increased significantly by 7.9 fold after 72 hours of hypoxic incubation of the bSMCs monoculture (p<0.005). Co-culturing with MSCs did not significantly affect the elevated levels of this transcript. VEGF protein increased by 35.7% when

bSMCs were incubated in hypoxia (p<0.005) and remained significantly unchanged when cocultured either directly or indirectly with MSCs under hypoxic conditions (figure 4.5).







Figure 4. 5 Unaltered HIF Expression and proangiogenic response by MSCs co-culture in hypoxia: co-culture with MSCs did not significantly affect the expression of HIF 1 α , 3 α , and VEGF. Bladder smooth muscle cells (bSMCs) were co-cultured with mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in a ratio of 2:1 under hypoxia (3% O₂ tension)

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Inflammatory Cytokine Inhibition by MSCs

The paracrine immunomodulatory property of stem cells has gained much attention in the last decade especially with regards to the treatment of inflammatory and fibrotic conditions like pBOO. Therefore, the current experiments were designed to investigate the underlying molecular mechanisms. Even though the transforming growth factor- β 1 (TGF β 1) is required for normal cellular growth and differentiation, it is also a known potent mediator of fibrosis. This cytokine is implicated in disease processes such as epithelial-mesenchymal transition, myofibroblast activation, epithelial cell apoptosis, and extracellular matrix production [18]. As a result, numerous studies have investigated strategies for inhibiting TGF^β expression, signaling pathways, and function in order to reduce fibrosis. Physiologically, elevated levels of TGF^β1 correlated with the stage of bladder obstruction in patients and in animal models of pBOO. As well, its inhibition led to a significant reduction in fibrosis [19-22]. In the current study, the efficient downregulation of TGFB1 expression by both co-culture techniques reflects the antifibrotic nature of MSCs when co-cultured directly or indirectly. A similar effect was seen with the downregulation of IL-6, a pro-inflammatory cytokine. Mechanistically, TGFβ1 has been proposed to have regulatory effects on IL-6 [23]. Thus, the reduced expression of TGFβ 1 in the co-cultures may be important for the inhibition of IL-6 expression.

IL-1 β and TNF α are pro-inflammatory cytokines that are expressed in common chronic pathologies such as rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, myocardial infarction and inflammatory lung diseases. The binding of these cytokines to their respective receptors set the stage for further inflammatory events leading to tissue damage [24]. As a therapeutic mechanism, MSCs are known to express IL-1 receptor agonist (1L8 1Ra), a cytokine which binds to the IL-1 receptor

thereby, competitively inhibiting IL-1 β [25]. Interestingly, in our study, both cytokines showed the same pattern of expression in culture where levels were only reduced in the direct co-cultures and not in the indirect method of culture. This strongly suggests that the MSCs-specific paracrine action alone was not sufficient to immune-modulate these two cytokines but the physical MSCs to bSMCs contact was also required. Thus, providing evidence to support the report that the paracrine-mediated immunosuppressive effects of stem cells are further enhanced if direct cell– cell contact between stem cells and other cells are allowed [26]. However, admittedly, our inability to analyze only the smooth muscle cell population of the direct co-culture could also account for the difference in cytokine expression between the direct and indirect co-cultures.

4.4.2 Anti-inflammatory Cytokine Upregulation in MSCs Co-culture

IL-10 is a potent anti-fibrotic and immunomodulatory cytokine secreted in response to elevated levels of inflammatory cytokines such as IL- β , TNF α and interferon (IFN) [22, 28]. In our study, the exposure of bSMCs to hypoxia substantially reduced IL-10 levels. However, its elevated levels in the MSCs co-cultures are an important part of this study. With the high levels of IL- β and TNF α in the transwell co-cultures, it was not surprising that we found higher IL-10 transcript levels in the transwell co-cultures than the direct co-culture system. This data supports the anti-inflammatory, anti-fibrotic and immunomodulatory nature of MSCs. Overall, our results is consistent with the study by Choi et al who reported that MSCs co-culture with macrophages inhibited lipopolysacharide-induced expression of IL-6 and IL-1 β and increased IL-4-induced macrophage expression of IL-10 [29]. Aggarwal et al also found increased IL-10 and decreased TNF α levels when MSCs were co-cultured with immune cells [30].

4.4.3 Pro-fibrotic Gene inhibition by MSCs Co-culture

Studies by our group and others have shown that collagen 1 and 3 are important collagen subtypes commonly upregulated in the obstructed and fibrotic bladder [3, 9, 21]. Essentially, the reduction in TGF β 1 expression coupled with the upregulation of IL-10 in both the direct and indirect co-culture systems may have accounted for the reduced collagen levels in the MSCs cocultures. Thus, despite the high levels of the inflammatory cytokines IL- β and TNF α in the indirect/transwell co-cultures, the potent anti-fibrotic effect of MSCs significantly inhibited hypoxia- induced total collagen levels. Therefore, from this outcome, we theorize that the therapeutic use of MSCs-conditioned media to treat hypoxic and fibrotic conditions may be equally effective as the physical injection of mesenchymal stem cells.

4.4.4 Hypoxia and Angiogenic Response Unaltered by MSCs co-culture

The hypoxia inducible transcriptional factor (HIF) is important in stimulating the transcription of cytoprotective genes under conditions of low oxygen tension [1]. All the three known members of the HIF family; HIF 1, 2, and 3 have been identified in bSMCs [9]. Our current finding is consistent with our previous studies that showed that the oxygen-sensitive alpha subunit, HIF 3α transcription increased in response to prolonged hypoxia (72 hours). However, HIF 1α response was immediate and transient increasing only after 2 hours of hypoxia. This study did not determine HIF 2α response because its activity appeared redundant in bSMCs from our previous findings. In the current study, it was interesting to observe that the HIF expression of the bSMCs was not significantly affected by co-culturing with mesenchymal stem cells under reduced oxygen tension. The unaltered VEGF expression, a proven hypoxia-response gene, provides evidence that HIF function is unaffected by the MSCs co-culture. Since the HIF cellular system

is protective, our data supports the fact that MSCs have the ability to inhibit hypoxia-induced signaling pathways in a HIF-independent fashion.

4.5 Conclusion

This data adds to our work whereby exposure of bladder smooth muscle cells to hypoxia incites a cascade of cellular responses of inflammation and increased extracellular matrix synthesis. However, MSCs have a profound ability to prevent this response by inhibiting pro-inflammatory and pro-fibrotic cytokine production and enhancing anti-fibrotic cytokine secretion. This work has unlocked mechanistic clues that may open avenues for therapeutic intervention. **Chapter 5**

Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy Inhibited Inflammatory and Pro-Fibrotic Pathways Induced by Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction and Prevented High Pressure Urine Storage

Bridget Wiafe, Adetola B. Adesida, Thomas Churchill, Peter Metcalfe

5.1 Introduction

Partial bladder outlet obstruction (pBOO) is a urological condition characterized by the increased resistance to urine flow. It affects about 1.1 billion people worldwide, most predominantly, men with benign prostatic hyperplasia. Also, detrusor damage secondary to pBOO affects children born with spina bifida and posterior urethral valves [1, 2] The elevated intravesical pressures result in stretch and hypoxia [3], which trigger a cascade of cellular and molecular responses that culminate in bladder tissue remodeling and fibrosis[2]. Current treatment modalities are associated with high risk of morbidity. Clean intermittent catheterization (CIC) is essential for

the management of urinary retention, however, this is burdensome, associated with urethral trauma, and increases the risk of urinary tract infections [4]. Oral anticholinergic medications are used to relax the detrusor and prevent involuntary bladder contractions, and thereby, decrease the intravesical pressure, but are poorly tolerated [5]. Patients with low capacity, high pressure, poorly compliant bladders may choose to undergo a bladder augmentation using intestinal tissue. However metabolic disturbances, recurrent UTI and long term graft survival are major concerns [6].

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are undifferentiated adult cells that are immunomodulatory, anti-fibrotic, have multipotent differentiation capacities, and have the ability to repair injured tissue. They represent a potential novel therapy for numerous tissue damage and fibrotic conditions [7]. We have previously demonstrated their incredible ability to inhibit inflammatory and pro-fibrotic response in a hypoxic cell culture model [8]. Also we previously demonstrated the ability of stem cells to mitigate acute inflammatory responses after pBOO in our animal model [9]. However, we now wish to demonstrate their efficacy over a longer term, with analysis across functional, inflammatory and pro-fibrotic pathways.

The TGFβ-SMAD and mTOR signaling pathways are essential mechanisms underlying obstruction-induced fibrosis. The inhibition of these signaling pathways by pharmacological agents led to a significant reduction of pBOO-induced fibrosis [10, 11]. TGFβ1 is a proinflammatory cytokine and major mediator of fibrosis in most organs. The canonical pathway involves the activation of smad2/3 by phosphorylation, their trimeric complexing with smad4 and the subsequent translocation of the complex into the nucleus to act as a transcription factor that augments the transcription of target genes. These events lead to increased myofibroblast differentiation and the secretion of concomitant amounts of collagen-rich extracellular matrix.
[12]. MTOR is a serine/threonine kinase that regulates essential biological processes such as cell growth, proliferation, cell cycle progression, survival, and protein and lipid synthesis. mTOR-regulated signaling leads to the activation of the p70 ribosomal S6 protein kinase (p70S6K) and the deactivation of the cellular repressor of translation called, eukaryotic initiation factor 4E binding protein (4EBP) [13]. The mTOR pathway has been used as a marker and fundamental pathway for stretch and smooth muscle hypertrophy [11].

Furthermore, we have previously demonstrated that hypoxic response, defined by HIF 1 α , HIF 3 α and VEGF is integral to detrusor deterioration [14]. Therefore we hypothesized that MSCs treatment in animal models of pBOO will inhibit the upregulation of these markers and demonstrate a physiologic, clinically relevant improvement after treatment.

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Animal and Study Design:

All protocols were reviewed and approved by the University of Alberta Ethics Committee for the Care and Use of Experimental Animals. 20 Healthy adult female Sprague Dawley rats (approximately 250g-300g) were randomly assigned into 5 groups as follows: a) obstructed for 2 weeks (pBOO-2weeks), b) obstructed for 4 weeks (pBOO-4weeks), c) obstructed with MSCs therapy for 2 weeks (pBOO+MSCs-2weeks), d) obstructed with MSCs therapy for 4 weeks (pBOO+MSCs-4weeks), and e) unobstructed controls (n=4 in each group). The animals were housed 2 per cage with free access to food and water.

5.2.2 Induction of pBOO:

Rats in the pBOO-groups underwent urethral ligation under isoflurane anesthesia to create partial bladder outlet obstruction as already described [9, 15]. Briefly, the bladder was exposed and an 18-guage angiocatheter was inserted into the urethra. Then, a 2-0 silk suture was tied around the urethra, and the catheter was removed. All operated rats were provided with cotrimoxazole-water and maintained on meloxicam (1mg/kg) and buprenorphine (0.02mg/kg) to manage pain.

5.2.3 Mesenchymal Stem Cells Treatment:

Immediately after pBOO, the therapy groups were given a tail vein injection of Sprague Dawley bone marrow-derived GFP-expressing MSCs obtained from Cyagen Biosciences Inc, (Sunnyvale, CA). The MSCs were cultured to expand in alpha-minimal essential medium (α -MEM) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum, L-glutamine (290µg/ml), 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES) (100mM), sodium pyruvate (1mM), penicillin–streptomycin (100U/ml) (Life Technologies, Burlington, Canada), and 5 ng/ml fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2) (Neuromics, Edina, MN, USA). MSCs between passages 2 and 8 were used for this experiment. One million stem cells in the log phase of growth per 0.5ml PBS was injected per animal. Dosing of MSCs was determined from already published studies [16-18].

At the experimental endpoint, urodynamics was performed and bladder tissue was harvested and part snap frozen for gene expression and protein studies. The other part was fixed in 4% Paraformaldehyde for immunohistochemistry studies.

5.2.4 Urodynamic Studies:

While under mild isoflurane anesthesia, cystometry was performed in rats by firstly exposing the bladder through an abdominal incision. The bladder was emptied and a 27 Gauge needle connected to a pressure transducer (Micro-Med Inc, Louisville, Kentucky) was advanced through the bladder. This infused saline at a constant rate of 100µl/minute. End filling pressure was recorded as the pressure at which urethra leakage was first visualized.

5.2.5 Gene Expression Studies:

Quantitative real-time PCR was used to study gene expression patterns. Bladder tissue was crushed on ice using a mortar and pestle and total RNA was extracted using the RNeasy Mini kit (Qiagen, Valencia CA). Sample volumes corresponding to 0.5 microgram were reverse transcribed into cDNA using Quantitect Reverse Transcription kit (Qiagen). Real time PCR reaction was set up according to the instructions of the Kapa Sybr Fast qPCR Kit (Kapa Biosystems, Boston, MA) and ran in a Biorad CFX96 Real time system (Kallang, Singapore). PCR conditions were an enzyme activation at 95^oC (3mins) and 40 cycles of denaturing at 95^oC (2sec) and annealing-extension at 60^oC (30sec). The sequence of primer sets for genes of interest are published in table 5. Relative gene expression were normalized to 2 endogenous controls (β -Actin and GAPDH) and expressed as $2^{-\Delta\Delta ct}$.

Target gene (NCBI	Forward primer sequence (5'-3')	Reverse primer Sequence (5'-3')
Reference)		
collagen type I alpha 1	GGAGAGTACTGGATCGACCCTAAC	CTGACCTGTCTCCATGTTGCA
chain (Col1a1)		
(<u>NM_053304.1</u>)		
collagen type III alpha 1	GAAAAAACCCTGCTCGGAATT	GGATCAACCCAGTATTCTCCACTCT
chain (Col3a1)		
(<u>NM_032085.1</u>)		
mTOR <u>(NM_019906.1</u>)	TTGAGGTTGCTATGACCAGAGAGAA	TTACCAGAAAGGACACCAGCCAATG
p70 S6K	GGAGCCTGGGAGCCCTGATGTA	GAAGCCCTCTTTGATGCTGTCC
(<u>NM_001010962.2</u>)		
Smad2/3	AGTGTTTGCCGAGTGCCTAAGTG	CCTCAAAACCCTGGTTAACAGACTG
(<u>XM_008766216.2</u>)		
IL-10 (<u>NM_012854.2</u>)	GTTGCCAAGCCTTGTCAGAAA	TTTCTGGGCCATGGTTCTCT
HIF 1α (<u>NM_024359.1</u>)	AAGAAACCGCCTATGACGTG	CCACCTCTTTTTGCAAGCAT
HIF 3α (<u>NM_022528.2</u>)	AGAGAACGGAGTGGTGCTGT	ATCAGCCGGAAGAGGACTTT
TGFβ1 (<u>NM_021578.2</u>)	AAGAAGTCACCCGCGTGCTA	TGTGTGATGTCTTTGGTTTTGTCA
VEGFA (<u>NM_031836.3</u>)	GCACATAGGAGAGATGAGCTTCC	CGCCTTGGCTTGTCACATTT
TNFα (<u>XM_008772775.2</u>)	TCTCAAAACTCGAGTGACAAGC	GGTTGTCTTTGAGATCCATGC
B-Actin (NM_031144.3)	CTAAGGCCAACCGTGAAAAG	TACATGGCTGGGGTGTTGA
GAPDH (XM_017593963)	AGTTCAACGGCACAGTCAAG	TACTCAGCACCAGCATCACC

5.2.6 Mesenchymal Stem Cells Tracking:

To perform MSCs tracking and the immunohistochemistry procedures, formalin-fixed bladder tissue were embedded in paraffin blocks and sectioned into 5µm thickness. Then, the sections were deparaffinised in 3 changes of xylene and brought down to water by passing them through decreasing concentrations of alcohol and water.

The presence of the intravenously injected MSCs in the bladder was detected by incubating the bladder sections in 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (Cedarlane, Ontario, Canada) for 10 minutes. Then mounting was carried out with a 1:1 dilution of glycerol and PBS. The

immuno-fluorescence of GFP cells was visualized by an Eclipse Ti-S microscope (Nikon Canada, Mississauga, Canada).

5.2.7 Immunohistochemistry and Histology:

The expression levels and localization of phosphorylated smads 2/3, HIF 1 α and HIF 3 α were detected by blocking the deparaffinised tissue sections in 5% bovine serum albumin. Overnight incubation in 1:50 dilution of antibodies psmad2/3 (orb99294, biorbyte, San Francisco, California) HIF 1 α (ab216842, Abcam, Toronto) and HIF 3 α (, PCRP-HIF3A-1B1, IOWA DSHB, Iowa City, IA) was carried out. Following incubation in Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody, immunoreaction was visualized by incubation in a 3, 3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB).

The degree of total collagen deposition in bladder tissue was assessed using Gomori's trichrome staining. Deparaffinised bladder tissue was incubated in Celestin blue solution for 5 minutes followed by incubation in Mayer's haematoxylin for 5 minutes. Slides were then washed under running water for 5 minutes and incubated in Gomori's stain for 15 minutes. Differentiation in 0.5% acetic acid was done for 2 minutes and washed sections were then dehydrated, cleared in xylene and mounted. Microscopic images were captured and 5 randomly selected images per tissue were quantified using imageJ.

5.2.8 Statistical Analysis:

Results are presented as mean (±SEM) of three or more independent experiments run as triplicates. Graphpad prism 6.0 (Graphpad Prism INC, CA, USA) was used to analyze data.

Two-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by post hoc Bonferroni tests were used to evaluate differences between groups. A p value of < 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Recruitment of intravenously injected MSCs into the bladder:

GFP-expressing cells were identified throughout the bladder tissue 2 and 4 weeks after therapy. In contrast, no GFP cells were identified in the untreated controls (figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1 the presence of GFP-expressing MSCs in the bladder. Tail vein injected GFPexpressing MSCs (shown by white arrows) were identified in the bladder tissue of rats 2 and 4 weeks after therapy. Scale bar represents $20 \ \mu m$

5.3.2 Hypoxic Response:

The surgical induction of pBOO resulted in a significant increase in HIF 1- and 3- α transcript levels. HIF 1 α expression increased from 1.63 (±0.23) to 4.13 (±0.20) and 8.9 (±0.40) after 2 and 4 weeks of pBOO (p<0.0001) respectively. Four weeks after pBOO + MSCs therapy, HIF 1 α transcript reduced to normal control levels (p<0.0001). HIF 3 α transcript levels increased from 0.6 (±0.23) to 5.30 (±1.19) and 8.5 (±1.10) after 2 and 4 weeks of pBOO (p=0.007, p=0.0002) respectively. However, pBOO + MSCs therapy led to a significant downregulation of transcripts to unobstructed control levels (p<0.01).

Immunohistochemistry revealed that HIF 1 and 3α proteins were localized to the lamina propria and detrusor. Two weeks of pBOO resulted in significant increase of HIF 1 α in the lamina propria with increase in the smooth muscle levels after 4 weeks of pBOO. Obstruction induced increased levels of HIF 3α in both the lamina propria and detrusor. However, MSCs therapy significantly reduced HIF 1 and 3α levels.

VEGF transcript levels increased from 2.0 (\pm 0.70) to 5.03 (\pm 0.49) and 7.90 (\pm 0.56) after 2 and 4 weeks of PBOO respectively (p=0.003). Yet, there was a significant upregulation of VEGF transcripts by 9.5 folds 2 weeks after therapy and a downregulation to control levels 4 weeks after pBOO + MSCs therapy (p=0.0008).



Figure 5.2 pBOO-induced HIF was downregulated by MSCs. PBOO was associated with increasing transcript levels of HIF 1 α , HIF 3 α and VEGF. MSCs therapy (pBOO+MSCs) led to an increase of VEGF transcripts 2 weeks later and a downregulation of HIF 1 α , HIF 3 α , and VEGF transcripts 4 weeks later. All gene expression data has been normalized to endogenous controls, β -actin and GAPDH and expressed as $2-\Delta\Delta$ ct. **p<005, ***p<0.0005 comparisons between pBOO and PBOO + MSCs for a time point. ## p<0.005 compared to unobstructed controls.

HIF 1 a Protein



Figure 5.3 immuno-localization of HIF 1 α in bladder after pBOO and treatment. HIF 1 α levels increased significantly in the lamina propria after 2 weeks of pBOO and in the detrusor (indicated by yellow arrows) after 4 weeks of pBOO. Levels of HIF 1 α are significantly reduced in the MSCs treated animals. Representative micrographs were captured at 100x magnification and scale bar represent 100 μ m

HIF 3 a Protein



Figure 5.4 HIF 3α was upregulated after pBOO but was downregulated after MSCs therapy. HIF 3α is identified as brown staining in the lamina propria and detrusor (identified by black arrows). Images shown were captured at 100x magnification.

5.3.3 Pro- and Anti-inflammatory response

TNF α transcript levels rose from 2.50 (±0.33) in unobstructed controls to 8.03 (±0.60) and 10.23 (±0.79) after 2 and 4 weeks of obstruction respectively (p<0.01). Notwithstanding, 2 and 4 weeks after pBOO + the single injection of MSCs, there was a significant downregulation to control levels (p<0.0001 for all). pBOO resulted in a significant decline in interleukin 10 expression in a time dependant manner (p=0.03). However, IL-10 expression in the pBOO + MSCs therapy

groups was significantly higher than the pBOO controls (p<0.05). IL-10 expression in the 2week pBOO + MSCs therapy group was not significantly different from the unobstructed control levels (p=0.222). Yet, the 4- week pBOO + MSCs therapy group showed a significantly lower transcript levels compared to the normal controls (p=0.035).



Figure 5.4 MSCs therapy inhibited pro-inflammatory cytokine and increased antiinflammatory cytokine. TNF: IL-10 ratio increased in response to pBOO and this trend was reversed by MSCs therapy. * P<0.05, *** p<0.0005 represent comparisons between untreated pBOO and MSCs-treated pBOO groups. # P<0.05 compared to unobstructed controls

5.3.4 Pro-fibrotic and hypertrophy response:

Increase in TGF β 1 expression was directly related to the duration of bladder obstruction: Unobstructed control transcript level which was 1.37 (±0.23), increased to 5.50 (±0.42) and 10.73 (\pm 1.19) after 2 and 4 weeks of obstruction respectively (p<001). Nonetheless, transcript reverted to normal control levels 4 weeks after MSCs therapy. Similarly, Smad 2/3 transcript levels rose from 1.87 (\pm 0.35) to 6.43 (\pm 0.55) and 8.53 (\pm 1.00) after 2 and 4 weeks of pBOO (p<0.001). MSCs therapy led to a significant downregulation of transcript levels to 3.5 (\pm 0.55) and 2.67 (\pm 0.52) after 2 and 4 weeks of therapy respectively (p<0.05). In the same manner, immunohistochemistry showed increased phosphorylated smad 2/3 protein levels that was directly related to the duration of bladder obstruction. Phosphorylated smad 2/3 protein was localized to the urothelium and the detrusor muscle. Interestingly, bladder obstruction induced a significant increase in mainly the urothelial levels of psmad2/3. However, MSCs treatment led to a significant decrease in psmad2/3 levels (figure 5.5).

The mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) transcript levels which was 1.47 (± 0.24) in normal controls was 11.07 (± 1.49) and 16.93 (± 1.16) after 2 and 4 weeks of pBOO (p<0.0001). Four weeks after MSCs therapy, mTOR transcript levels were significantly reduced to 4.63 (± 0.62) (p<0.001). Similarly, p70 S6K transcript levels rose from 3.43 (± 0.18) to 8.03 (± 2.19) and 12.13 (± 0.70) (p=0.006) in the 2- and 4- weeks obstructed groups respectively. Transcript levels were significantly reduced to 3.90 (± 0.35) 4 weeks after MSCs therapy (p=0.0019).

Collagen 1 transcript levels also increased in direct relation to the duration of pBOO. In contrast, Collagen 3 transcript levels peaked after 2 weeks of obstruction. Collagen 1 expression which was 1.9 (± 0.85) increased to 6.5 (± 0.95) and 8.57 (± 0.52) after 2 and 4 weeks of pBOO. Transcript levels were comparable to normal control levels in obstructed rats 4 weeks after MSCs therapy (p=0.97). Collagen 3 expression which was 0.73 (± 0.17) increased to 10.30

 (± 1.26) and 6.90 (± 0.60) in 2 and 4 weeks of PBOO. However, MSCs therapy resulted in a significant reduction of collagen 3 transcript to normal control levels after 4 weeks (p=0.004).



psmad 2/3 protein



Figure 5.5 increased TGFβ1 expression and activity in pBOO was inhibited by MSCs. A. TGFβ1 and smad 2/3 transcripts were upregulated after pBOO but inhibited by MSCs therapy. B. phosphorylated smad 2/3 protein levels increased according to the duration of pBOO and decreased significantly after MSCs therapy. Note the increased urothelial levels of psmad2/3 in the 2 and 4 week obstructed animals. Scale bar is 100µm



Figure 5.6. **Pro-fibrotic genes upregulated by pBOO were inhibited by MSCs therapy**. MTOR, p70 S6K, COL 1 and 3 transcript levels were significantly upregulated in the pBOO group but these were significantly reduced 4 weeks after pBOO plus MSCs therapy. Total RNA from 4 animals per group were reversed transcribed and used for gene expression analysis. ***P<0.0005, **p<0.005 represent comparisons between untreated pBOO and MSCs-treated pBOO groups. ## p<0.005 compared to unobstructed controls.

5.3.4 Histology:

pBOO was associated with detrusor muscle hypertrophy which was seen as increased muscular mass. Trichrome staining revealed an increased collagen deposition in the lamina propria, and interfascicular spaces of the smooth muscle layer of the pBOO groups. Furthermore, the 4-week obstructed animals had the highest collagen deposition and a distorted histology of the smooth muscle layer due to intrafascicular collagen infiltration. In agreement with the gene expression data, the connective tissue infiltration of detrusor smooth muscle bundles was inhibited by the single injection of MSCs. The amount of collagen in the bladder wall of the 4-week pBOO + therapy group was significantly lower and they had normal bladder histology.

Trichrome Stain (Fibrosis)



Figure 5.7. Surgical induction of bladder outlet obstruction led to a significant deposition of total collagen and was prevented by MSCs therapy. A. Gomori's trichrome staining results show high infiltration of the lamina propria and detrusor muscle bundles with collagen (green stain) in pBOO groups. Smooth muscle fibres stained red. Representative images from controls and treatment groups have been shown. Images were captured with 100X magnification and scale bars represents 100µm. Note the distortion of the detrusor smooth muscle histology of the 4 week pBOO group due to concomitant collagen deposition. The treatment groups show normal bladder tissue histology and normal collagen levels. B. quantification of the collagen stained areas in the bladder tissue per area of smooth muscle staining. Image J was used to measure the

collagen density of 5 randomly selected images of each bladder tissue. The value was divided by the corresponding smooth muscle density of each sample.

5.3.5 Urodynamics:

End filling bladder volumes increased significantly after pBOO and MSCs therapy did not alter the increased bladder capacities. Remarkably, the induction of pBOO was associated with high pressure urine storage. End filling detrusor pressure was $5.17 (\pm 0.12)$ cm H₂O in normal controls but an increased pressure of $10.63 (\pm 0.23)$ cm H₂O (p=0.006) and $12.00 (\pm 1.86)$ cm H₂O (p=0.002) were recorded at the time urethral leakage was visualized in the 2- and 4- week obstructed rats respectively. Mesenchymal stem cell therapy on the other hand resulted in a significant reduction in urine storage pressures to $6.15 (\pm 0.64)$ cm H₂O (p=0.01) and 3.53(± 0.78) cm H₂O (p<0.0001) respectively.





5.4 Discussion

pBOO is a serious urological condition that exposes the bladder to high pressure urine storage which poses a high risk of renal damage. Molecular studies have delineated the detrimental effects of increased inflammation, mechanical stretch, hydrodynamic pressure and hypoxia which are believed to be the causative factors in the pathophysiology of pBOO. Common among these findings were increased collagen synthesis and extracellular matrix remodeling [19-21]. In humans and whole animal models of pBOO, the resultant infiltration of bladder smooth muscle fibers with connective tissue is destructive to the bladder's contractile component. Current therapies have failed to effectively target the phases of inflammation and fibrosis in pBOO. However, mesenchymal stem cell therapy has shown promising experimental outcomes in the management of a myriad of inflammatory-fibrotic conditions including pBOO. Nonetheless, the mechanisms of action of this therapy are not well understood. We recently showed that both a direct and indirect co-culture of bladder smooth muscle cells with mesenchymal stem cells attenuates hypoxia-induced inflammatory and fibrotic pathways [22].

Findings from this study reaffirms that pBOO is associated with several molecular changes which are progressive with time. We recorded an early rise in end filling detrusor pressure and this was associated with substantial gene expression changes after 2 weeks of bladder obstruction. The upregulation of pro-inflammatory markers including HIF 1 α , HIF 3 α , TGF β 1, and TNF α was further exacerbated by the marked decline in IL-10 levels. IL-10 is a well-studied anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic cytokine that is known to inhibit inflammatory markers such as TNF α and IL-6. From the current study, the inverse relationship between the duration of pBOO and IL-10 expression is novel. Previous studies have shown that hypoxia is one of the factors that can downregulate IL-10 levels [14, 22]. Therefore, one likely explanation for the

reduced IL-10 expression in the pBOO groups may be the presence of pBOO-induced hypoxia. Moreover, a number of studies found lower serum levels of IL-10 in patients with type 2 diabetes compared to normal controls and in subjects with unstable angina compared to those with stable angina [23-25]. Some studies have also found a correlation between coronary disease, leptospirosis, or malaria severity, and IL-10 to TNF α ratio. A low ratio was associated with disease progression or severity [26-28]. In the current study, since IL-10 levels declined over time as TNF α levels increased, the IL-10 to TNF α ratio seemed to correlate with pBOO progression.

With the profound systematic improvements seen with MSCs treatment in this study, it becomes apparent that the single injection of MSCs has both short and long-term benefits. The identification of GFP-MSCs in bladder tissue 2 and 4 weeks after therapy confirms the ability of stem cells to migrate to the tissue of injury. Even though we could not show their relative expression in non-target organs, the therapeutic effects we found were paramount. Noticeably, the immunomodulatory effects of the MSCs therapy were detected early, with a significant downregulation of TNF α , and upregulation of IL-10 and VEGF within 2 weeks after MSCs therapy. This is in contrast to the modulation of pro-fibrotic genes that occurred rather later (4 weeks after therapy).

We believe that the initial immunomodulatory responses are mediated by the paracrine mechanisms of the MSCs whereas the pro-fibrotic changes occur once the injected MSCs engraft and repopulate the bladder. With regards to paracrine immuno-regulation, MSCs are known to secrete factors such as IL-10 and VEGF which inhibits pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF α and stimulate angiogenesis and tissue injury repair [29, 30]. In the current study, changes in gene expression of VEGF correlated with the expression of HIF 1 and 3 α . However, we believe that

the initial rise in VEGF after 2 weeks of therapy which did not correspond to rises in HIF 1 and 3 α , may have been induced by the MSCs therapy in order to stimulate angiogenic growth and healing of the bladder. Eventually, both IL-10 and VEGF expressions were significantly reduced 4 weeks after therapy. This outcome may imply that the immunomodulatory effects of MSCs is potent, but may either be short-lived or cools off once long term pro-fibrotic pathway modulation is initiated. From immunohistochemistry, the HIF 1 and 3 α immuno-localization to the lamina propria and detrusor correlates with the pattern of pBOO-induced collagen deposition. This observation supports the causative relationship between hypoxia and fibrosis. Even though HIF 1 α has been a good marker for hypoxia, from our results, HIF 3 α may be an emulous marker too.

MTOR is a principal pathway mainly implicated in cancers and allograft rejections of organ transplants. As a result, rapamycin, a potent mTOR inhibitor is used as a primary immunosuppressant in solid organ transplantation. Also, several ongoing research are targeting the mTOR pathway for the design of inhibitors as potential therapeutic agents. However, so far there have been only moderate successes with the use of such drug candidates due to the challenges of drug resistance and bioavailability [31]. Given the fibrogenic potency of TGFβ, research has also focused on the discovery of respective inhibitors for the prevention of fibrosis. However, not much success has been achieved so far [32]. Therefore, from this study, the demonstrated ability of stem cell therapy to target these principal pathways is remarkable. Since the biological activity of TGFβ1 is executed by phosphorylating its downstream mediators Smad2 and Smad3, thus, phosphorylated smad2/3 is an important indicator of enhanced TGFβ1 activity. In this study, pBOO-induced increase of Psmad2/3 was exclusively observed in the urothelial layer. This observation may indicate that the urothelium is a constant target for pBOO-induced urodynamic pressure and stretch. Thus, it not surprising that the inhibition of this pro-

fibrotic pathway by MSCs therapy was associated with improved functional outcomes. Therefore, this work has unraveled mechanistic cues underlying the anti-fibrotic effects derived from stem cells.

From this study, we have demonstrated that the significant benefits of MSCs therapy can be divided into 2 main phases: early anti-inflammatory stage and a secondary anti-fibrotic mechanism. Ultimately, both phases were associated with significant reduction in total collagen deposition and in end filling pressure. Most importantly, this effect was seen with a normalization of bladder histology and the prevention of high pressure urine storage, bladder decompensation, smooth muscle hypertrophy and fibrosis induced by pBOO.

5.5 Conclusion

Partial bladder outlet obstruction results in significant upregulation of inflammatory and profibrotic genes and subsequent bladder decompensation. However, the intravenous injection of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells prevents these changes and preserves the normal function of the bladder. This work has elucidated the ability of MSCs to target inflammatory and pro-fibrotic pathways to prevent bladder deterioration due to pBOO. It lays an important foundation for the prevention and potential treatment of end stage fibrotic bladder with mesenchymal stem cells.

Chapter 6

General Discussion, Conclusions and Future Recommendations

Bridget Wiafe

6.1 General Discussions

For many years our understanding of the pBOO pathology centred around the causative factors: mechanical stretch, hydrodynamic pressure, and inflammation. Notwithstanding, previous research had identified hypoxia in obstructed bladder tissue. However, its ramification was not yet understood. At the cellular level, the ability of MSCs to inhibit hypoxia-induced inflammatory and fibrotic pathways was also not known. These created a big gap in our understanding of the pBOO pathology and consequently limited possibilities of therapeutic interventions. Thus, the characterization of the isolated effects of hypoxia on the bladder is an essential contribution to this field.

The study recorded in chapter 3 of this thesis clearly illustrated that exposure of bladder smooth muscle cells to hypoxia induced an intense hypoxic, pro-inflammatory and fibrotic gene expression that closely resembled the pBOO pathology. This work was exhaustive, exploring multiple fibrotic pathways induced by hypoxia. Notably, the hypoxia signaling pathways disrupted the equilibrium between extracellular matrix anabolism and catabolism. Consequently, ECM production increased with a decreased rate of breakdown leading to a net increase of collagen and other ECM components. Thus, these results reaffirm that hypoxia plays a key role in bladder tissue pathology.

While the different organs of the body are exposed to different oxygen tensions for physiological reasons, the level of hypoxia cells are exposed to, determine to a large extent their level of adaptive response. In order to create an in vitro model that closely replicates the pBOO, we chose to expose bladder cells to hypoxia (i.e. 3% O₂). This is because from literature, the best estimate of the oxygen tension in the normal bladder is about 80mmHg which corresponds to about 10% oxygen tension [1]. A previous study found that 2 weeks of obstruction resulted in 70% reduction in blood flow [2]. Therefore, we believe that an oxygen tension of 3% is physiologically relevant to the pBOO condition. Thus we are confident that the findings of the in vitro study illustrate the isolated effects of hypoxia-induced bladder damage that can be attributable to pBOO. The ability of hypoxia to initiate and sustain pro-fibrosis in bladder cells may explain why pBOO results in progressive bladder damage.

Hypoxia plays a central role in the pathophysiology of many conditions and in cancer, decades of research has focussed on the discovery of molecular targets for HIF synthesis, stabilization, dimerization as well as signaling. However, despite advancements in highthroughput screening and computational molecular modeling technology, no direct HIF inhibitor candidate has been approved for cancer therapy. Most clinical trials were halted for lack of safety and/or efficacy [3]. In animal models of pBOO, the inhibition of HIFα using 17-DMAG, prevented bladder fibrosis over a short term. 17-DMAG is a soluble analogue of geldanamycin and it targets HSP70 which is responsible for HIFα folding and stabilization [4].

Essentially, a deeper understanding of the differential expression and regulation of the HIF α subtypes is very important. This is because most HIF inhibitors target only HIF 1 α . The challenge here is that findings from some studies have revealed that inhibiting one HIF α subtype may stimulate the other subtypes in compensatory mechanisms leading to a poorer disease prognosis and drug resistance [5, 6]. This therefore underscores the importance of our work in characterizing the expressivity of all HIF α subtypes in the bladder. From this study, the involvement of HIF 3 α in the bladder was identified for the first time. Its intense expression in prolong hypoxia was conspicuous when the HIF 1 and 2 α levels had subsided after an initial increase. This finding appear to be supportive of an inhibitory or compensatory relationship between the HIF 3 α and HIF 1 and 2 α subtypes. Importantly, this outcome has serious implications on the potential choice of anti-HIF treatment for pBOO.

Further investigations to confirm the HIF α inhibitory mechanisms may design experiments that inhibit HIF 3α expression in bladder smooth muscle cells exposed to prolong hypoxia. siRNA or specific antibodies could be used to inhibit HIF 3α expression. Increase of the other HIF α subtypes in the absence of HIF 3α and a subsequent downregulation of HIF 1 or 2α when HIF 3α is overexpressed may confirm an inhibitory association between these subtypes. Essentially, the upregulation of HIF 3α in response to prolong hypoxia provides the bases for future investigation into whether HIF 3α levels of the bladder is a potential marker of chronic hypoxia. To investigate this hypothesis, levels of bladder expressivity of all the HIF α subtypes could be measured in animal models of pBOO at different disease stages in order to establish possible correlations between expressivity patterns and disease stage and progression. In chapter 4, through co-culture with MSCs, we were able to elucidate the anti-fibrotic nature of MSCs and its ability to inhibit HIF-induced fibro-inflammatory pathways. Both the paracrine and cell to cell mechanisms had equal anti-fibrotic potencies measured by increased IL-10 synthesis and a corresponding reduction in hypoxia induced extracellular matrix. This result provides basis to support the potential use of MSCs-conditioned media in the treatment of pBOO. As a follow up to this co-culture study, mass spectrometry can be carried out on culture media to investigate the types of MSC-derived trophic factors that are mediating paracrine roles and on cells to determine the receptors and proteins playing roles in cell-cell contact.

In order to determine the translatability of these molecular mechanisms, animal models of pBOO were used. Chapter 5 describes the ability of MSCs to inhibit hypoxic, inflammatory and fibrotic pathways which was determined by the injection of MSCs in rats with pBOO. MSCs transfection with the green fluorescent protein (GFP) made tracking of injected MSCs easier. The identification of GFP-MSCs in the bladder reaffirmed the ability of MSCs to home in to sites of injury. Even though we could not determine relative localization of the systemically injected MSCs to non-target organs like the lungs, spleen and liver, the MSCs inhibitory effects on hypoxic, inflammatory and fibrotic pathways was profound. Thus benefits of MSCs to inhibit inflammatory and fibrotic pathways was demonstrated in vitro and confirmed in vivo. However, as a follow up to the MSCs localization experiments, the proliferative capacity of the bladder-recruited MSCs can be investigated by immuno-staining for markers such as Ki67 and 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine. Furthermore, the expression of markers such p53, p21 senescence-associated β galactosidase will also be important in determining the in vivo viability of the transplanted cells. Ultimately, the fate of the bladder-localized MSCs may be tracked by staining for some known

bladder specific markers such myosin, desmin, smoothelin and caldesmon. Thus, the identification of the GFP-MSCs co-expressing these bladder specific markers may be indicative that transplanted viable and replicating MSCs are engrafted and repopulating the bladder.

Experimentally, the time point for the in vivo model was chosen to coincide with the phase where the pro-fibrotic stage is emerging in a more established inflammatory milieu; Outcomes of MSCs treatment was measured after 2 and 4 weeks. Initial work by our lab has shown that MSCs intervention in the first week of pBOO mainly borders on inhibition of inflammatory factors [7]. From the results recorded in chapter 5, it does not appear that we lost any information by not including a 3-week after treatment time point. Rather, it might be much more beneficial to measure outcomes beyond 4 weeks to know how long the effects of therapy will last.

The main difference in terms of outcome between the in vitro and in vivo systems is the HIF regulation by MSCs. In the in vitro experiments, HIF expression was unaffected by MSCs intervention whereas in vivo, HIF expression was modulated by MSCs. In an attempt to explain these outcomes; consideration must be given to the differences in time points between the in vitro and in vivo experiments. In the in vitro experiment, probably, the duration of hypoxia (72 hours) was still acute so that MSCs could potently inhibit the inflammatory and fibrotic pathways without affecting HIF levels. However, MSCs may suppress HIF levels in longer hypoxia durations. This view is supported by the fact that in our in vivo findings, MSCs did not significantly affect HIF transcript levels 2 weeks after treatment. However, MSCs significantly down-regulated HIF transcripts 4 weeks after treatment. Thus, in the first two weeks after therapy, the MSCs-induced downregulation of high pressure urine storage and inflammatory factors occurred while HIF was still upregulated. Therefore, the upregulation of VEGF 2 weeks

after therapy may be a synergistic response of MSCs secretion and HIF upregulation. Thus, the reversion of VEGF to normal unobstructed levels 4 weeks after therapy coincides with the MSCs-induced suppression of HIF levels.

Central to our results is the activation of the TGFβ-Smad pathway in pBOO which has profibrotic sequela. This coupled with the upregulation of the mTOR-p70 S6K pathway and the loss of IL-10, it was not surprising that these events culminated in fibrosis of the bladder tissue. Therefore, against such background, the demonstrated ability of mesenchymal stem cells to inhibit these multiple fibrotic pathways in the presence of pBOO was exhaustive. An analysis of our results revealed that, the anti-fibrotic effects of MSCs were executed at the molecular and physiological levels. The molecular effects of MSCs was profound inhibiting both inflammatory and fibrotic pathways in both HIF independent and dependent manners. The anti-fibrotic effects of MSCs at the physiological level potently inhibited the high urine storage pressure associated with pBOO. This outcome had positive effects on blood flow to the bladder. Thus hypoxia and the hypoxia-induced pro-fibrotic signaling in the obstructed bladder tissue was significantly reduced. The angiogenic stimulation capacity of MSCs may have also contributed to the reduction of obstructed bladder hypoxia. Figure 6.1 summarizes these findings.



Figure 6.1. Molecular and physiological benefits of MSCs anti-fibrotic effects on pBOO pathology. A schematic drawing summarizing the in vitro and in vivo findings of the pBOO pathology and the MSCs anti-fibrotic effects. The induction of pBOO, increased bladder contractility and high pressure urine storage which compresses blood vessels reducing blood flow to the bladder. The resulting tissue hypoxia induces significant inflammatory and fibrotic changes to the bladder. MSCs potently inhibit these disease mechanisms at the molecular and physiological levels preventing bladder deterioration.

6.2 Potential Clinical Benefits

The therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cell therapy can not be over-emphasized. The outcome of our study is exciting in the wake of the high morbidity associated with the current pBOO treatment regimes. The results of this thesis supports the future use of mesenchymal stem cell therapy for the treatment of pBOO from different aetiologies. The clinical relevance of our work is shown by the fact that the anti-fibrotic effects of MSCs were eminent in the presence of continuous hypoxia (in vitro) or pBOO (in vivo). In fact, the anti-fibrotic effects of MSCs prevailed for 4 weeks in the presence of bladder obstruction. Clinically, even though pBOO of many anatomical causes may be relieved by surgery, some causes of functional bladder obstruction such as spina bifida and diabetes require management in the presence of nerve damage or other causes of the obstruction. Thus, the results described in this thesis gives hope that MSCs therapy may be effective in preventing bladder deterioration and fibrosis.

Given the huge potential of our findings for clinical applications, some work is still required to ensure increased efficacy and effectiveness. First of all, beyond the anti-fibrotic effects shown as well as the recommendations given, there must be investigation into the ability of MSCs to regenerate damaged bladder nerves which is associated with the pBOO pathology. This will ensure complete recovery of bladder function and maximize benefits of MSCs to children with spina bifida and other sufferers of pBOO. MSCs are known to secret factors such as nerve growth factor, insulin-like growth factor, Brain-derived neurotrophic factor, VEGF and other neuroprotective factors which promotes nerve repair and regeneration [8]. After MSCs transplantation in animal models of pBOO, immunostaining for axonal markers such as neurofilaments, myelin, GAP-43, and β III-tubulin could be performed in order to assess the degree of nerve regeneration. Secondly, the safety of transplanted cells for clinical application is

an important concern. Consequently, there is the need to use improved in vivo tracking systems such as MRI to trace the fate of transplanted cells for longer periods. Bioluminescence imaging of luciferase-transfected MSCs has also been effective in the non-invasive real time ex vivo tracking of transplanted whole animals [9, 10]. Moving forward, it will be important to confirm these findings in larger animal models such as the pig, sheep, and cow. This is because these large animals are more similar to humans in terms of body weight, anatomy, physiology and pathophysiology [11]. Thus, findings from such results will be much more translatable to humans.

6.3 Conclusions

Hypoxia induced significant inflammatory and fibrotic effects in bladder smooth muscle cells similar to pBOO. Furthermore, MSCs have the ability to mitigate multiple inflammatory and pro-fibrotic pathways to prevent bladder deterioration due to pBOO. The outcomes of this study are promising and lay an important foundation for the prevention and potential treatment of end stage fibrotic bladder with mesenchymal stem cells.

References

Chapter 1

- 1. Irwin DE, Kopp ZS, Agatep B, Milsom I, Abrams P. Worldwide prevalence estimates of lower urinary tract symptoms, overactive bladder, urinary incontinence and bladder outlet obstruction. BJU Int. 2011 Oct;108(7):1132-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.2010.09993.x.
- 2. Wei JT, Calhoun E, Jacobsen SJ: Urologic diseases in America project: benign prostatic hyperplasia. J Urol 2005, 173:1256–1261
- Summers SJ, Elliott S, McAdams S, Oottamasathien S, Brant WO, Presson AP, Fleck J, West J, Myers JB. Urologic problems in spina bifida patients transitioning to adult care. Urology. 2014 Aug;84(2):440-4. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2014.03.041.
- 4. Yohannes, P. and Hanna, M. Current trends in the management of posterior urethral valves in the pediatric population. Urology 2002. 60, 947–953.
- 5. Komninos C., Mitsogiannis I. Obstruction-induced alterations within the urinary bladder and their role in the pathophysiology of lower urinary tract symptomatology. Can Urol Assoc J. 2014 Jul-Aug; 8(7-8): E524–E530. doi: 10.5489/cuaj.1636
- Greenland JE, Hvistendahl JJ, Andersen H, Jörgensen TM, McMurray G, Cortina-Borja M, Brading AF, Frøkiaer J. The effect of bladder outlet obstruction on tissue oxygen tension and blood flow in the pig bladder. BJU Int. 2000 Jun;85(9):1109-14.
- 7. Verpoorten C, Buyse GM. The neurogenic bladder: medical treatment. Pediatric Nephrology (Berlin, Germany). 2008;23(5):717-725. doi:10.1007/s00467-007-0691-z.
- Seth JH, Haslam C, Panicker JN. Ensuring patient adherence to clean intermittent selfcatheterization. Patient preference and adherence. 2014;8:191-198. doi:10.2147/PPA.S49060
- 9. Lieberman JA. Managing Anticholinergic Side Effects. Primary Care Companion to the Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2004;6(suppl 2):20-23.
- 10. Veeratterapillay R, Thorpe AC, Harding C. Augmentation cystoplasty: Contemporary indications, techniques and complications. Indian Journal of Urology : IJU : Journal of the Urological Society of India. 2013;29(4):322-327. doi:10.4103/0970-1591.120114

- 11. Ma S, Xie N, Li W, Yuan B2, Shi Y3, Wang Y. Immunobiology of mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Death Differ. 2014 Feb;21(2):216-25. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2013.158.
- 12. Andersson KE, Arner A. Urinary bladder contraction and relaxation: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev. 2004 Jul;84(3):935-86.
- 13. Levin RM, Longhurst PA, Monson FC, Kato K, Wein AJ. Effect of bladder outlet obstruction on the morphology, physiology, and pharmacology of the bladder. Prostate Suppl. 1990;3:9-26.
- 14. Wyndaele JJ, Gammie A, Bruschini H, De Wachter S, Fry CH, Jabr RI, Kirschner-Hermanns R, Madersbacher H. Bladder compliance what does it represent: can we measure it, and is it clinically relevant? Neurourol Urodyn. 2011 Jun;30(5):714-22. doi: 10.1002/nau.21129.
- 15. Hunter J. A Treatise on the Venereal Disease. London: 1786.
- Dmochowski R. Bladder Outlet Obstruction: Etiology and Evaluation. Rev Urol. 2005; 7(Suppl 6): S3–S13
- 17. Metcalfe, P.D., Wang, J, Jiao, H., et al. (2010). Bladder outlet obstruction: progression from inflammation to fibrosis. *British Journal of Urology*, 106(11):1686-94.
- Komninos C., Mitsogiannis I. Obstruction-induced alterations within the urinary bladder and their role in the pathophysiology of lower urinary tract symptomatology. Can Urol Assoc J. 2014 Jul-Aug; 8(7-8): E524–E530. doi: 10.5489/cuaj.1636
- 19. Levin RM, O'Connor LJ, Leggett RE, Whitbeck C, Chichester P. Focal hypoxia of the obstructed rabbit bladder wall correlates with intermediate decompensation. Neurourol Urodyn. 2003;22(2):156-63.
- 20. Greenland JE, Hvistendahl JJ, Andersen H, Jörgensen TM, McMurray G, Cortina-Borja M, Brading AF, Frøkiaer J. The effect of bladder outlet obstruction on tissue oxygen tension and blood flow in the pig bladder. BJU Int. 2000 Jun;85(9):1109-14.
- 21. Fusco F, Creta M, De Nunzio C, Iacovelli V, Mangiapia F, Li Marzi V, Finazzi Agrò E. Progressive bladder remodeling due to bladder outlet obstruction: a systematic review of

morphological and molecular evidences in humans. BMC Urol. 2018 Mar 9;18(1):15. doi: 10.1186/s12894-018-0329-4.

- 22. McVary KT, Roehrborn CG, Avins AL, Barry MJ, Bruskewitz RC, Donnell RF, Foster HE Jr, Gonzalez CM, Kaplan SA, Penson DF, Ulchaker JC, Wei JT. Update on AUA guideline on the management of benign prostatic hyperplasia. J Urol. 2011 May;185(5):1793-803. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2011.01.074.
- 23. Schauer I. G., Rowley D.R. The Functional Role of Reactive Stroma in Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia. Differentiation. 2011 Nov-Dec; 82(4-5): 200–210. Published online 2011 Jun 12. doi: 10.1016/j.diff.2011.05.007
- 24. Wei JT, Calhoun E, Jacobsen SJ: Urologic diseases in America project: benign prostatic hyperplasia. J Urol 2005, 173:1256–1261.
- 25. Konwar R, Chattopadhyay N, Bid HK. Genetic polymorphism and pathogenesis of benign prostatic hyperplasia. BJU Int. 2008 Aug 5;102(5):536-44. doi:10.1111/j.1464410X.2008.07667.x.
- 26. Sanda MG, Beaty TH, Stutzman RE, Childs B, Walsh PC. Genetic susceptibility of benign prostatic hyperplasia. J Urol. 1994 Jul;152(1):115-9.
- Pearson JD, Lei HH, Beaty TH, Wiley KE, Isaacs SD, Isaacs WB, Stoner E, Walsh PC. Familial aggregation of bothersome benign prostatic hyperplasia symptoms. Urology. 2003 Apr;61(4):781-5
- 28. Greene ND, Copp AJ. Development of the vertebrate central nervous system: formation of the neural tube. Prenat Diagn. 2009 Apr;29(4):303-11. doi: 10.1002/pd.2206.
- 29. De Wals P, Tairou F, Van Allen MI, Uh SH, Lowry RB, Sibbald B, Evans JA, Van den Hof MC, Zimmer P, Crowley M, Fernandez B, Lee NS, Niyonsenga T. Reduction in neural-tube defects after folic acid fortification in Canada. N Engl J Med. 2007 Jul 12;357(2):135-42.
- 30. Marini NJ, Hoffmann TJ, Lammer EJ, Hardin J, Lazaruk K, Stein JB, Gilbert DA, Wright C, Lipzen A, Pennacchio LA, Carmichael SL, Witte JS, Shaw GM, Rine J. A genetic signature of spina bifida risk from pathway-informed comprehensive gene-variant analysis. PLoS One. 2011;6(11):e28408. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028408

- Summers SJ, Elliott S, McAdams S, Oottamasathien S, Brant WO, Presson AP, Fleck J, West J, Myers JB. Urologic problems in spina bifida patients transitioning to adult care. Urology. 2014 Aug;84(2):440-4. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2014.03.041.
- 32. Kapoor R. and Agrawal S. Meningomylocele: An update Indian J Urol. 2007 Apr-Jun; 23(2): 181–186. doi: 10.4103/0970-1591.32072
- 33. Yohannes, P. and Hanna, M. Current trends in the management of posterior urethral valves in the pediatric population. Urology 2002. 60, 947–953.
- Chiaramonte C, Bommarito D, Zambaiti E, Antona V, Li Voti G. Genetic Basis of Posterior Urethral Valves Inheritance. Urology. 2016 Sep;95:175-9. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2016.05.043.
- 35. Hodges SJ, Patel B, McLorie G, Atala A. Posterior urethral valves. ScientificWorldJournal. 2009 Oct 14;9:1119-26. doi: 10.1100/tsw.2009.127.
- 36. Smith T.G. Current management of urethral stricture disease. Indian J Urol. 2016 Jan-Mar; 32(1): 27–33. doi: 10.4103/0970-1591.173108
- Palminteri E, Berdondini E, Verze P, De Nunzio C, Vitarelli A, Carmignani L. Contemporary urethral stricture characteristics in the developed world. Urology. 2013 Jan;81(1):191-6. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2012.08.062
- 38. Santucci RA, Joyce GF, Wise M. Male urethral stricture disease. J Urol. 2007 May;177(5):1667-74
- 39. Alwaal A, Blaschko SD, McAninch JW, Breyer BN. Epidemiology of urethral strictures. Translational Andrology and Urology. 2014;3(2):209-213. doi:10.3978/j.issn.2223-4683.2014.04.07.
- 40. Chiaramonte C, Bommarito D, Zambaiti E, Antona V, Li Voti G. Genetic Basis of Posterior Urethral Valves Inheritance. Urology. 2016 Sep;95:175-9. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2016.05.043.
- 41. Abrams P. Objective evaluation of bladder outlet obstruction. Br J Urol. 1995 Jul;76 Suppl 1:11-5.

- 42. Nitti VW. Pressure Flow Urodynamic Studies: The Gold Standard for Diagnosing Bladder Outlet Obstruction. Reviews in Urology. 2005;7(Suppl 6):S14-S21.
- 43. Huang AJ, Brown JS, Boyko EJ, et al. Clinical Significance of Postvoid Residual Volume in Older Ambulatory Women. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2011;59(8):10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03511.x. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03511
- 44. Desai DY. A review of urodynamic evaluation in children and its role in the management of boys with posterior urethral valves. Indian Journal of Urology : IJU : Journal of the Urological Society of India. 2007;23(4):435-442. doi:10.4103/0970-1591.36719.
- 45. Chung DE, Kaplan SA Current role for combination therapy in male LUTS. Arch Esp Urol. 2010 Jun;63(5):323-32
- 46. Chapple C. Pharmacological therapy of benign prostatic hyperplasia/lower urinary tract symptoms: an overview for the practising clinician. BJU International. 2004;94:738-44
- 47. Kaplan S, McConnell J. Combination therapy with doxazosin and finasteride for benign prostatic hyperplasia in patients with lower urinary tract symptoms and a baseline total prostate volume of 25 mL or greater. J Urol. 2006;175(1):217-20
- 48. Roehrborn C, Siegel R. Safety and efficacy of doxazosin in benign prostatic hyperplasia: a pooled analysis of three double-blind, placebo controlled studies. Urology. 1996;48:406-15
- 49. Al-Qudah HS1, Santucci RA. Extended complications of urethroplasty. Int Braz J Urol. 2005 Jul-Aug;31(4):315-23; discussion 324-5.
- 50. Kessler TM, Ryu G, Burkhard FC. Clean intermittent self-catheterization: a burden for the patient? Neurourol Urodyn. 2009;28(1):18-21. doi: 10.1002/nau.20610.
- 51. Mansfield KJ, Chandran JJ, Vaux KJ, Millard RJ, Christopoulos A, Mitchelson FJ, Burcher E. Comparison of receptor binding characteristics of commonly used muscarinic antagonists in human bladder detrusor and mucosa. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2009 Mar;328(3):893-9. doi: 10.1124/jpet.108.145508.
- 52. Baskin LS, Kogan BA, Benard F. Treatment of infants with neurogenic bladder dysfunction using anticholinergic drugs and intermittent catheterisation. Br J Urol. 1990 Nov;66(5):532-4.

- 53. Nitti VW. Botulinum Toxin for the Treatment of Idiopathic and Neurogenic Overactive Bladder: State of the Art. Reviews in Urology. 2006;8(4):198-208
- 54. Carr LK. Botulinum toxin A should not be first-line therapy for overactive bladder. Can Urol Assoc J. 2011 Jun;5(3):204-5. doi: 10.5489/cuaj.11044.
- 55. Reynolds WS, McPheeters M, Blume J, Surawicz T, Worley K, Wang L, Hartmann K. Comparative Effectiveness of Anticholinergic Therapy for Overactive Bladder in Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Obstet Gynecol. 2015 Jun;125(6):1423-32. doi:10.1097/AOG.000000000000851.
- 56. Veeratterapillay R, Thorpe AC, Harding C. Augmentation cystoplasty: Contemporary indications, techniques and complications. Indian Journal of Urology : IJU : Journal of the Urological Society of India. 2013;29(4):322-327. doi:10.4103/0970-1591.120114.
- 57. Jiang X, Chen Y, Zhu H, Wang B, Qu P, Chen R, Sun X. Sodium Tanshinone IIA Sulfonate Ameliorates Bladder Fibrosis in a Rat Model of Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction by Inhibiting the TGF-β/Smad Pathway Activation. PLoS One. 2015 Jun 10;10(6):e0129655. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0129655.
- 58. Monga M, Gabal-Shehab LL, Stein P. Urinary transforming growth factor-beta1 levels correlate with bladder outlet obstruction. nt J Urol. 2001 Sep;8(9):487-9.
- 59. Aitken KJ, Tolg C, Panchal T, et al. Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Induces Proliferation and De-Differentiation Responses to Three Coordinate Pathophysiologic Stimuli (Mechanical Strain, Hypoxia, and Extracellular Matrix Remodeling) in Rat Bladder Smooth Muscle. The American Journal of Pathology. 2010;176(1):304-319. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2010.080834.
- 60. Yang L, He DL, Wang S, Cheng HP, Wang XY. Effect of long-term partial bladder outlet obstruction on caldesmon isoforms and their correlation with contractile function. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2008 May;29(5):600-5. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-7254.2008.00784.x
- Lin WY, Mannikarottu A, Chichester P, Neuman P, Johnson A, Pérez-Martínez FC, Levin RM. The effect of chronic partial bladder outlet obstruction on corpus cavernosum smooth muscle and Rho-kinase in rabbits. Neurourol Urodyn. 2008;27(8):826-31. doi: 10.1002/nau.20607.
- 62. Stanton MC, Austin JC, Delaney DP, Gosfield A, Marx JO, Zderic SA, Chacko S, Moreland RS. Partial bladder outlet obstruction selectively abolishes protein kinase C
induced contraction of rabbit detrusor smooth muscle. J Urol. 2006 Dec;176(6 Pt 1):2716-21

- 63. Maciejewski CC, Honardoust D, Tredget EE, Metcalfe PD. Differential expression of class I small leucine-rich proteoglycans in an animal model of partial bladder outlet obstruction. J Urol. 2012 Oct;188(4 Suppl):1543-8. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2012.03.045.
- Zanotti S, Negri T, Cappelletti C, Bernasconi P, Canioni E, Di Blasi C, Pegoraro E, Angelini C, Ciscato P, Prelle A, Mantegazza R, Morandi L, Mora M. Decorin and biglycan expression is differentially altered in several muscular dystrophies. Brain. 2005 Nov;128(Pt 11):2546-55.
- 65. Pinggera GM, Mitterberger M, Steiner E, Pallwein L, Frauscher F, Aigner F, Bartsch G, Strasser H. Association of lower urinary tract symptoms and chronic ischaemia of the lower urinary tract in elderly women and men: assessment using colour Doppler ultrasonography. BJU Int. 2008 Aug;102(4):470-4. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.2008.07587.x
- 66. Galvin DJ, Watson RW, O'Neill A, Coffey RN, Taylor C, Gillespie JI, Fitzpatrick JM. Hypoxia inhibits human bladder smooth muscle cell proliferation: a potential mechanism of bladder dysfunction. Neurourol Urodyn. 2004;23(4):342-8.
- 67. Lin AT, Yang CH, Chen KK, Chang LS. Detrusor mitochondrial lipid peroxidation and superoxide dismutase activity in partial bladder outlet obstruction of rabbits. Neurourol Urodyn. 2005;24(3):282-7.
- Azadzoi KM, Yalla SV, Siroky MB. Human bladder smooth muscle cell damage in disturbed oxygen tension. Urology. 2011 Oct;78(4):967.e9-15. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2011.06.034.
- 69. Guillemin K, Krasnow MA. The hypoxic response: huffing and HIFing. Cell. 1997 Apr 4;89(1):9-12.

- 70. Brahimi-Horn MC, Pouysségur J. HIF at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2009 Apr 15;122(Pt 8):1055-7. doi: 10.1242/jcs.035022.
- 71. Jiang BH, Rue E, Wang GL, Roe R, Semenza GL. Dimerization, DNA binding, and transactivation properties of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. J Biol Chem. 1996 Jul 26;271(30):17771-8.
- 72. Semenza GL, Jiang BH, Leung SW, Passantino R, Concordet JP, Maire P, Giallongo A. Hypoxia response elements in the aldolase A, enolase 1, and lactate dehydrogenase A gene promoters contain essential binding sites for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. J Biol Chem. 1996 Dec 20;271(51):32529-37.
- 73. Heidbreder M, Fröhlich F, Jöhren O, Dendorfer A, Qadri F, Dominiak P. Hypoxia rapidly activates HIF-3alpha mRNA expression. FASEB J. 2003 Aug;17(11):1541-3.
- 74. Tanaka T, Wiesener M, Bernhardt W, Eckardt KU, Warnecke C. The human HIF (hypoxia-inducible factor)-3alpha gene is a HIF-1 target gene and may modulate hypoxic gene induction. Biochem J. 2009 Oct 23;424(1):143-51. doi: 10.1042/BJ20090120
- 75. Hara S, Hamada J, Kobayashi C, Kondo Y, Imura N. Expression and characterization of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-3alpha in human kidney: suppression of HIF-mediated gene expression by HIF-3alpha. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2001 Oct 5;287(4):808-13.
- 76. Semenza GL, Jiang BH, Leung SW, Passantino R, Concordet JP, Maire P, Giallongo A. Hypoxia response elements in the aldolase A, enolase 1, and lactate dehydrogenase A gene promoters contain essential binding sites for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. J Biol Chem. 1996 Dec 20;271(51):32529-37.
- 77. Semenza GL, Nejfelt MK, Chi SM, Antonarakis SE. Hypoxia-inducible nuclear factors bind to an enhancer element located 3' to the human erythropoietin gene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1991;88(13):5680-5684
- 78. Masoud GN, Li W. HIF-1α pathway: role, regulation and intervention for cancer therapy. *Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B*. 2015;5(5):378-389. doi:10.1016/j.apsb.2015.05.007.

- Higgins DF, Biju MP, Akai Y, Wutz A, Johnson RS, Haase VH. Hypoxic induction of Ctgf is directly mediated by Hif-1. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2004 Dec;287(6):F1223-32.
- Sang N, Stiehl DP, Bohensky J, Leshchinsky I, Srinivas V, Caro J. MAPK signaling upregulates the activity of hypoxia-inducible factors by its effects on p300. J Biol Chem. 2003 Apr 18;278(16):14013-9.
- Wang Y, Huang Y, Guan F, et al. Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1alpha and MAPK Co-Regulate Activation of Hepatic Stellate Cells upon Hypoxia Stimulation. Nakano H, ed. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(9):e74051. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074051
- Brahimi-Horn MC, Pouysségur J. HIF at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2009 Apr 15;122(Pt 8):1055-7. doi: 10.1242/jcs.035022.
- Ravi R, Mookerjee B, Bhujwalla ZM, et al. Regulation of tumor angiogenesis by p53induced degradation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1α. Genes & Development. 2000;14(1):34-44.
- 84. Darby IA, Hewitson TD. Hypoxia in tissue repair and fibrosis. Cell Tissue Res. 2016 Sep;365(3):553-62. doi: 10.1007/s00441-016-2461-3.
- Meng XM, Nikolic-Paterson DJ, Lan HY. TGF-β: the master regulator of fibrosis. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2016 Jun;12(6):325-38. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2016.48.
- 86. BelAiba RS, Bonello S, Zähringer C, et al. Hypoxia Up-Regulates Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1α Transcription by Involving Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase and Nuclear Factor κB in Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells. Heldin C-H, ed. Molecular Biology of the Cell. 2007;18(12):4691-4697. doi:10.1091/mbc.E07-04-0391
- 87. Eltzschig HK, Carmeliet P. Hypoxia and Inflammation. The New England journal of medicine. 2011;364(7):656-665. doi:10.1056/NEJMra0910283.

- Higgins DF, Kimura K, Bernhardt WM, et al. Hypoxia promotes fibrogenesis in vivo via HIF-1 stimulation of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2007;117(12):3810-3820. doi:10.1172/JCI30487.
- 89. Desmoulière A, Geinoz A, Gabbiani F, Gabbiani G. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 induces alpha-smooth muscle actin expression in granulation tissue myofibroblasts and in quiescent and growing cultured fibroblasts. J Cell Biol. 1993 Jul;122(1):103-11.
- 90. Shi YF, Fong CC, Zhang Q, Cheung PY, Tzang CH, Wu RS, Yang M. Hypoxia induces the activation of human hepatic stellate cells LX-2 through TGF-beta signaling pathway. FEBS Lett. 2007 Jan 23;581(2):203-10.
- 91. Maciejewski CC, Tredget EE, Metcalfe PD. Urodynamic improvements following oral medical therapy for partial bladder outlet obstruction in an animal model. Neurourol Urodyn. 2015 Mar;34(3):286-91. doi: 10.1002/nau.22528
- 92. Maciejewski CC, Honardoust D, Tredget EE, Metcalfe PD. Differential expression of class I small leucine-rich proteoglycans in an animal model of partial bladder outlet obstruction. J Urol. 2012 Oct;188(4 Suppl):1543-8. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2012.03.045
- 93. Kaiser LR. The future of multihospital systems. Top Health Care Financ. 1992 Summer;18(4):32-45.
- 94. Horch R.E., Popescu L.M., Polykandriotis E. History of Regenerative Medicine. 2016 In: Steinhoff G. (eds) Regenerative Medicine - from Protocol to Patient. Springer, Cham. IBM: 978-3-319-28293-0. doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28293-0 1
- 95. Atala A. Tissue engineering of human bladder. Br Med Bull. 2011;97:81-104. doi: 10.1093/bmb/ldr003.
- 96. Gnecchi M, Zhang Z, Ni A, Dzau VJ. Paracrine mechanisms in adult stem cell signaling and therapy. Circ Res. 2008 Nov 21;103(11):1204-19. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.176826.
- 97. Yao Y, Huang J, Geng Y, Geng Y2, Qian H, Wang F, Liu X, Shang M, Nie S, Liu N, Du X, Dong J, Ma C. Paracrine Action of Mesenchymal Stem Cells Revealed by Single Cell

Gene Profiling in Infarcted Murine Hearts. PLoS ONE. 2015;10(6):e0129164. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0129164

- 98. Gazdhar A, Grad I, Tamò L, Gugger M, Feki A, Geiser T. The secretome of induced pluripotent stem cells reduces lung fibrosis in part by hepatocyte growth factor. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2014 Nov 10;5(6):123. doi: 10.1186/scrt513.
- 99. Camussi G, Deregibus MC, Cantaluppi V. Role of stem-cell-derived microvesicles in the paracrine action of stem cells. Biochem Soc Trans. 2013 Feb 1;41(1):283-7. doi: 10.1042/BST20120192.
- Gimona M, Pachler K, Laner-Plamberger S, Schallmoser K, Rohde E. Manufacturing of Human Extracellular Vesicle-Based Therapeutics for Clinical Use. Ritter T, ed. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 2017;18(6):1190. doi:10.3390/ijms18061190.
- 101. Yu B, Zhang X, Li X. Exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells. Int J Mol Sci. 2014 Mar 7;15(3):4142-57. doi: 10.3390/ijms15034142
- 102. Kim HY, Kumar H, Jo MJ, Kim J, Yoon JK, Lee JR, Kang M, Choo YW, Song SY, Kwon SP, Hyeon T, Han IB, Kim BS. Therapeutic Efficacy-potentiated and Diseased Organ-targeting Nanovesicles Derived from Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Spinal Cord Injury Treatment. Nano Lett. 2018 Jul 11. doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.8b01816
- 103. Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, Jones JM. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science. 1998 Nov 6;282(5391):1145-7.
- 104. Mehta RH. Sourcing human embryos for embryonic stem cell lines: problems & perspectives. Indian J Med Res. 2014 Nov;140 Suppl:S106-11.
- 105. Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 2006 Aug 25;126(4):663-76
- 106. Passier R, Mummery C. Origin and use of embryonic and adult stem cells in differentiation and tissue repair. Cardiovasc Res. 2003 May 1;58(2):324-35.
- 107. Friedenstein AJ, Gorskaja JF, Kulagina NN. Fibroblast precursors in normal and irradiated mouse hematopoietic organs. Exp Hematol. 1976 Sep;4(5):267-74
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Gerasimov UV. Bone marrow osteogenic stem cells: in vitro cultivation and transplantation in diffusion chambers. Cell Tissue Kinet. 1987 May;20(3):263-72.
- 109. Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R, Keating A, Prockop Dj, Horwitz E. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent

mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy. 2006;8(4):315-7

- 110. Denu RA, Nemcek S, Bloom DD, Goodrich AD, Kim J, Mosher DF, Hematti P. Fibroblasts and Mesenchymal Stromal/Stem Cells Are Phenotypically Indistinguishable. Acta Haematol. 2016;136(2):85-97. doi: 10.1159/000445096
- 111. Caplan AI. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. J Cell Physiol. 2007 Nov;213(2):341-7
- 112. Chen Y, Xiang LX, Shao JZ, Pan RL, Wang YX, Dong XJ, Zhang GR. Recruitment of endogenous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells towards injured liver. J Cell Mol Med. 2010 Jun;14(6B):1494-508. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00912.

- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, Jones JM. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science. 1998 Nov 6;282(5391):1145-7
- 2. Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 2006 Aug 25;126(4):663-76
- 3. Caplan AI. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. J Cell Physiol. 2007 Nov;213(2):341-7
- 4. Elnakish MT, Hassan F, Dakhlallah D, Marsh CB, Alhaider IA, Khan M. Mesenchymal stem cells for cardiac regeneration: translation to bedside reality. Stem Cells Int. 2012;2012:646038
- 5. Scadden DT. The stem-cell niche as an entity of action. Nature 2006;441(7097):1075–1079.
- 6. Rosemann A. Why regenerative stem cell medicine progresses slower than expected. J Cell Biochem. 2014 Dec;115(12):2073-6
- 7. Zheng GP, Ge MH, Shu Q, Rojas M, Xu J. World J Pediatr. 2013 Aug;9(3):197-211.
- 8. Hare JM, Traverse JH, Henry TD, Dib N, Strumpf RK, Schulman SP, Gerstenblith G, DeMaria AN, Denktas AE, Gammon RS, Hermiller JB Jr, Reisman MA, Schaer GL, Sherman W. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalation study of intravenous adult human mesenchymal stem cells (prochymal) after acute myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009 Dec 8;54(24):2277-86.
- 9. Chen SL, Fang WW, Ye F, Liu YH, Qian J, Shan SJ, Zhang JJ, Chunhua RZ, Liao LM, Lin S, Sun JP Effect on left ventricular function of intracoronary transplantation of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol. 2004 Jul 1;94(1):92-5.
- Williams AR, Trachtenberg B, Velazquez DL, McNiece I, Altman P, Rouy D, Mendizabal AM, Pattany PM, Lopera GA, Fishman J, Zambrano JP, Heldman AW, Hare JM. Intramyocardial stem cell injection in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: functional recovery and reverse remodeling. Circ Res. 2011 Apr 1;108(7):792-6.
- 11. Murry CE, Field LJ, Menasché P. Cell-based cardiac repair: reflections at the 10-year point. Circulation. 2005 Nov 15;112(20):3174-83.
- 12. Katritsis DG, Sotiropoulou PA, Karvouni E, Karabinos I, Korovesis S, Perez SA, Voridis EM, Papamichail M. Transcoronary transplantation of autologous mesenchymal stem cells and endothelial progenitors into infarcted human myocardium. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2005 Jul;65(3):321-9.

- 13. Katritsis DG, Sotiropoulou P, Giazitzoglou E, Karvouni E, Papamichail M. Electrophysiological effects of intracoronary transplantation of autologous mesenchymal and endothelial progenitor cells. Europace. 2007 Mar;9(3):167-71.
- 14. Mohyeddin-Bonab M, Mohamad-Hassani MR, Alimoghaddam K, Sanatkar M, Gasemi M, Mirkhani H, Radmehr H, Salehi M, Eslami M, Farhig-Parsa A, Emami-Razavi H, Alemohammad MG, Solimani AA, Ghavamzadeh A, Nikbin B. Autologous in vitro expanded mesenchymal stem cell therapy for human old myocardial infarction. Arch Iran Med. 2007 Oct;10(4):467-73.
- 15. Amin MA, Sabry D, Rashed LA, Aref WM, el-Ghobary MA, Farhan MS, Fouad HA, Youssef YA Short-term evaluation of autologous transplantation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in patients with cirrhosis: Egyptian study. Clin Transplant. 2013 Jul-Aug;27(4):607-12.
- 16. Zhang Z, Lin H, Shi M, Xu R, Fu J, Lv J, Chen L, Lv S, Li Y,Yu S, Geng H, Jin L, Lau GK, Wang FS. Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells improve liver function and ascites in decompensated liver cirrhosis patients. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012; 27 Suppl 2: 112-120
- 17. Shi M, Zhang Z, Xu R, Lin H, Fu J, Zou Z, Zhang A, Shi J, Chen L, Lv S, He W, Geng H, Jin L, Liu Z, Wang FS. Human mesenchymal stem cell transfusion is safe and improves liver function in acute-on-chronic liver failure patients. Stem Cells Transl Med 2012; 1: 725-731
- Kharaziha P, Hellström PM, Noorinayer B, Farzaneh F, Aghajani K, Jafari F, Telkabadi M, Atashi A, Honardoost M, Zali MR, Soleimani M. Improvement of liver function in liver cirrhosis patients after autologous mesenchymal stem cell injection: a phase I-II clinical trial. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2009 Oct;21(10):1199-205.
- Wang L, Li J, Liu H, Li Y, Fu J, Sun Y, Xu R, Lin H, Wang S, Lv S, Chen L, Zou Z, Li B, Shi M, Zhang Z, Wang FS. Pilot study of umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell transfusion in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013 Aug;28 Suppl 1:85-92.
- 20. Mohamadnejad M, Alimoghaddam K, Mohyeddin-Bonab M, Bagheri M, Bashtar M, Ghanaati H, Baharvand H, Ghavamzadeh A, Malekzadeh R. Phase 1 trial of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with decompensated liver cirrhosis. Arch Iran Med. 2007 Oct;10(4):459-66.
- 21. Peng L, Xie DY, Lin BL, Liu J, Zhu HP, Xie C, Zheng YB, Gao ZL. Autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in liver failure patients caused by hepatitis B: short-term and long-term outcomes. Hepatology. 2011 Sep 2;54(3):820-8
- 22. El-Ansary M, Abdel-Aziz I, Mogawer S, Abdel-Hamid S, Hammam O, Teaema S, Wahdan M Phase II trial: undifferentiated versus differentiated autologous mesenchymal

stem cells transplantation in Egyptian patients with HCV induced liver cirrhosis. Stem Cell Rev. 2012 Sep;8(3):972-81.

- 23. Jang YO, Kim YJ, Baik SK, Kim MY, Eom YW, Cho MY, Park HJ, Park SY, Kim BR, Kim JW, Soo Kim H, Kwon SO, Choi EH, Kim YM. Histological improvement following administration of autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells for alcoholic cirrhosis: a pilot study. Liver Int. 2014 Jan;34(1):33-41.
- 24. Chambers DC, Enever D, Ilic N, Sparks L, Whitelaw K, Ayres J, Yerkovich ST, Khalil D, Atkinson KM, Hopkins PM. A phase 1b study of placenta-derived mesenchymal stromal cells in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respirology. 2014 Oct;19(7):1013
- 25. Tzouvelekis A, Paspaliaris V, Koliakos G, Ntolios P, Bouros E, Oikonomou A, Zissimopoulos A, Boussios N, Dardzinski B, Gritzalis D, Antoniadis A, Froudarakis M, Kolios G, Bouros D A prospective, non-randomized, no placebo-controlled, phase Ib clinical trial to study the safety of the adipose derived stromal cells-stromal vascular fraction in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. J Transl Med. 2013 Jul 15;11:171.
- 26. Li L, Zhang Y, Li Y, Yu B, Xu Y, Zhao S, Guan Z. Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation attenuates cardiac fibrosis associated with isoproterenol-induced global heart failure. Transpl Int. 2008 Dec;21(12):1181-9.
- 27. Mias C, Lairez O, Trouche E, Roncalli J, Calise D, Seguelas MH, Ordener C, Piercecchi-Marti MD, Auge N, Salvayre AN, Bourin P, Parini A, Cussac D. Mesenchymal stem cells promote matrix metalloproteinase secretion by cardiac fibroblasts and reduce cardiac ventricular fibrosis after myocardial infarction. Stem Cells. 2009 Nov;27(11):2734-43.
- 28. Ishikane S, Hosoda H, Yamahara K, Akitake Y, Kyoungsook J, Mishima K, Iwasaki K, Fujiwara M, Miyazato M, Kangawa K, Ikeda T. Allogeneic transplantation of fetal membrane-derived mesenchymal stem cell sheets increases neovascularization and improves cardiac function after myocardial infarction in rats. Transplantation. 2013 Oct 27;96(8):697-706.
- 29. Nasir GA, Mohsin S, Khan M, Shams S, Ali G, Khan SN, Riazuddin S. Mesenchymal stem cells and Interleukin-6 attenuate liver fibrosis in mice. J Transl Med. 2013 Mar 26;11:78.
- 30. Rabani V, Shahsavani M, Gharavi M, Piryaei A, Azhdari Z, Baharvand H. Mesenchymal stem cell infusion therapy in a carbon tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis model affects matrix metalloproteinase expression. Cell Biol Int. 2010 Apr 27;34(6):601-5.
- 31. Fang B, Shi M, Liao L, Yang S, Liu Y, Zhao RC. Systemic infusion of FLK1(+) mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate carbon tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis in mice. Transplantation. 2004 Jul 15;78(1):83-8.

- 32. Zhang D, Jiang M, Miao D. Transplanted human amniotic membrane-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate carbon tetrachloride-induced liver cirrhosis in mouse. PLoS One. 2011 Feb 4;6(2):e16789.
- 33. Wang Y, Lian F, Li J, Fan W, Xu H, Yang X, Liang L, Chen W, Yang J. Adipose derived mesenchymal stem cells transplantation via portal vein improves microcirculation and ameliorates liver fibrosis induced by CCl4 in rats. J Transl Med. 2012 Jun 26;10:133.
- 34. Moodley Y, Atienza D, Manuelpillai U, Samuel CS, Tchongue J, Ilancheran S, et al. Human Umbilical Cord Mesenchymal Stem Cells Reduce Fibrosis of Bleomycin-Induced Lung Injury. The American Journal of Pathology. 2009 Jul; 175(1):303–13.
- 35. Caplan AI. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. J Cell Physiol. 2007 Nov;213(2):341–7
- 36. Semedo P, Correa-Costa M, Antonio Cenedeze M, Maria Avancini Costa Malheiros D, Antonia dos Reis M, Shimizu MH, Seguro AC, Pacheco-Silva A, Saraiva Camara NO. Mesenchymal stem cells attenuate renal fibrosis through immune modulation and remodeling properties in a rat remnant kidney model. Stem Cells. 2009 Dec;27(12):3063-73
- Bornes TD, Jomha NM, Mulet-Sierra A, Adesida AB. Hypoxic culture of bone marrowderived mesenchymal stromal stem cells differentially enhances in vitro chondrogenesis within cell-seeded collagen and hyaluronic acid porous scaffolds. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2015 Apr 23;6(1):84.
- 38. Matthies NF, Mulet-Sierra A, Jomha NM, Adesida AB. Matrix formation is enhanced in co-cultures of human meniscus cells with bone marrow stromal cells. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2013 Dec;7(12):965-73
- 39. Adesida AB, Mulet-Sierra A, Jomha NM. Hypoxia mediated isolation and expansion enhances the chondrogenic capacity of bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2012 Mar 2;3(2):9.
- 40. Acharya C, Adesida A, Zajac P, Mumme M, Riesle J, Martin I, Barbero A. Enhanced chondrocyte proliferation and mesenchymal stromal cells chondrogenesis in coculture pellets mediate improved cartilage formation. J Cell Physiol. 2012 Jan;227(1):88-97
- 41. Saliken DJ, Mulet-Sierra A, Jomha NM, Adesida AB. Decreased hypertrophic differentiation accompanies enhanced matrix formation in co-cultures of outer meniscus cells with bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells. Arthritis Res Ther. 2012 Jun 22;14(3):
- 42. Yamada Y, Nakamura S, Ito K, Umemura E, Hara K, Nagasaka T, Abe A, Baba S, Furuichi Y, Izumi Y, Klein OD, Wakabayashi T. Injectable bone tissue engineering using expanded mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells. 2013 Mar; 31(3):572-80.

- 43. Lee J, Sung HM, Jang JD, Park YW, Min SK, Kim EC. Successful reconstruction of 15cm segmental defects by bone marrow stem cells and resected autogenous bone graft in central hemangioma. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010 Jan;68(1):188-94
- 44. Hibi H, Yamada Y, Ueda M, Endo Y. Alveolar cleft osteoplasty using tissue-engineered osteogenic material. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2006 Jun;35(6):551-5.
- 45. Mesimäki K, Lindroos B, Törnwall J, Mauno J, Lindqvist C, Kontio R, Miettinen S, Suuronen R. Novel maxillary reconstruction with ectopic bone formation by GMP adipose stem cells. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009 Mar;38(3):201-9.
- 46. Shayesteh YS, Khojasteh A, Soleimani M, Alikhasi M, Khoshzaban A, Ahmadbeigi N. Sinus augmentation using human mesenchymal stem cells loaded into a beta-tricalcium phosphate/hydroxyapatite scaffold. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2008 Aug;106(2):203-9.
- 47. Potter SJ, Thierstein ST: Glomerular development in the kidney as an index of fetal maturity. J Pediatr. 1943 22: 695–706
- 48. Abdel Aziz MT, Abdel Aziz MT, Atta HM, Mahfouz S, et al. Therapeutic potential of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells on experimental liver fibrosis. Clin Biochem. 2007 Aug;40(12):893–9.
- 49. Zhao D-C, Zhao D-C, Lei J-X, Lei J-X, Chen R, Chen R, et al. Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells protect against experimental liver fibrosis in rats. World J Gastroenterol. 2005 Jun 14;11(22):3431–40.
- Duffield JS, Park KM, Hsiao LL, Kelley VR, Scadden DT, Ichimura T, Bonventre JV. Restoration of tubular epithelial cells during repair of the postischemic kidney occurs independently of bone marrow-derived stem cells. J Clin Invest. 2005 Jul;115(7):1743-55.
- 51. Caldas HC, de Paula Couto TA, Fernandes IM, Baptista MA, Kawasaki-Oyama RS, Goloni-Bertollo EM, Braile DM, Abbud-Filho M. Comparative effects of mesenchymal stem cell therapy in distinct stages of chronic renal failure. Clin Exp Nephrol. 2015 Jan 29. PMID: 25630669
- 52. Wu HJ, Yiu WH, Li RX, Wong DW, Leung JC, Chan LY, Zhang Y, Lian Q, Lin M, Tse HF, Lai KN, Tang SC. Mesenchymal stem cells modulate albumin-induced renal tubular inflammation and fibrosis. PLoS One. 2014 Mar 19;9(3):e90883
- 53. Oliveira-Sales EB, Maquigussa E, Semedo P, Pereira LG, Ferreira VM, Câmara NO, Bergamaschi CT, Campos RR, Boim MA. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) prevented the progression of renovascular hypertension, improved renal function and architecture. PLoS One. 2013 Nov 4;8(11):e78464

- 54. Alfarano C, Roubeix C, Chaaya R, Ceccaldi C, Calise D, Mias C, Cussac D, Bascands JL, Parini A. Intraparenchymal injection of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells reduces kidney fibrosis after ischemia-reperfusion in cyclosporine-immunosuppressed rats. Cell Transplant. 2012;21(9):2009-19
- 55. Donizetti-Oliveira C, Semedo P, Burgos-Silva M, Cenedeze MA, Malheiros DM, Reis MA, Pacheco-Silva A, Câmara NO. Adipose tissue-derived stem cell treatment prevents renal disease progression. Cell Transplant. 2012;21(8):1727-41
- 56. Asanuma H, Vanderbrink BA, Campbell MT, Hile KL, Zhang H, Meldrum DR, Meldrum KK. Arterially delivered mesenchymal stem cells prevent obstruction-induced renal fibrosis. J Surg Res. 2011 Jun 1;168(1):e51-9.
- 57. Papazova DA, Oosterhuis NR, Gremmels H1, van Koppen A, Joles JA1, Verhaar MC2. Cell-based therapies for experimental chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Dis Model Mech. 2015 Mar;8(3):281-93.
- 58. Tan J, Wu W, Xu X, Liao L, Zheng F, Messinger S, Sun X, Chen J, Yang S, Cai J, Gao X, Pileggi A, Ricordi C. Induction therapy with autologous mesenchymal stem cells in living-related kidney transplants: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2012 Mar 21;307(11):1169-77
- 59. Reinders ME, de Fijter JW, Roelofs H, Bajema IM, de Vries DK, Schaapherder AF, Claas FH, van Miert PP, Roelen DL, van Kooten C, Fibbe WE, Rabelink TJ. Autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells for the treatment of allograft rejection after renal transplantation: results of a phase I study. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2013 Feb;2(2):107-11.
- 60. Tögel FE, Westenfelder C. Kidney protection and regeneration following acute injury: progress through stem cell therapy. Am J Kidney Dis. 2012 Dec;60(6):1012-22.
- 61. Metcalfe, P.D., Wang, J, Jiao, H., et al. (2010). Bladder outlet obstruction: progression from inflammation to fibrosis. *British Journal of Urology*, 106(11):1686-94.
- 62. Al-Saikan B, Ding J, Tredget E, Metcalfe P. Benefits of mesenchymal stem cells after partial bladder outlet obstruction. Canadian Urological Association Journal. 2016;10(1-2):E1-E6. doi:10.5489/cuaj.3257.
- 63. Woo LL, Tanaka ST, Anumanthan G, Pope JC 4th, Thomas JC, Adams MC, Brock JW 3rd, Bhowmick NA. Mesenchymal stem cell recruitment and improved bladder function after bladder outlet obstruction: preliminary data. J Urol. 2011 Mar;185(3):1132-8.
- 64. Lee HJ, Won JH, Doo SH, Kim JH, Song KY, Lee SJ, Lim I, Chang KT, Song YS, Kim SU. Inhibition of collagen deposit in obstructed rat bladder outlet by transplantation of

superparamagnetic iron oxide-labeled human mesenchymal stem cells as monitored by molecular magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Cell Transplant. 2012;21(5):959-70.

- 65. Lin G, Wang G, Banie L, Ning H, Shindel AW, Fandel TM, Lue TF, Lin CS. Treatment of stress urinary incontinence with adipose tissue-derived stem cells. Cytotherapy. 2010;12(1):88-95.
- 66. Fu Q, Song XF, Liao GL, Deng CL, Cui L. Myoblasts differentiated from adiposederived stem cells to treat stress urinary incontinence. Urology. 2010 Mar;75(3):718-23.
- 67. Kim SO, Na HS, Kwon D, Joo SY, Kim HS, Ahn Y Bone-marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell transplantation enhances closing pressure and leak point pressure in a female urinary incontinence rat model. Urol Int. 2011;86(1):110-6.
- Carr LK, Steele D, Steele S, Wagner D, Pruchnic R, Jankowski R, Erickson J, Huard J, Chancellor MB. 1-year follow-up of autologous muscle-derived stem cell injection pilot study to treat stress urinary incontinence. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008 Jun;19(6):881-3.
- 69. Carr LK, Robert M, Kultgen PL, Herschorn S, Birch C, Murphy M, Chancellor MB. Autologous muscle derived cell therapy for stress urinary incontinence: a prospective, dose ranging study. J Urol. 2013 Feb;189(2):595-601.
- 70. Gotoh M, Yamamoto T, Kato M, Majima T, Toriyama K, Kamei Y, Matsukawa Y, Hirakawa A, Funahashi Y. Regenerative treatment of male stress urinary incontinence by periurethral injection of autologous adipose-derived regenerative cells: 1-year outcomes in 11 patients. Int J Urol. 2014 Mar;21(3):294-300
- Mitterberger M, Pinggera GM, Marksteiner R, Margreiter E, Fussenegger M, Frauscher F, et al. Adult stem cell therapy of female stress urinary incontinence. Eur Urol. 2008;53(1):169–75.
- 72. Gerullis H, Eimer C, Georgas E, Homburger M, El-Baz AG, Wishahi M, et al. Musclederived cells for treatment of iatrogenic sphincter damage and urinary incontinence in men. ScientificWorldJournal. 2012;2012:898535.
- 73. Kuismanen K, Sartoneva R, Haimi S, Mannerström B, Tomás E, Miettinen S, et al. Autologous adipose stem cells in treatment of female stress urinary incontinence: results of a pilot study. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2014;3(8):936–41.
- 74. Stangel-Wojcikiewicz K, Jarocha D, Piwowar M, Jach R, Uhl T, Basta A, et al. Autologous muscle-derived cells for the treatment of female stress urinary incontinence: a 2-year follow-up of a Polish investigation. Neurourol Urodyn. 2014;33(3):324–30.

- 75. Pariente JL, Kim BS, Atala A. In vitro biocompatibility assessment of naturally derived and synthetic biomaterials using normal human urothelial cells. J Biomed Mater Res. 2001;55(1):33–9.
- 76. Atala A, Bauer SB, Soker S, Yoo JJ, Retik AB. Tissue-engineered autologous bladders for patients needing cystoplasty. Lancet. 2006;367(9518):1241–6.
- 77. Humes HD, Weitzel WF, Bartlett RH, Swaniker FC, Paganini EP, Luderer JR, et al. Initial clinical results of the bioartificial kidney containing human cells in ICU patients with acute renal failure. Kidney Int. 2004;66(4):1578–88.
- 78. Dublin N, Stewart LH. Oral complications after buccal mucosal graft harvest for urethroplasty. BJU Int. 2004;94(6):867–9.
- 79. Mundy AR. The long-term results of skin inlay urethroplasty. Br JUrol. 1995;75(1):59–61.
- 80. el-Kassaby A, AbouShwareb T, Atala A. Randomized comparative study between buccal mucosal and acellular bladder matrix grafts in complex anterior urethral strictures. J Urol. 2008;179(4):1432–6.
- 81. El-Kassaby AW, Retik AB, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Urethral stricture repair with an off-theshelf collagen matrix. J Urol. 2003;169(1):170–3.
- 82. Atala A, Guzman L, Retik AB. A novel inert collagen matrix for hypospadias repair. J Urol. 1999;162(3 Pt 2):1148–51.
- 83. Li CL, Liao WB, Yang SX, Song C, Li YW, Xiong YH, et al. Urethral reconstruction using bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell- and smooth muscle cell-seeded bladder acellular matrix. Transplant Proc. 2013;45(9):3402–7.
- 84. Mahfouza W, Elsalmya S, Corcos J, Fayeda AS. Fundamentals of bladder tissue engineering. Afr J Urol. 2013;19(3):51–7.
- 85. Bharadwaj S, Liu G, Shi Y, Wu R, Yang B, He T, et al. Multipotential differentiation of human urine-derived stem cells: potential for therapeutic applications in urology. Stem Cells. 2013;31(9):1840–56.
- Lonnemann G, Engler-Blum G, Müller GA, Koch KM, Dinarello CA. Cytokines in human renal interstitial fibrosis. II. Intrinsic interleukin (IL)-1 synthesis and IL-1dependent production of IL-6 and IL-8 by cultured kidney fibroblasts. Kidney Int. 1995;47(3):845–54.
- 87. El Awad B, Kreft B, Wolber EM, Hellwig-Bürgel T, Metzen E, Fandrey J, et al. Hypoxia and interleukin-1beta stimulate vascular endothelial growth factor production in human proximal tubular cells. Kidney Int. 2000;58(1):43–50.

- Yildirim A, Başeskioğlu B, Temel HE, Erkasap N, Yenilmez A, Uslu S, et al. Effect of alipoic acid and silymarin on bladder outlet obstruction. Exp Ther Med. 2013;5(2):596–602.
- Wang Z, Cheng Z, Cristofaro V, Li J, Xiao X, Gomez P, et al. Inhibition of TNF-α improves the bladder dysfunction that is associated with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2012;61(8):2134–45.
- Ren G, Zhang L, Zhao X, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated immunosuppression occurs via concerted action of chemokines and nitric oxide. Cell Stem Cell. 2008;2(2):141–50.
- 91. English K, Barry FP, Field-Corbett CP, Mahon BP. IFN- γ and TNF- α differentially regulate immunomodulation by murine mesenchymal stem cells. Immunol Lett. 2007;110(2):91–100.
- 92. Ortiz LA, Dutreil M, Fattman C, et al. Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist mediates the antiinflammatory and antifibrotic effect of mesenchymal stem cells during lung injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(26):11002–7.
- 93. Raffaghello L, Bianchi G, BertolottoM, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells inhibit neutrophil apoptosis: a model for neutrophil preservation in the bone marrow niche. Stem Cells. 2008;26(1):151–62

- 1. Levin RM, Longhurst PA, Monson FC, Kato K, Wein AJ. Effect of bladder outlet obstruction on the morphology, physiology, and pharmacology of the bladder. Prostate Suppl. 1990;3:9-26.
- Pinggera GM, Mitterberger M, Steiner E, Pallwein L, Frauscher F, Aigner F, Bartsch G, Strasser H. Association of lower urinary tract symptoms and chronic ischaemia of the lower urinary tract in elderly women and men: assessment using colour Doppler ultrasonography. BJU Int. 2008 Aug;102(4):470-4. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.2008.07587.x.
- 3. Metcalfe, P.D., Wang, J, Jiao, H., et al. (2010). Bladder outlet obstruction: progression from inflammation to fibrosis. *British Journal of Urology*, 106(11):1686-94.
- Schröder A, Chichester P, Kogan BA, Longhurst PA, Lieb J, Das AK, Levin RM. Effect of chronic bladder outlet obstruction on blood flow of the rabbit bladder. J Urol. 2001 Feb;165(2):640-6.
- 5. Guillemin K, Krasnow MA. The hypoxic response: huffing and HIFing. Cell. 1997 Apr 4;89(1):9-12.
- Falanga V, Qian SW, Danielpour D, Katz MH, Roberts AB, Sporn MB. Hypoxia upregulates the synthesis of TGF-beta 1 by human dermal fibroblasts. J Invest Dermatol. 1991 Oct;97(4):634-7.
- 7. Chen CP, Yang YC, Su TH, Chen CY, Aplin JD. Hypoxia and transforming growth factor-beta 1 act independently to increase extracellular matrix production by placental fibroblasts. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005 Feb;90(2):1083-90.
- 8. Desmoulière A, Geinoz A, Gabbiani F, Gabbiani G. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 induces alpha-smooth muscle actin expression in granulation tissue myofibroblasts and in quiescent and growing cultured fibroblasts. J Cell Biol. 1993 Jul;122(1):103-11.
- 9. MacPherson BR, Leslie KO, Lizaso KV, Schwarz JE. Contractile cells of the kidney in primary glomerular disorders: an immunohistochemical study using an anti-alpha-smooth muscle actin monoclonal antibody. Hum Pathol. 1993 Jul;24(7):710-6.
- 10. Higgins DF, Kimura K, Bernhardt WM, Shrimanker N, Akai Y, Hohenstein B, Saito Y, Johnson RS, Kretzler M, Cohen CD, Eckardt KU, Iwano M, Haase VH. Hypoxia

promotes fibrogenesis in vivo via HIF-1 stimulation of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest. 2007 Dec;117(12):3810-20.

- 11. Huber PA. Caldesmon. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 1997 Aug-Sep;29(8-9):1047-51.
- Zheng Y, Chang S, Boopathi E, Burkett S, John M, Malkowicz SB, Chacko S. Generation of a human urinary bladder smooth muscle cell line. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim. 2012 Feb;48(2):84-96. doi: 10.1007/s11626-011-9473-9.
- Chouhan VS, Dangi SS, Babitha V, Verma MR, Bag S, Singh G, Sarkar M. Stimulatory effect of luteinizing hormone, insulin-like growth factor-1, and epidermal growth factor on vascular endothelial growth factor production in cultured bubaline luteal cells. Theriogenology. 2015 Oct 15;84(7):1185-96. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2015.06.020
- Neuman RE, Logan MA. The determination of hydroxyproline. J Biol Chem. 1950 May;184(1):299-306.
- Schröder A, Chichester P, Kogan BA, Longhurst PA, Lieb J, Das AK, Levin RM. Effect of chronic bladder outlet obstruction on blood flow of the rabbit bladder. J Urol. 2001 Feb;165(2):640-6.
- Howard PS, Kucich U, Coplen DE, He Y. Transforming growth factor-beta1-induced hypertrophy and matrix expression in human bladder smooth muscle cells. Urology. 2005 Dec;66(6):1349-53
- 17. Chen L, Wei TQ, Wang Y, Zhang J, Li H, Wang KJ. Simulated bladder pressure stimulates human bladder smooth muscle cell proliferation via the PI3K/SGK1 signaling pathway. J Urol. 2012 Aug;188(2):661-7. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2012.03.112
- Norman JT, Clark IM, Garcia PL. Hypoxia promotes fibrogenesis in human renal fibroblasts. Kidney Int. 2000 Dec;58(6):2351-66
- Shi YF, Fong CC, Zhang Q, Cheung PY, Tzang CH, Wu RS, Yang M. Hypoxia induces the activation of human hepatic stellate cells LX-2 through TGF-beta signaling pathway. FEBS Lett. 2007 Jan 23;581(2):203-10
- 20. Heidbreder M, Fröhlich F, Jöhren O, Dendorfer A, Qadri F, Dominiak P. Hypoxia rapidly activates HIF-3alpha mRNA expression. FASEB J. 2003 Aug;17(11):1541-3.
- 21. Hara S, Hamada J, Kobayashi C, Kondo Y, Imura N. Expression and characterization of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-3alpha in human kidney: suppression of HIF-mediated

gene expression by HIF-3alpha. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2001 Oct 5;287(4):808-13.

- 22. Shi B, Zhu Y, Laudon V, Ran L, Liu Y, Xu Z. Alterations of urine TGF-beta1 and bFGF following bladder outlet obstruction: a predictor for detrusor contractibility? Urol Int. 2009;82(1):43-7. doi: 10.1159/000176024.
- 23. Bowen RS, Gu Y, Zhang Y, Lewis DF, Wang Y. Hypoxia promotes interleukin-6 and -8 but reduces interleukin-10 production by placental trophoblast cells from preeclamptic pregnancies. J Soc Gynecol Investig. 2005 Sep;12(6):428-32.
- 24. Yildirim A, Başeskioğlu B, Temel HE, Erkasap N, Yenilmez A, Uslu S, Ozer C, Ozkurt M, Dönmez T. Effect of αlipoic acid and silymarin on bladder outlet obstruction. Exp Ther Med. 2013 Feb;5(2):596-602. doi:10.3892/etm.2012.831.
- 25. Barton BE. IL-6: insights into novel biological activities. Clin Immunol Immunopathol. 1997 Oct;85(1):16-20.
- 26. Shi JH, Guan H, Shi S, Cai WX, Bai XZ, Hu XL, Fang XB, Liu JQ, Tao K, Zhu XX, Tang CW, Hu DH. Protection against TGF-β1-induced fibrosis effects of IL-10 on dermal fibroblasts and its potential therapeutics for the reduction of skin scarring. Arch Dermatol Res. 2013 May;305(4):341-52. doi: 10.1007/s00403-013-1314-0.
- 27. Manotham K, Tanaka T, Matsumoto M, Ohse T, Inagi R, Miyata T, Kurokawa K, Fujita T, Ingelfinger JR, Nangaku M. Transdifferentiation of cultured tubular cells induced by hypoxia. Kidney Int. 2004 Mar;65(3):871-80.
- 28. Jiang X, Chen Y, Zhu H, Wang B4, Qu P5, Chen R6, Sun X. Sodium Tanshinone IIA Sulfonate Ameliorates Bladder Fibrosis in a Rat Model of Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction by Inhibiting the TGF-β/Smad Pathway Activation. Sen U, ed. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10(6):e0129655. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0129655.
- 29. Dugina V, Fontao L, Chaponnier C, Vasiliev J, Gabbiani G. Focal adhesion features during myofibroblastic differentiation are controlled by intracellular and extracellular factors. J Cell Sci. 2001 Sep;114(Pt 18):3285-96.
- 30. Norman JT, Clark IM, Garcia PL. Hypoxia promotes fibrogenesis in human renal fibroblasts. Kidney Int. 2000 Dec;58(6):2351-66.
- Sánchez-Elsner T, Botella LM, Velasco B, Corbí A, Attisano L, Bernabéu C. Synergistic cooperation between hypoxia and transforming growth factor-beta pathways on human vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression. J Biol Chem. 2001 Oct 19;276(42):38527-35.

- 1. Semenza, G.L. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 and cardiovascular disease. Annual Review of Physiology. 2014;76:39-56. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-021113-170322.
- Schröder, A., Chichester, P., Kogan, B.A., Longhurst PA, Lieb J, Das AK, Levin RM. Effect of chronic bladder outlet obstruction on blood flow of the rabbit bladder. Journal of Urology, J Urol. 2001 Feb;165(2):640-6.
- 3. Metcalfe, P.D., Wang, J., Jiao, H., Huang Y, Hori K, Moore RB, Tredget EE. Bladder outlet obstruction: progression from inflammation to fibrosis. British Journal of Urology, 2010 Dec;106(11):1686-94. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.2010.09445.x
- Howard, P.S., Kucich, U., Coplen, D.E., He, Y. Transforming growth factor-beta1induced hypertrophy and matrix expression in human bladder smooth muscle cells. Urology, 2005 Dec;66(6):1349-53
- Chen. L., Wei, T.Q., Wang, Y., Zhang, J., Li, H., Wang, K.J. Simulated bladder pressure stimulates human bladder smooth muscle cell proliferation via the PI3K/SGK1 signaling pathway. Journal of Urology, 2012 Aug;188(2):661-7. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2012.03.112
- 6. Ghafar, M.A., Anastasiadis, A.G., Olsson, L.E., Chichester P, Kaplan SA, Buttyan R, Levin RM. Hypoxia and an angiogenic response in the partially obstructed rat bladder. Laboratory Investigation, 2002 Jul;82(7):903-9
- Koritsiadis, G., Tyritzis, S.I., Koutalellis, G., Lazaris, A.C., Stravodimos, K. The effect of alpha-blocker treatment on bladder hypoxia inducible factor-1 alpha regulation during lower urinary tract obstruction. International Brazilian Journal of Urology, 2010 Jan-Feb;36(1):86-94.
- Ekman, M., Uvelius, B., Albinsson, S., Swärd, K. HIF-mediated metabolic switching in bladder outlet obstruction mitigates the relaxing effect of mitochondrial inhibition. Laboratory Investigation, 2014 May;94(5):557-68. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2014.48
- Wiafe, B., Adesida, A., Churchill, T., Adewuyi, E.E., Li, Z., Metcalfe, P. Hypoxiaincreased expression of genes involved in inflammation, dedifferentiation, pro-fibrosis, and extracellular matrix remodeling of human bladder smooth muscle cells. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology – Animal, 2017 Jan;53(1):58-66. doi: 10.1007/s11626-016-0085-2.

- Elnakish MT, Hassan F, Dakhlallah D, Marsh CB, Alhaider IA, Khan M. Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Cardiac Regeneration: Translation to Bedside Reality. Stem Cells International. 2012;2012:646038. doi:10.1155/2012/646038.
- Al-Saikan B, Ding J, Tredget E, Metcalfe P. Benefits of mesenchymal stem cells after partial bladder outlet obstruction. Can Urol Assoc J 2016 Jan-Feb;10(1-2):E1-6. doi: 10.5489/cuaj.3257
- 12. Woo LL, Tanaka ST, Anumanthan G, Pope JC 4th, Thomas JC, Adams MC, Brock JW 3rd, Bhowmick NA. Mesenchymal stem cell recruitment and improved bladder function after bladder outlet obstruction: preliminary data. J Urol. 2011 Mar;185(3):1132-8.
- Lee HJ, Won JH, Doo SH, Kim JH, Song KY, Lee SJ, Lim I, Chang KT, Song YS, Kim SU. Inhibition of collagen deposit in obstructed rat bladder outlet by transplantation of superparamagnetic iron oxide-labeled human mesenchymal stem cells as monitored by molecular magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Cell Transplant. 2012;21(5):959-70. doi: 10.3727/096368911X627516.
- 14. Wiafe B, Metcalfe PD, Adesida AB. Stem cell therapy: current applications and potential for urology. 2015 Curr Urol Rep16(11):77
- 15. Zheng Y, Chang S, Boopathi E, Burkett S, John M, Malkowicz SB, Chacko S. Generation of a human urinary bladder smooth muscle cell line. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim. 2012 Feb;48(2):84-96. doi: 10.1007/s11626-011-9473-9.
- 16. Huber, P.A. Caldesmon. International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 1997 Aug-Sep;29(8-9):1047-51.
- 17. Adesida AB, Mulet-Sierra A, Jomha NM. Hypoxia mediated isolation and expansion enhances the chondrogenic capacity of bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells. Stem Cell Research & Therapy. 2012;3(2):9. doi:10.1186/scrt100.
- Varga J, Pasche B. anti-tgf-β therapy in fibrosis: recent progress and implications for systemic sclerosis. Current opinion in rheumatology. 2008;20(6):720-728. doi:10.1097/BOR.0b013e32830e48e8.
- 19. MacRae Dell K, Hoffman BB, Leonard MB, Ziyadeh FN, Schulman SL. Increased urinary transforming growth factor-beta(1) excretion in children with posterior urethral valves. Urology. 2000 Aug 1;56(2):311-4.
- Sager C, Lopez JC, Duran V, Burek C, Perazzo E. Transforming growth factor-beta1 in congenital ureteropelvic junction obstruction: diagnosis and follow-up. Int Braz J Urol. 2009 May-Jun;35(3):315-23; discussion 323-5.

- 21. Jiang X, Chen Y, Zhu H, Wang B4, Qu P5, Chen R6, Sun X. Sodium Tanshinone IIA Sulfonate Ameliorates Bladder Fibrosis in a Rat Model of Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction by Inhibiting the TGF-β/Smad Pathway Activation. Sen U, ed. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10(6):e0129655. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0129655.
- 22. Anumanthan G, Tanaka ST, Adams CM, Thomas JC, Wills ML, Adams MC, Hayward SW, Matusik RJ, Bhowmick NA, Brock JW 3rd, Pope JC 4th. Bladder Stromal Loss of Transforming Growth Factor Receptor II Decreases Fibrosis After Bladder Obstruction. *The Journal of urology*. 2009;182(4 Suppl):1775-1780. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2009.05.126.
- Elias JA, Lentz V, Cummings PJ. Transforming growth factor-beta regulation of IL-6 production by unstimulated and IL-1-stimulated human fibroblasts. J Immunol. 1991 May 15;146(10):3437-43.
- 24. Saperstein S, Chen L, Oakes D, Pryhuber G, Finkelstein J. IL-1β Augments TNF-α– Mediated Inflammatory Responses from Lung Epithelial Cells. Journal of Interferon & Cytokine Research. 2009;29(5):273-284. doi:10.1089/jir.2008.0076.
- Volarevic V, Al-Qahtani A, Arsenijevic N, Pajovic S, Lukic ML. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) and IL-1Ra producing mesenchymal stem cells as modulators of diabetogenesis. Autoimmunity. 2010 Jun;43(4):255-63. doi: 10.3109/08916930903305641.
- 26. Ren G, Zhao X, Zhang L, Zhang J, L'Huillier A, Ling W, Roberts AI, Le AD, Shi S, Shao C, Shi Y Inflammatory Cytokine-Induced Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 and Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 in Mesenchymal Stem Cells Are Critical for Immunosuppression. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2010;184(5):2321-2328. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902023.
- DelaRosa O, Dalemans W, Lombardo E. Mesenchymal stem cells as therapeutic agents of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2012 Dec;23(6):978-83. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2012.05.005.
- 28. Shi Y, Hu G, Su J, Li W, Chen Q, Shou P, Xu C, Chen X, Huang Y, Zhu Z, Huang X, Han X, Xie N, Ren G. Mesenchymal stem cells: a new strategy for immunosuppression and tissue repair. Cell Res. 2010 May;20(5):510-8. doi: 10.1038/cr.2010.44.
- Cho D-I, Kim MR, Jeong H, Jeong HC, Jeong MH, Yoon SH, Kim YS, Ahn Y. Mesenchymal stem cells reciprocally regulate the M1/M2 balance in mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages. Experimental & Molecular Medicine. 2014;46(1):e70-. doi:10.1038/emm.2013.135.
- 30. Aggarwal S, Pittenger MF. Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate allogeneic immune cell responses. Blood. 2005 Feb 15;105(4):1815-2

- 1. Irwin DE, Kopp ZS, Agatep B, Milsom I, Abrams P. Worldwide prevalence estimates of lower urinary tract symptoms, overactive bladder, urinary incontinence and bladder outlet obstruction. BJU Int. 2011 Oct;108(7):1132-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.2010.09993.x.
- 2. Yohannes, P. and Hanna, M. Current trends in the management of posterior urethral valves in the pediatric population. Urology 2002. 60, 947–953
- Fusco F, Creta M, De Nunzio C, Iacovelli V, Mangiapia F, Li Marzi V, Finazzi Agrò E. Progressive bladder remodeling due to bladder outlet obstruction: a systematic review of morphological and molecular evidences in humans. BMC Urol. 2018 Mar 9;18(1):15. doi: 10.1186/s12894-018-0329-4
- 4. Seth JH, Haslam C, Panicker JN. Ensuring patient adherence to clean intermittent selfcatheterization. Patient preference and adherence. 2014;8:191-198. doi:10.2147/PPA.S49060.
- 5. Lieberman JA. Managing Anticholinergic Side Effects. Primary Care Companion to The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2004;6(suppl 2):20-23.
- 6. Veeratterapillay R, Thorpe AC, Harding C. Augmentation cystoplasty: Contemporary indications, techniques and complications. Indian Journal of Urology : IJU : Journal of the Urological Society of India. 2013;29(4):322-327. doi:10.4103/0970-1591.120114
- 7. Wiafe B, Metcalfe PD, Adesida AB. Stem cell therapy: current applications and potential for urology. 2015 Curr Urol Rep16(11):77
- 8. Wiafe B, Adesida A, Churchill T, Metcalfe P. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit hypoxiainduced inflammatory and fibrotic pathways in bladder smooth muscle cells. World J Urol. 2018 Jul;36(7):1157-1165. doi: 10.1007/s00345-018-2247-1
- 9. Al-Saikan B, Ding J, Tredget E, Metcalfe P (2016) Benefits of mesenchymal stem cells after partial bladder outlet obstruction. Can Urol Assoc J 10(1–2):E1–E6
- Jiang X, Chen Y, Zhu H, Wang B, Qu P, Chen R, Sun X. Sodium Tanshinone IIA Sulfonate Ameliorates Bladder Fibrosis in a Rat Model of Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction by Inhibiting the TGF-β/Smad Pathway Activation. PLoS One. 2015 Jun 10;10(6):e0129655. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0129655.
- 11. Schröder A, Kirwan TP, Jiang JX, Aitken KJ, Bägli DJ. Rapamycin attenuates bladder hypertrophy during long-term outlet obstruction in vivo: tissue, matrix and mechanistic insights. J Urol. 2013 Jun;189(6):2377-84. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2012.12.110.

- 12. Massagué J, Wotton D. Transcriptional control by the TGF-beta/Smad signaling system. EMBO J. 2000 Apr 17;19(8):1745-54.
- 13. Hay N, Sonenberg N. Upstream and downstream of mTOR. Genes Dev. 2004 Aug 15;18(16):1926-45
- 14. Wiafe B, Adesida A, Churchill T, Adewuyi EE, Li Z, Metcalfe P. Hypoxia-increased expression of genes involved in inflammation, dedifferentiation, pro-fibrosis, and extracellular matrix remodeling of human bladder smooth muscle cells. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim. 2017 Jan;53(1):58-66. doi: 10.1007/s11626-016-0085-2.
- 15. Alsaikhan B, Fahlman R, Ding J, Tredget E, Metcalfe PD. Proteomic profile of an acute partial bladder outlet obstruction. Can Urol Assoc J. 2015 Mar-Apr;9(3-4):E114-21. doi: 10.5489/cuaj.2267.
- Lee HJ, Won JH, Doo SH, Kim JH, Song KY, Lee SJ, Lim I, Chang KT, Song YS, Kim SU. Cell Transplant. Inhibition of collagen deposit in obstructed rat bladder outlet by transplantation of superparamagnetic iron oxide-labeled human mesenchymal stem cells as monitored by molecular magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). 2012;21(5):959-70. doi: 10.3727/096368911X627516.
- Kim, Yu HY Heo J, Song M, Shin JH, Lim J, Yoon SJ Kim Y Lee S Kim SW Oh W, Choi SJ, Shin DM Choo MS. Mesenchymal stem cells protect against the tissue fibrosis of ketamine-induced cystitis in rat bladder Sci Rep. 2016 Aug 2;6:30881. doi: 10.1038/srep30881.
- Lee, S. W., Ryu, C.-M., Shin, J.-H., Choi, D., Kim, A., Yu, H. Y., Choo, M.-S. (2018). the Therapeutic Effect of Human Embryonic Stem Cell-Derived Multipotent Mesenchymal Stem Cells on Chemical-Induced Cystitis in Rats. International Neurourology Journal, 22(Suppl 1), S34–45. doi.org/10.5213/inj.1836014.007
- 19. Baskin L, Howard PS, Macarak E. Effect of physical forces on bladder smooth muscle and urothelium. J Urol. 1993 Aug;150(2 Pt 2):601-7.
- 20. Howard PS, Kucich U, Coplen DE, He Y. Transforming growth factor-beta1-induced hypertrophy and matrix expression in human bladder smooth muscle cells. Urology. 2005 Dec;66(6):1349-53.
- 21. Wiafe B, Adesida A, Churchill T, Metcalfe P. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit hypoxiainduced inflammatory and fibrotic pathways in bladder smooth muscle cells. World J Urol. 2018 Jul;36(7):1157-1165. doi: 10.1007/s00345-018-2247-1.
- 22. Bowen RS, GuY, ZhangY, LewisDF, Wang Y. Hypoxia promotes interleukin-6 and -8 but reduces interleukin-10 production by placental trophoblast cells from preeclamptic pregnancies. J Soc Gynecol Investig 2005;12(6):428–432

- 23. Yaghini N, Mahmoodi M, Asadikaram GR, Hassanshahi GH, Khoramdelazad H, Kazemi Arababadi M. Serum Levels of Interleukin 10 (IL-10) in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal. 2011;13(10):752.
- 24. van Exel E, Gussekloo J, de Craen AJ, Frölich M, Bootsma-Van Der Wiel A, Westendorp RG; Leiden 85 Plus Study. Low production capacity of interleukin-10 associates with the metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: the Leiden 85-Plus Study. Diabetes. 2002 Apr;51(4):1088-92.
- 25. Smith DA, Irving SD, Sheldon J, Cole D, Kaski JC. Serum levels of the antiinflammatory cytokine interleukin-10 are decreased in patients with unstable angina. Circulation. 2001 Aug 14;104(7):746-9.
- 26. Kaur K, Sharma AK, Singal PK. Significance of changes in TNF-alpha and IL-10 levels in the progression of heart failure subsequent to myocardial infarction. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006 Jul;291(1):H106-13.
- 27. Tajiki MH, Satie Nakama A, Salomão R. The ratio of plasma levels of IL-10/TNF-alpha and its relationship to disease severity and survival in patients with leptospirosis. Braz J Infect Dis. 1997 Jun;1(3):138-141.
- 28. Othoro C, Lal AA, Nahlen B, Koech D, Orago AS, Udhayakumar V. A low interleukin-10 tumor necrosis factor-alpha ratio is associated with malaria anemia in children residing in a holoendemic malaria region in western Kenya. J Infect Dis. 1999 Jan;179(1):279-82.
- 29. Chou H-C, Li Y-T, Chen C-M. Human mesenchymal stem cells attenuate experimental bronchopulmonary dysplasia induced by perinatal inflammation and hyperoxia. American Journal of Translational Research. 2016;8(2):342-353.
- 30. Zheng ZH, Li XY, Ding J, Jia JF, Zhu P. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell and mesenchymal stem cell-differentiated chondrocyte suppress the responses of type II collagen-reactive T cells in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2008 Jan;47(1):22-30.
- 31. Zheng Y, Jiang Y. mTOR Inhibitors at a Glance. Molecular and cellular pharmacology. 2015;7(2):15-20.
- De Gramont A, Faivre S, Raymond E. Novel TGF-β inhibitors ready for prime time in onco-immunology. Oncoimmunology. 2017;6(1):e1257453. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2016.1257453

- 1. Zaharchuk G, Busse RF, Rosenthal G, Manley GT, Glenn OA, Dillon WP. Noninvasive oxygen partial pressure measurement of human body fluids in vivo using magnetic resonance imaging. Acad Radiol. 2006 Aug;13(8):1016-24.
- Lin AT, Chen MT, Yang CH, Chang LS. Blood flow of the urinary bladder: effects of outlet obstruction and correlation with bioenergetic metabolism. Neurourol Urodyn. 1995;14(3):285-92.
- Yu T, Tang B, Sun X. Development of Inhibitors Targeting Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1 and 2 for Cancer Therapy. Yonsei Medical Journal. 2017;58(3):489-496. doi:10.3349/ymj.2017.58.3.489.
- 4. Iguchi N, Malykhina AP, Wilcox DT. Inhibition of HIF Reduces Bladder Hypertrophy and Improves Bladder Function in Murine Model of Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction. The Journal of urology. 2016;195(4 Pt 2):1250-1256. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2015.08.001.
- Zhao D, Zhai B, He C, Tan G, Jiang X, Pan S, Dong X, Wei Z, Ma L, Qiao H, Jiang H, Sun X. Upregulation of HIF-2α induced by sorafenib contributes to the resistance by activating the TGF-α/EGFR pathway in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Cell Signal. 2014 May; 26(5):1030-9
- Koh MY, Lemos R, Liu X, Powis G. The Hypoxia-Associated Factor Switches Cells from HIF-1α– to HIF-2α–Dependent Signaling Promoting Stem Cell Characteristics, Aggressive Tumor Growth and Invasion. Cancer Research. 2011;71(11):4015-4027. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4142.
- 7. Al-Saikan B, Ding J, Tredget E, Metcalfe P (2016) Benefits of mesenchymal stem cells after partial bladder outlet obstruction. Can Urol Assoc J 10(1–2):E1–E6
- 8. Petrova ES. Injured Nerve Regeneration using Cell-Based Therapies: Current Challenges. Acta Naturae. 2015;7(3):38-47.
- Zhuo W, Liao L, Fu Y, Xu T, Wu W, Yang S, Tan J. Efficiency of endovenous versus arterial administration of mesenchymal stem cells for ischemia-reperfusion-induced renal dysfunction in rats. Transplant Proc. 2013 Mar;45(2):503-10. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2012.07.162.

- Aanstoos ME, Regan DP, Rose RJ, Chubb LS, Ehrhart NP. Do Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Influence Microscopic Residual or Metastatic Osteosarcoma in a Murine Model? Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 2016;474(3):707-715. doi:10.1007/s11999-015-4362-2.
- 11. Rodriguez-Porcel M. In Vivo Imaging and Monitoring of Transplanted Stem Cells: Clinical